
 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

JANUARY 18, 2022 - 7:00 P.M. 

(810) 629-8631 

 
This meeting will be held both in person at the township and electronically via Zoom. Details to join the meeting via 

Zoom follow this agenda. 
 

CALL TO ORDER – PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – 7:00 P.M. 
 

ROLL CALL 
 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA – OR CHANGES 
 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA  

Regular Board Meeting Minutes – December 21, 2021 

Clerk’s Warrants and Bills – January 12, 2022 
 

COMMUNICATIONS 

1. Livingston County Sheriff’s Report – December 31, 2021 

2. Planning Commission Approved Regular Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes-  

August 10, 2021 

3. Planning Commission Approved Regular Meeting Minutes- August 18, 2021 

4. Planning Commission Meeting & Public Hearing Synopsis- January 11, 2022 
 

PUBLIC REMARKS 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Lake Urban Crossings PUD Preliminary Site Plan. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Speaker Larry Gawthrop, CFAO, Mott Community College. 

2. Niemi shared private driveway request. 

3. Historic Town House Resolution. 

4. Grant Management Policies and Procedures Resolution. 

5. Budget amendment. 

6. Meeting Dates 2022-2023 Resolution. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS 
 

PUBLIC REMARKS  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 

 

Supervisor Mike Cunningham             Clerk Marcella Husted 

 
Please note: Anyone wishing to address the Township Board may do so during Public Remarks. The Tyrone Township Board of 

Trustees has established a policy limiting the time a person may address the Township Board at a regular or at a special meeting 

during the Public Remarks section of the agenda to three minutes. The Board reserves the right to place an issue under the New 

Business section of the agenda if additional discussion is warranted or to respond later either verbally or in writing through an 

appropriately appointed Township Official. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Tyrone 

Township Clerk at (810) 629-8631 at least seven days prior to the meeting. 



 

 

 

 

 

Join Zoom Meeting  
 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86974195877?pwd=ZWR2RnQ1TytxR2lNaDVpT0h6W
TZDdz09  

Meeting ID: 869 7419 5877  
Passcode: 007986  
 
One tap mobile  
+13126266799,,86974195877#,,,,*007986# US (Chicago)  
+16465588656,,86974195877#,,,,*007986# US (New York)  

Dial by your location  
        +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)  
        +1 646 558 8656 US (New York)  
        +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)  
        +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)  
        +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)  
        +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)  
 
Meeting ID: 869 7419 5877  
Passcode: 007986  
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kd0jH5IVmV 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86974195877?pwd=ZWR2RnQ1TytxR2lNaDVpT0h6WTZDdz09
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86974195877?pwd=ZWR2RnQ1TytxR2lNaDVpT0h6WTZDdz09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kd0jH5IVmV


CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Regular Board Meeting Minutes – December 21, 2021 
Clerk’s Warrants and Bills – January 12, 2022 



 

 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

APPROVED MINUTES – DECEMBER 21, 2021 – PAGE 1 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Supervisor Cunningham called the meeting of the Tyrone Township Board to order with the 

Pledge of Allegiance on December 21, 2021 at 7:20 p.m. at the Tyrone Township Hall. The 

meeting started later because the township attorney spoke to the Board about preliminary site 

plans beforehand. 

 

ROLL CALL 

Present: Supervisor Mike Cunningham, Clerk Marcella Husted, Treasurer Jennifer Eden, 

Trustees Herman Ferguson, Kurt Schulze, Zach Tucker and David Walker. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA – OR CHANGES 

Trustee Walker moved to approve the agenda as amended. (Treasurer Eden seconded.)  The 

motion carried; all ayes. The modification is as follows: 

 

Added New Business #2 Shoemaker Snow Removal Contract for the Township Hall. 

 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

Regular Board Meeting Minutes – December 7, 2021 

Treasurer’s Report – November 30, 2021 

Clerk’s Warrants and Bills – December 15, 2021 

 

Trustee Walker moved to approve the consent agenda as presented.  (Trustee Ferguson 

seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes.   

 

COMMUNICATIONS 

1. Planning Commission Meeting Synopsis – December 14, 2021 

2. Fire Service Run – December 15, 2021 

 

Trustee Walker moved to receive and place on file Communications #1-2 as presented. (Trustee 

Tucker seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes. 

 

PUBLIC REMARKS 

Joe Cooper (Runyan Lake Rd.) voiced concerns the proposed PUD could create with traffic and 

environmentally. 

 

Scott Dietrich (White Lake Rd.) agreed with the traffic and environmental concerns. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

None 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Lake Urban Crossings PUD Preliminary Site Plan. 

 

Trustee Tucker moved to send the PUD preliminary site plan back to the Planning Commission 

and address items 1-11 (“items that require Planning Commission determinations,” Carlisle  

 



 

 

 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

APPROVED MINUTES – DECEMBER 21, 2021 – PAGE 2 

 

 

Wortman review, November 4, 2021) and 1-10 (“potential conditions of approval for the 

Planning Commission to consider,” Carlisle Wortman review, November 4, 2021.) for 

clarification and a new recommendation. (Trustee Walker seconded.) The motion carried; all 

ayes. 
 

2. Shoemaker Snow Removal Contract for the Township Hall. 

 

Trustee Ferguson moved to accept Shoemaker Services’ two-year contract for snow removal at 

the Township Hall.  (Trustee Schulze seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS 

None. 

 

PUBLIC REMARKS 

Clerk Husted answered a question from a resident regarding the township’s monthly bills. 

 

Scott Dietrich stated he did not agree with the Lake Urban traffic study. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Trustee Walker moved to adjourn.  (Trustee Ferguson seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes.  

The meeting adjourned at 8:29 p.m.   



CHECK REGISTER FOR TYRONE TOWNSHIP 1/3Page: 01/12/2022 09:43 AM
User: Casey
DB: Tyrone

CHECK DATE FROM 12/01/2021 - 01/12/2022

AmountVendor NameVendorCheckBankCheck Date

Bank 001 STATE BANK COMMON ACCOUNT

325.16 CHASE CARD SERVICECHASE CARD2293900112/01/2021
457.39 CONSUMERS ENERGY412294000112/01/2021

3,073.50 HARRIS & LITERSKI ATTORNEYS AT1272294100112/01/2021
1,458.60 LIVINGSTON COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPT9382294200112/01/2021
1,190.00 MACKLIN MECHANICAL COMPANYMACKLIN2294300112/01/2021

V248.42 RICOH USA, INC.2932294400112/01/2021
69.83 SHRED-IT USA1732294500112/01/2021
160.00 VOYA INSTITUTIONAL TRUST COMPANYVOYA2294600112/01/2021
97.00 WATER TECHWATER TECH2294700112/01/2021
79.15 AT&T MOBILITYAT&T MOBIL2294800112/07/2021
237.34 CONSUMERS ENERGY412294900112/07/2021

7,839.00 DOUGIE'S DISPOSAL & RECYCLINGDOUGIES2295000112/07/2021
237.00 LIVINGSTON COUNTY TREASURER8712295100112/07/2021
442.96 REPUBLIC SERVICES#2374392295200112/07/2021
560.00 SUNSET MAINTENANCE, LLCSUNSET2295300112/07/2021
641.04 VIEW NEWSPAPER GROUPVIEW NEWS2295400112/07/2021

7,867.35 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN2972295500112/20/2021
1,210.00 CARLISLE/WORTMAN ASSOCIATES, INCCWA2295600112/20/2021
126.85 CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS1082295700112/20/2021
116.75 FIRE PROTECTION PLUS, INC.FIRE PROT2295800112/20/2021

1,246.50 HARRIS & LITERSKI ATTORNEYS AT1272295900112/20/2021
125.00 IVS COMM, INC.IVS COMM2296000112/20/2021

1,661.21 KCI4722296100112/20/2021
4,650.00 MURPH'S TURF1992296200112/20/2021
196.28 RICOH USA INCRICOH LEAS2296300112/20/2021

1,948.00 SHOEMAKER SERVICES INC2592296400112/20/2021
579.42 STAPLES  ADVANTAGE252296500112/20/2021

1,305.00 VOYA INSTITUTIONAL TRUST COMPANYVOYA2296600112/20/2021
391.75 ACCIDENT FUND COMPANY OF1202296700101/05/2022
124.98 CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS1082296800101/05/2022
718.96 CHASE CARD SERVICECHASE CARD2296900101/05/2022
495.99 CONSUMERS ENERGY412297000101/05/2022
321.00 LIVINGSTON COUNTY TREASURER8712297100101/05/2022
444.08 REPUBLIC SERVICES#2374392297200101/05/2022

1,831.00 SHOEMAKER SERVICES INC2592297300101/05/2022
70.84 SHRED-IT USA1732297400101/05/2022
690.06 STAPLES  ADVANTAGE252297500101/05/2022
160.00 VOYA INSTITUTIONAL TRUST COMPANYVOYA2297600101/05/2022
175.63 WASTE MANAGEMENT3032297700101/05/2022
79.15 AT&T MOBILITYAT&T MOBIL2297800101/11/2022
230.57 CONSUMERS ENERGY412297900101/11/2022
51.00 GRIFFIN PEST SOLUTIONS, INCGRIFFIN2298000101/11/2022

3,745.50 HARRIS & LITERSKI ATTORNEYS AT1272298100101/11/2022
9,795.00 HARTLAND CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS7062298200101/11/2022
125.00 IVS COMM, INC.IVS COMM2298300101/11/2022
560.00 SUNSET MAINTENANCE, LLCSUNSET2298400101/11/2022
346.50 VIEW NEWSPAPER GROUPVIEW NEWS2298500101/11/2022
160.00 VOYA INSTITUTIONAL TRUST COMPANYVOYA2298600101/11/2022

001 TOTALS:

58,417.34 Total of 47 Disbursements:

248.42 Less 1 Void Checks:
58,665.76 Total of 48 Checks:

Bank 022 STATE BANK - PUBLIC SAFETY checking

26.89 CHASE CARD SERVICECHASE CARD127502212/01/2021
8,682.00 HARTLAND AREA FIRE DEPARTMENT176127602212/01/2021
20,258.00 CITY OF FENTON FIRE DEPARTMENT16127702212/20/2021

405.16 UNIVERSAL CREDIT SERVICESUNIVERSAL127802212/20/2021
26.89 CHASE CARD SERVICECHASE CARD127902201/05/2022

V15,917.00 HARTLAND AREA FIRE DEPARTMENT176128002201/05/2022
15,917.00 HARTLAND AREA FIRE DEPARTMENT176128102201/05/2022
28,940.00 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF FENTON19128202201/11/2022

022 TOTALS:

74,255.94 Total of 7 Disbursements:

15,917.00 Less 1 Void Checks:
90,172.94 Total of 8 Checks:

Bank 102 SEWER O&M CHECKING 590

67,235.17 LIVINGSTON COUNTY DRAIN COMM.2445210212/07/2021
73,813.17 LIVINGSTON COUNTY DRAIN COMM.2445310201/11/2022



CHECK REGISTER FOR TYRONE TOWNSHIP 2/3Page: 01/12/2022 09:43 AM
User: Casey
DB: Tyrone

CHECK DATE FROM 12/01/2021 - 01/12/2022

AmountVendor NameVendorCheckBankCheck Date

102 TOTALS:

141,048.34 Total of 2 Disbursements:

0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:
141,048.34 Total of 2 Checks:

Bank 108 TAX FUND FLAGSTAR 

2,646.28 FENTON SCHOOLS806309410812/01/2021
1,255.03 GISDGISD309510812/01/2021
2,177.27 HARTLAND CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS706309610812/01/2021
2,394.84 LESALESA309710812/01/2021

30.09 LIBERTY TITLE AGENCYREFUND TAX309810812/01/2021
3,067.42 LINDEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS945309910812/01/2021
18,096.93 LIVINGSTON COUNTY TREASURER871310010812/01/2021

34.19 ADVANTAGE TITLE LLCREFUND TAX310110812/20/2021
7,158.34 BATTAGLIA THOMAS & NOREENREFUND TAX310210812/20/2021
189.04 CORELOGICREFUND TAX310310812/20/2021

14,772.98 CORELOGICREFUND TAX310410812/20/2021
2,892.59 CORELOGICREFUND TAX310510812/20/2021
10,524.70 CROMAINE LIBRARYCROMAINE310610812/20/2021
191,023.29 FENTON SCHOOLS806310710812/20/2021
124,248.67 GISDGISD310810812/20/2021
71,899.64 HARTLAND CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS706310910812/20/2021
4,323.57 LASHBROOK THOMAS IIIREFUND TAX311010812/20/2021
1,349.34 LESALESA311110812/20/2021
37,150.12 LINDEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS945311210812/20/2021
49,979.82 LIVINGSTON COUNTY TREASURER871311310812/20/2021
1,720.14 MIZZI PAUL & SHIRLEY TRUSTREFUND TAX311410812/20/2021

118,911.60 MOTT COMMUNITY COLLEGEMOTT 311510812/20/2021
835.68 PEGOUSKIE JOHN & CAROL LF ESTREFUND TAX311610812/20/2021

1,889.97 RAGO DAVID & MEISNER THERESAREFUND TAX311710812/20/2021
52.16 STRUBLE MATTHEWREFUND TAX311810812/20/2021
452.86 SWEET DAVID & WRATHELL HOLLYREFUND TAX311910812/20/2021

5,958.62 TRANS NATION TITLE AGENCY REFUND TAX312010812/20/2021
39.04 VANGUARD TITLE INSURANCE AGENCY LLCREFUND TAX312110812/20/2021
107.13 WHITEMAN JOHN GARYREFUND TAX312210812/20/2021

23,631.13 CROMAINE LIBRARYCROMAINE312310801/05/2022
263,560.77 FENTON SCHOOLS806312410801/05/2022
181,281.50 GISDGISD312510801/05/2022

342.29 GLEBE PHILIP G TRUSTREFUND TAX312610801/05/2022
161,427.26 HARTLAND CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS706312710801/05/2022

400.44 LESALESA312810801/05/2022
63,144.13 LINDEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS945312910801/05/2022
51,364.63 LIVINGSTON COUNTY TREASURER871313010801/05/2022

194.25 MANN BRIANREFUND TAX313110801/05/2022
166,427.83 MOTT COMMUNITY COLLEGEMOTT 313210801/05/2022

6.22 TRIBE TITLE CO LLCREFUND TAX313310801/05/2022

108 TOTALS:

1,586,961.80 Total of 40 Disbursements:

0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:
1,586,961.80 Total of 40 Checks:

Bank 112 FLAGSTAR CHECKING - SA ROAD IMPROVEMENTS

12,268.75 US BANKUSBANK106611212/01/2021
7,282.50 HUNTINGTON NATIONAL BANKHUNTINGTON106711212/07/2021
12,589.50 THE STATE BANK100106811212/07/2021

112 TOTALS:

32,140.75 Total of 3 Disbursements:

0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:
32,140.75 Total of 3 Checks:

Bank 203 TRUST & AGENCY 701 CKG

1,050.00 CARLISLE/WORTMAN ASSOCIATES, INCCWA193420312/20/2021
2,230.00 LIVINGSTON COUNTY TREASURER871193520312/20/2021
446.07 TYRONE TOWNSHIP96193620312/20/2021

203 TOTALS:

3,726.07 Total of 3 Disbursements:

0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:
3,726.07 Total of 3 Checks:



CHECK REGISTER FOR TYRONE TOWNSHIP 3/3Page: 01/12/2022 09:43 AM
User: Casey
DB: Tyrone

CHECK DATE FROM 12/01/2021 - 01/12/2022

AmountVendor NameVendorCheckBankCheck Date

REPORT TOTALS:

1,896,550.24 Total of 102 Disbursements:

16,165.42 Less 2 Void Checks:
1,912,715.66 Total of 104 Checks:



COMMUNICATION #1 
 

Livingston County Sheriff’s Report – December 31, 2021 
 



LIVINGSTON COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

DECEMBER 2021 CALLS FOR SERVICE

MICHIGAN STATE POLICE

DECEMBER 2021 CALLS FOR SERVICE



Nature # Events

911 HANG UP 1
ALARM 4
ANIMAL COMPLAINT 5
ASSAULT REPORT ONLY 1
ASSIST EMS 14
ASSIST FIRE DEPARTMENT 2
ASSIST OTHER AGENCY 2
BURGLARY REPORT ONLY 1
CARDIAC/RESPIRATORY ARREST 1
CITIZEN ASSIST 12
CIVIL COMPLAINT 1
CUSTODY DISPUTE 1
DOMESTIC PHYSICAL IN PROGRESS 1
DOMESTIC VERBAL 5
FOLLOW UP 1
HAZARD 5
HIT AND RUN ACCIDENT 1
INFO- GENERAL 1
INTIMIDATION THREATS HARASSMEN 2
LOST/FOUND ANIMAL INFORMATION 1
LOUD PARTY 1
MDOP 1
MENTAL/CMH/PSYCH 1
MISSING PERSON/RUN-A-WAY 1
MOTORIST ASSIST 4
NOISE COMPLAINTS 1
OVERDOSE/INGESTION 2
PARKING COMPLAINTS 1
PATROL INFORMATION 3
PDA 10
PERSON LOCKED IN A VEHICLE 1
PHYSICAL DOMES REPORT ONLY 1
PUBLIC SERVICE 1
ROAD RUNOFF 3
SUSPICIOUS PERSON 2
SUSPICIOUS SITUATION 4
SUSPICIOUS VEHICLE 1
TRESSPASSING, LOITERING 2
UNATTENDED DEATH PRI 3/INVEST 2
UNATTENDED DEATH/INVESTIGATION 1
UNKNOWN ACCIDENT 1
WELFARE CHECK 8

TOTAL: 114

LIVINGSTON COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

TYRONE TOWNSHIP DECEMBER 2021



NUMBER OF RESPONSE TIME NUMBER OF RESPONSE TIME

CALLS CONTRACT TIME CALLS NON CONTRACT TIME

TOWNSHIP 3:00PM - 11:00PM 3:00PM - 11:00PM 11:00PM - 3:00PM 11:00PM - 3:00PM TOTAL

BRIGHTON 42 16:18 71 25:50 113

COHOCTAH 15 21:41 12 30:08 27

CONWAY 11 41:41 14 49:20 25

DEERFIELD 11 22:34 25 28:29 36

GENOA 101 21:55 161 19:35 262

HANDY 28 22:28 47 31:51 75

HARTLAND 43 24:30 85 26:23 128

HOWELL 58 18:27 79 17:43 137

IOSCO 12 22:27 12 31:45 24

MARION 31 27:01 49 17:39 80

OCEOLA 30 18:13 49 18:51 79

PUTNAM 33 20:50 38 27:18 71

TYRONE 65 17:48 49 31:32 114



MONTH CALLS FOR SERVICE TICKETS WRITTEN ARRESTS

JANUARY 116 8 2

FEBRUARY 101 10 4

MARCH 102 8 2

APRIL 138 21 0

MAY 112 27 7

JUNE 163 24 3

JULY 163 19 3

AUGUST 124 12 3

SEPTEMBER 130 20 0

OCTOBER 143 23 1

NOVEMBER 142 23 6

DECEMBER 114 4 1

YTD TOTALS: 1548 199 32

TYRONE TOWNSHIP



BRIGHTON COHOCTAH CONWAY DEERFIELD

JANUARY 112 JANUARY 29 JANUARY 26 JANUARY 41

FEBRUARY 110 FEBRUARY 26 FEBRUARY 24 FEBRUARY 34

MARCH 109 MARCH 36 MARCH 29 MARCH 26

APRIL 114 APRIL 37 APRIL 15 APRIL 23

MAY 113 MAY 22 MAY 12 MAY 35

JUNE 165 JUNE 25 JUNE 20 JUNE 35

JULY 156 JULY 33 JULY 36 JULY 37

AUGUST 126 AUGUST 33 AUGUST 27 AUGUST 25

SEPTEMBER 114 SEPTEMBER 36 SEPTEMBER 35 SEPTEMBER 35

OCTOBER 137 OCTOBER 40 OCTOBER 33 OCTOBER 32

NOVEMBER 108 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 36 NOVEMBER 37

DECEMBER 113 DECEMBER 27 DECEMBER 25 DECEMBER 36

YTD TOTAL: 1477 371 318 396

JANUARY 22 JANUARY 0 JANUARY 3 JANUARY 2

FEBRUARY 20 FEBRUARY 6 FEBRUARY 5 FEBRUARY 5

MARCH 21 MARCH 5 MARCH 4 MARCH 9

APRIL 25 APRIL 2 APRIL 3 APRIL 9

MAY 24 MAY 1 MAY 2 MAY 6

JUNE 19 JUNE 5 JUNE 1 JUNE 1

JULY 38 JULY 3 JULY 1 JULY 7

AUGUST 28 AUGUST 1 AUGUST 15 AUGUST 3

SEPTEMBER 19 SEPTEMBER 6 SEPTEMBER 7 SEPTEMBER 6

OCTOBER 15 OCTOBER 2 OCTOBER 6 OCTOBER 3

NOVEMBER 29 NOVEMBER 4 NOVEMBER 4 NOVEMBER 3

DECEMBER 55 DECEMBER 1 DECEMBER 0 DECEMBER 6

YTD TOTAL: 315 36 51 60

JANUARY 0 JANUARY 1 JANUARY 1 JANUARY 1

FEBRUARY 1 FEBRUARY 0 FEBRUARY 2 FEBRUARY 1

MARCH 2 MARCH 1 MARCH 0 MARCH 3

APRIL 0 APRIL 0 APRIL 0 APRIL 0

MAY 7 MAY 0 MAY 0 MAY 1

JUNE 2 JUNE 0 JUNE 0 JUNE 1

JULY 3 JULY 1 JULY 0 JULY 1

AUGUST 2 AUGUST 0 AUGUST 0 AUGUST 1

SEPTEMBER 2 SEPTEMBER 0 SEPTEMBER 0 SEPTEMBER 0

OCTOBER 1 OCTOBER 1 OCTOBER 0 OCTOBER 3

NOVEMBER 1 NOVEMBER 0 NOVEMBER 0 NOVEMBER 2

DECEMBER 2 DECEMBER 0 DECEMBER 0 DECEMBER 3

YTD TOTAL: 23 4 3 17

ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS

TICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTEN

CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE



HARTLAND HOWELL IOSCOHANDYGENOA

JANUARY 240 JANUARY 53 JANUARY 132 JANUARY 108 JANUARY 28

FEBRUARY 221 FEBRUARY 67 FEBRUARY 111 FEBRUARY 115 FEBRUARY 25

MARCH 260 MARCH 41 MARCH 119 MARCH 115 MARCH 26

APRIL 233 APRIL 53 APRIL 127 APRIL 123 APRIL 22

MAY 269 MAY 73 MAY 134 MAY 119 MAY 24

JUNE 255 JUNE 72 JUNE 121 JUNE 119 JUNE 28

JULY 261 JULY 85 JULY 141 JULY 135 JULY 45

AUGUST 246 AUGUST 72 AUGUST 126 AUGUST 124 AUGUST 40

SEPTEMBER 222 SEPTEMBER 72 SEPTEMBER 143 SEPTEMBER 120 SEPTEMBER 24

OCTOBER 236 OCTOBER 86 OCTOBER 142 OCTOBER 151 OCTOBER 31

NOVEMBER 245 NOVEMBER 58 NOVEMBER 138 NOVEMBER 125 NOVEMBER 37

DECEMBER 262 DECEMBER 75 DECEMBER 128 DECEMBER 137 DECEMBER 24

2950 807 1562 1491 354

JANUARY 48 JANUARY 14 JANUARY 44 JANUARY 54 JANUARY 5

FEBRUARY 40 FEBRUARY 17 FEBRUARY 33 FEBRUARY 42 FEBRUARY 4

MARCH 52 MARCH 17 MARCH 27 MARCH 51 MARCH 5

APRIL 50 APRIL 9 APRIL 58 APRIL 39 APRIL 3

MAY 39 MAY 20 MAY 41 MAY 31 MAY 11

JUNE 27 JUNE 18 JUNE 20 JUNE 62 JUNE 3

JULY 39 JULY 15 JULY 36 JULY 52 JULY 3

AUGUST 53 AUGUST 16 AUGUST 17 AUGUST 34 AUGUST 3

SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 14 SEPTEMBER 33 SEPTEMBER 43 SEPTEMBER 0

OCTOBER 35 OCTOBER 19 OCTOBER 25 OCTOBER 41 OCTOBER 7

NOVEMBER 33 NOVEMBER 10 NOVEMBER 30 NOVEMBER 37 NOVEMBER 2

DECEMBER 66 DECEMBER 12 DECEMBER 22 DECEMBER 86 DECEMBER 5

510 181 386 572 51

JANUARY 4 JANUARY 1 JANUARY 5 JANUARY 13 JANUARY 0

FEBRUARY 8 FEBRUARY 2 FEBRUARY 4 FEBRUARY 9 FEBRUARY 1

MARCH 5 MARCH 2 MARCH 2 MARCH 4 MARCH 1

APRIL 11 APRIL 2 APRIL 2 APRIL 13 APRIL 0

MAY 9 MAY 3 MAY 5 MAY 2 MAY 1

JUNE 4 JUNE 1 JUNE 3 JUNE 3 JUNE 2

JULY 7 JULY 3 JULY 2 JULY 4 JULY 0

AUGUST 4 AUGUST 6 AUGUST 4 AUGUST 4 AUGUST 1

SEPTEMBER 0 SEPTEMBER 1 SEPTEMBER 2 SEPTEMBER 4 SEPTEMBER 1

OCTOBER 6 OCTOBER 3 OCTOBER 2 OCTOBER 2 OCTOBER 1

NOVEMBER 2 NOVEMBER 2 NOVEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 6 NOVEMBER 1

DECEMBER 8 DECEMBER 0 DECEMBER 2 DECEMBER 6 DECEMBER 0

68 26 36 70 9

ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS

TICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTENTICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTEN

CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE



TYRONEMARION OCEOLA PUTNAM

JANUARY 71 JANUARY 109 JANUARY 56 JANUARY 116

FEBRUARY 72 FEBRUARY 108 FEBRUARY 55 FEBRUARY 101

MARCH 78 MARCH 86 MARCH 70 MARCH 102

APRIL 57 APRIL 86 APRIL 47 APRIL 138

MAY 75 MAY 114 MAY 72 MAY 112

JUNE 110 JUNE 110 JUNE 70 JUNE 163

JULY 91 JULY 121 JULY 75 JULY 163

AUGUST 85 AUGUST 88 AUGUST 68 AUGUST 124

SEPTEMBER 71 SEPTEMBER 85 SEPTEMBER 67 SEPTEMBER 130

OCTOBER 87 OCTOBER 108 OCTOBER 65 OCTOBER 143

NOVEMBER 98 NOVEMBER 112 NOVEMBER 63 NOVEMBER 142

DECEMBER 80 DECEMBER 79 DECEMBER 71 DECEMBER 114

975 1206 779 1548

JANUARY 10 JANUARY 39 JANUARY 5 JANUARY 8

FEBRUARY 9 FEBRUARY 23 FEBRUARY 6 FEBRUARY 10

MARCH 18 MARCH 32 MARCH 8 MARCH 8

APRIL 7 APRIL 35 APRIL 3 APRIL 21

MAY 16 MAY 100 MAY 2 MAY 27

JUNE 12 JUNE 52 JUNE 4 JUNE 24

JULY 13 JULY 69 JULY 6 JULY 19

AUGUST 11 AUGUST 47 AUGUST 2 AUGUST 12

SEPTEMBER 8 SEPTEMBER 27 SEPTEMBER 4 SEPTEMBER 20

OCTOBER 19 OCTOBER 30 OCTOBER 7 OCTOBER 23

NOVEMBER 12 NOVEMBER 32 NOVEMBER 7 NOVEMBER 23

DECEMBER 11 DECEMBER 27 DECEMBER 7 DECEMBER 4

146 513 61 199

JANUARY 1 JANUARY 4 JANUARY 1 JANUARY 2

FEBRUARY 6 FEBRUARY 3 FEBRUARY 0 FEBRUARY 4

MARCH 2 MARCH 2 MARCH 5 MARCH 2

APRIL 1 APRIL 6 APRIL 0 APRIL 0

MAY 1 MAY 2 MAY 0 MAY 7

JUNE 3 JUNE 4 JUNE 0 JUNE 3

JULY 2 JULY 1 JULY 1 JULY 3

AUGUST 3 AUGUST 1 AUGUST 2 AUGUST 3

SEPTEMBER 1 SEPTEMBER 5 SEPTEMBER 2 SEPTEMBER 0

OCTOBER 2 OCTOBER 1 OCTOBER 1 OCTOBER 1

NOVEMBER 4 NOVEMBER 1 NOVEMBER 2 NOVEMBER 6

DECEMBER 2 DECEMBER 2 DECEMBER 0 DECEMBER 1

28 32 14 32

ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS

TICKETS WRITTENTICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTEN TICKETS WRITTEN

CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE CALLS FOR SERVICE



COMMUNICATION #2 
 

Planning Commission Approved Regular Meeting & 
Public Hearing Minutes- August 10, 2021 

 



 

1 
 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING APPROVED MINUTES  

August 10, 2021  

 

 

PRESENT: Kurt Schulze, Jon Ward, Dan Stickel, and Rich Erickson 

ABSENT: Perry Green, Steve Krause, and Bill Wood 

OTHERS PRESENT: Ross Nicholson 

CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order by Chairman Stickel at 7:00 pm. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  

Kim Fracalossi asked the Planning Commission if there had been any new developments or 

updates to several open rezoning applications.  Chairman Stickel indicated that there were no 

new updates.   

Scott Dietrich stated that Ross Nicholson had indicated during a previous meeting that the 

developer was no longer pursuing the rezonings.  Ross Nicholson indicated that as long as the 

applications are open, it is possible that the property owner may continue to pursue the 

rezonings.  He stated that the Board would need to move to close the application during a regular 

meeting. 

[Name not stated] inquired as to whether or not the Township would be making improvements to 

roads in the near future.  Chairman Stickel indicated that the Township Board is responsible for 

making those decisions, not the Planning Commission.  

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  

Kurt Schulze moved to approve the agenda as presented. Rich Erickson supported the motion. 

Motion carried by unanimous voice vote.  

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:   

1) 04/13/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes:  

Kurt Schulze moved to approve the 04/13/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes as presented. Rich 

Erickson supported the motion. Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 

2) 05/11/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes:  

Kurt Schulze moved to approve the 05/11/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes as presented. Jon 

Ward supported the motion. Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 

 



 

2 
 

OLD BUSINESS:   

1) Lake Urban Crossing Preliminary PUD: 

Chairman Stickel asked Ross Nicholson where the best place to start the discussion would be.  

Ross Nicholson indicated that a revised site plan had been received since the previous 

discussion.  He stated that the Planner had not yet had the opportunity to complete an updated 

review of the application.  He suggested that the applicant and/or their authorized agent(s) begin 

with a summary of the revised site plan noting the changes that had been made since it was last 

reviewed.  Ross Nicholson apologized that the Planner was not in attendance and for the new 

review not being completed.  He suggested that the Planning Commission refrain from taking 

action on the application until at least after the new Planner review is available and after the 

public hearing is held. 

Chairman Stickel asked the applicant to provide a summary of the project and explain the 

revisions that had been made to the site plan.  Rade Beslac (agent) provided a summary of the 

proposed residential Planned Unit Development (PUD).  He stated that the site contains 

approxitely 160 acres with approximately 75 acres of buildable area.  He stated that they had 

created a parallel plan based on the PUD standards in the Zoning Ordinance to come up with the 

approximate number of lots that may be permitted based on the Future Land Use Map zoning 

designations for the subject property.  He stated that the Planning Commission may approve a 

density bonus of up to fifteen (15) percent if concessions are provided as described in Article 11 

of the Zoning Ordinance.  He stated that, based on the latest parallel plan, they are proposing a 

total of eighty-nine (89) lots.  He stated that the proposed PUD would be developed in two (2) 

phases- Phase 1 taking access off of Runyan Lake Road containing fifty-two (52) lots and Phase 

2 taking access from White Lake Road containing the remaining thirty-seven (37) lots.  He stated 

that the Livingston County Road Commission (LCRC) has already granted preliminary approval 

for the proposed private road approach from Runyan Lake Road and is in the process of working 

with the LCRC for preliminary approval of a boulevard private road approach from White Lake 

Road.  He stated that the proposed PUD would have access to the public sanitary sewer.  He 

stated that, when acquired, the property already had seventy-four (74) Residential Equivelency 

Units (REU’s) allocated on special assessment and additional REU’s as necessary depending on 

the total number of lots that are approved.  He stated that all of the proposed roads within the 

development would be built to LCRC public road standards.  He stated that the proposed PUD 

would be a walkable community with several walking trails proposed. 

Rade Beslac indicated that the site plan is still in the preliminary phase and a number of 

approvals from outside agencies would be required before a final site plan can be generated, 

inclusive of the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE).  

Chairman Stickel asked if they had had any preliminary communication with EGLE regarding 

the wetlands on the site.  Rade Beslac indicated that they have had preliminary discussion and 

asked that they verify the status of the wetlands on site.   

Chairman Stickel asked Ross Nicholson to provide a summary of the PUD process and explain 

where the application is at in the review process.  Ross Nicholson provided a summary of the 



 

3 
 

PUD process.  He stated that the PUD process is two phases- preliminary review and final 

review.  He stated that the application is currently in the preliminary review phase.  He stated 

that the preliminary phase is more of a “big picture” review of the PUD development to 

determine whether or not the proposed development may be feasible and determine the 

maximum density that may be permitted.  The final review phase follows agency reviews that 

cannot be obtained until after the preliminary phase including but not limited to EGLE, Fire 

Department, Livingston County agencies, and all other agencies having jurisdiction.  He stated 

that the final review phase would take a much deeper dive into technical details that are 

necessary before final approval could be considered.   He stated that, in the final review phase, 

the Planning Commission would review the agency reviews and request reviews of the complete 

application from the Township Planner and Engineer.  An additional public hearing would be 

required at the Planning Commission level during the final review phase, He stated that if the 

Planning Commission finds that all requirements have been met, they may recommend approval 

to the Township Board.  The Township Board may then hold an additional public hearing if 

deemed necessary and review the application prior to approving or denying the application.  He 

stated that the complete PUD process is described in Article 11 of the Zoning ordinance which 

may be viewed on the Township’s website.  Ross Nicholson indicated that this is the first PUD 

he has been involved with.  He stated that the Township has not received an application for a 

PUD since the late 1990’s/early 2000’s, which is the only PUD that currently exists in the 

Township.  He stated that, because no one currently sitting on the Planning Commission has any 

first-hand experience with PUD applications, they are practicing caution in reviewing the 

application to ensure all requirements are fulfilled prior to considering a favorable 

recommendation.  Chairman Stickel stated that the Planning Commission will be holding the 

public hearing for the preliminary phase of the review process during tonight’s meeting.  Ross 

Nicholson added that there will be a minimum of two (2) public hearings at the Planning 

Commission level (1 for preliminary and 1 for final).  Chairman Stickel indicated that the 

Planning Commission does not feel like they are sufficiently equipped to make a decision on the 

application during tonight’s meeting. 

Wilson Lahoud (applicant) stated that the subject property was purchased with 74 REU’s 

designated and that the proposed development would utilize an extension of the existing public 

sanitary sewer system.  He stated that there are approximately eighty (80) acres of unusable land 

on the property which is nearly half of the total site area.  He indicated that utilizing the public 

sanitary sewer for all lots would be better for the environment than utilizing on-site sewage 

treatment systems (septic).  He stated that he believes the development would be complementary 

to existing development in the area and would be a benefit to the Township.   

Chairman Stickel stated that the public hearing to be held shortly is for the preliminary PUD site 

plan.  Kurt Schulze asked the applicants to describe the proposed stormwater treatment system.  

Rade Beslac indicated that the plan is to utilize as much of the existing wetlands as possible for 

treatment of stormwater as recommended by EGLE.  He elaborated further on specific aspects of 

the proposed system.  Chairman Stickel asked if they are proposing any type of pretreatment of 

stormwater prior to allowing flow into wetlands.  Rade Beslac elaborated on the proposed 

pretreatment system.  Chairman Stickel indicated that stormwater treatment will be very 



 

4 
 

important to prevent excess sediment from flowing into Runyan Lake.  Rade Beslac 

acknowledged the importance of ensuring the stormwater treatment system is built to the 

standards required by the Livingston County Drain Commissioner (LCDC) and EGLE.   

Jon Ward asked what the status of the proposed roadway locations were.  Rade Beslac indicated 

that they have been working with the Livingston County Road Commission (LCRC).  He stated 

that they have received preliminary approval for the proposed private road approach off of 

Runyan Lake Road and are currently seeking preliminary approval for the approach from White 

Lake Road.  Jon Ward questioned whether or not the proposed approach off of Runyan Lake 

Road could be permitted based on the Zoning Ordinance requirement that “The PUD shall be 

located so that it can be accessed from a paved, County primary road able to safely serve the 

proposed development without adverse impact on the community” (Section 11.02.E).  The 

Planning Commission briefly discussed.  Chairman Stickel indicated that the standard in 

question was specific to the Tyrone Township Zoning ordinance and is not a standard required 

by the LCRC.  Rich Erickson asked if the latest parallel plan should reflect the road layout 

shown in the latest site plan documents.  Chairman Stickel indicated that the parallel plan has 

different requirements than the site plan and is only intended to determine the maximum 

allowable density for the development.   

Kurt Schulze made a motion to temporarily recess the regular meeting and open the scheduled 

public hearing. 

Chairman Stickel recessed the regular meeting to hold the scheduled public hearing for the Lake 

Urban Crossings Preliminary PUD application. 

PUBLIC HEARING:   

1) Lake Urban Crossing Preliminary PUD: 

Chairman Stickel read the public hearing notice that was published in the Tri-County Times 

newspaper on 07/25/2021: 

“Notice is hereby given the Tyrone Township Planning Commission will hold a Public Hearing 

on Tuesday, August 10, 2021, beginning at 7:30 pm at the Tyrone Township Hall located at 8420 

Runyan Lake Road, Fenton, MI. The purpose for 

the Public Hearing is: 

1. To receive comments regarding the proposed Lake Urban Crossing preliminary residential 

Planned Unit Development (PUD) application. The subject property is vacant land located east 

of Runyan Lake Road and north of White Lake Road, Parcel ID numbers: 4704-03-300-020, 

4704-10-100-024, 4704-10-100-025, 4704-10-200-025, and 4704-03-400-001. The property is 

zoned RE, Rural Estates. 

Additional information is available at the Tyrone Township Planning & Zoning Department, 

8420 Runyan Lake Road, Monday through Thursday, 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. Individuals with 

disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Tyrone Township Clerk, at 

(810) 629-8631, at least seven days prior to the meeting.” 



 

5 
 

Chairman Stickel explained the protocol for receiving public comments during the public 

hearing.  He asked if the applicants, the Planning Commission, or Ross Nicholson had anything 

to add before opening the floor to accept public comments.  Ross Nicholson reiterated the PUD 

procedure and emphasized that this would be the first public hearing for the preliminary PUD 

application. 

Chairman Stickel opened the floor to receive public comments. 

Michael Hayek (resident) stated that he was a US history teacher for forty (40) years.  He stated 

that approval of the proposed development would result in the property values of existing nearby 

development would be negatively impacted.  He stated that the sewer system would go into 

Runyan Lake.  He stated that it sounds like the British had input into the project as if this were 

the times of the American Revolution.  He stated that he says no to the proposed development. 

Jim Sporer (resident) indicated that he had previously submitted a letter to the Planning 

Commission which he would like to read for the public record.  He read from the letter which 

outlined specific concerns regarding wetland protection.  He asked if a qualified wetland 

consultant has identified and staked the locations of wetland areas on the subject property.  He 

asked who the consultant was and asked if the information was reported to and verified by 

EGLE.  He indicated that twenty-four (24) of the lots shown on the parallel plan would not meet 

the required fifty (50) foot wetland setback as required by the Zoning Ordinance.  He stated that 

Section 11.01 describes the intent of PUD’s and Section 11.02 describes the open space 

requirements for PUD’s.  He indicated that he does not believe that the proposed development 

would meet the intent of PUD’s or the open space requirements.  He thanked the Planning 

Commission for taking the time to hear his comments. 

Scott Dietrich (resident) stated that a lot of the information being discussed was not available on 

the Township website until recently.  He stated that he contacted the Township regarding the 

information being unavailable and was told by someone that no one cares.  He stated that he has 

concerns regarding a potential increase of traffic on White Lake Road if the proposed PUD is 

approved.  He expressed concerns regarding stormwater treatment, specifically pertaining to 

fertilizers that may be present in runoff.  He stated that if the stormwater treatment system were 

to fail, Runyan Lake would become polluted.  He reiterated that he was very concerned about the 

potential increase in taxes.  He stated that the proposed development contains too many lots 

which is inconsistent with the Township’s intent of preserving the rural character of the 

community.  He stated that the proposed development would contain too many homes. 

Jeff Cooper (resident) stated that he lives adjacent to the area where the proposed road entrance 

from Runyan Lake Road is located.  He stated that traffic is a major concern.  He stated that 

approximately seventeen hundred (1,700) cars travel down that particular stretch of Runyan Lake 

Road daily.  He stated that approval of the development would result in an increase in that 

number, adding to congestion.  He stated that there is increased traffic due to construction on 

US-23.  He stated that the applicant indicated that they received preliminary approval for the 

proposed road entrance from Runyan Lake Road two (2) years ago.  He stated that the developer 

did not own adequate land to meet the LCRC requirements for a private road approach at that 



 

6 
 

time and had only acquired the space required more recently.  Wilson Lahoud indicated that the 

LCRC review was pertaining only to the sight distance requirements at that time.  He reiterated 

that it was a preliminary review based on the plans that were available during that time for line-

of-sight review.  Jeff Cooper continued.  He stated that he is wondering if the widening of 

Runyan Lake Road would be necessary to add a turn lane to accommodate the proposed 

development.  He stated that he had moved to the area for the rural character and feels that 

approval of the proposed PUD would be detrimental to said character.   

Mark Glazewski (resident) asked for clarification on the sanitary sewer system that would be 

utilized for the proposed development.  Ross Nicholson indicated that the sewer system is the 

Livingston Regional Sewer System (LRSS) which is a shared system between Hartland and 

Tyrone Townships.  He stated that the outflow from the system is processed in Genessee County.  

Mark Glazewski asked if it would be the same system utilized by the development around 

Runyan Lake.  Ross Nicholson indicated that it would be on the same system that serves the rest 

of the Township.  Mark Glazewski stated that he heard that there were a number of beaver dams 

on the property.  He stated that disturbing the natural habitat could significantly impact the 

subject property as well as Runyan Lake by altering the natural flow rates and patterns.   

A gentleman in attendance (name not stated) asked if the Planning Commission had received a 

letter from the Runyan Lake Board of Trustees.  Chairman Stickel indicated that the 

correspondence was received shortly before the meeting.  The gentleman asked if Chairman 

Stickel could read the letter aloud for the public in attendance.  Chairman Stickel indicated that 

he would read the letter prior to closing the public hearing.   

Greg Johnson (resident) indicated that the proposed road entrance off of White Lake Road would 

be located directly across from his property.  He stated that he has concerns regarding headlights 

facing towards his home at night.  He stated that he also has safety concerns.  He stated that 

many motorists speed in excess of the speed limit along that stretch of White Lake Road.  He 

indicated that a combination of increased speed and low visibility lead to hazardous driving 

conditions in the area.  He stated that the conditions of the roads themselves are also a safety 

concern.  He stated that he has concerns that approval of the proposed PUD would lead to 

further/increased rates of deterioration of the road surface. 

Kim LaClear (resident) stated that she lives on White Lake Road and frequently witnesses 

vehicles speeding in excess of eighty (80) miles per hour in the area.  She stated that conditions 

are already unsafe and that the roadway would not accommodate additional traffic.             

Dan Podeszwik (resident) indicated that a previous version of the site plan depicted a road layout 

which would be dangerous.  He stated that he sees the plans have since been revised and the 

latest version alleviates those specific concerns.  He stated that he agrees with many of the 

previous comments regarding safety concerns along White Lake Road.    

Richard Sirna (resident) cited a statement from the Zoning Ordinance, Article 4, regarding the 

intent of the Farming Residential and Rural Estate zoning districts.  He asked if the Michigan 

Department of Natural Resources (DNR) has any comments regarding the proposed development 

within and near wetland areas.  He stated that he has concerns regarding stormwater runoff 



 

7 
 

flowing into Runyan Lake as well as concerns regarding disruption of the beaver dams on the 

subject property.  He stated that the water levels on Runyan Lake fluctuate because of beaver 

dams.  He stated that he has concerns regarding the potential traffic increase.  He stated that Lake 

Urban is not so much a lake as it is wetlands.  He stated that two additional cars per new 

dwelling would result in a significant traffic increase. 

Mike Kohler (resident) stated that he lived near the subject parcel for fifty-nine (59) years.  He 

stated that he is very familiar with the wetland areas.  He asked if the developer was aware that 

pilons would be required in order to build on the subject parcel.  He stated that the western 

portion of the subject property was assessed REU’s when the public sanitary sewer system was 

installed.  He noted that the cost for each REU as well as sewer billing rates are very expensive.  

He stated that many residents in the area were required to connect to the public sanitary sewer 

due to lake contamination from private septic systems.  He provided some history of the wetland 

and lakes in the area.  He stated that some of the new homes being built along Hartland Road 

will not be able to get favorable percolation test results and will likely want to have the sewer 

system expanded which would force all of the dwellings in between to connect as well. 

Nick Branoff (resident) indicated that he lives in the Hills of Tyrone site condominium, just 

north of the subject property.  He stated that he is Vice President of the Hills of Tyrone 

Association.  He asked what the distances would be from the rear property boundaries of the 

units within the Hills of Tyrone to the proposed road which would take access from Runyan 

Lake Road.  He stated that there is a retention pond located on the southwest corner of the Hills 

of Tyrone property which is currently overflowing due to sediment clogging the drains.  He 

stated that the water travels southwest from the retention pond.  He stated that he has lived 

adjacent to the wetlands on the subject property for twenty-five (25) years and is very familiar 

with the natural course of surface water flow.  He stated that all of the water from the subject 

property ultimately flows into Runyan Lake.  He indicated that there are significant wetland 

drainage issues on the subject property, noting that the beaver dams frequently cause major 

fluctuations in the water levels.  He stated that much of the area shown on the site plan as open 

water contains invasive species of plants resulting in little to no visibility beneath the surface of 

the water.   

Kim Fracalossi (resident) thanked the Planning Commission for all the work they do.  She stated 

that she lives on White Lake Road.  She stated that she feels the Planning Commission has 

already informally granted the project approval and are now working backwards to figure out a 

way to formally approve.  She stated that she has issues with the proposed density of the 

development.  She stated that the proposed density would conflict with the Master Plan and 

Future Land Use Map designation for natural resource preservation.  She stated that the proposal 

conflicts with the spirit of the Master Plan.  She stated that waiving a percentage of the open 

space requirement would conflict with the intent of the open space design requirements in the 

Zoning Ordinance.  She stated that Section 11.01 from the Zoning Ordinance (PUD Intent) 

indicates that PUD’s should be developed with consideration of the intent of development of the 

area in the Master Plan.  She stated that the Master Plan does not indicate that the area would be 

suitable for the proposed PUD.  She stated that the development would result in economic and 



 

8 
 

noneconomic costs that would impact existing development and residents in the area.  She stated 

that the proposed development would result in loss of scenic landscape, loss of rural character, 

increased traffic congestion, increased noise pollution, increased light pollution, etc.… 

John Leece (resident) stated that he owns property to the north of the proposed PUD.  He stated 

that his property drains into the wetland area on the subject property.  He stated that the proposed 

development would likely result in his property becoming flooded.   

Paul Lewis (resident) stated that he lives off of Carmer Rd.  He asked where the proposed White 

Lake Road entrance would be located in relation to Carmer Rd.  The Planning Commission 

pointed out the location.  He stated that he moved from West Bloomfield which he feels is 

overdeveloped and congested.  He stated that he moved to the area with his family to get away 

from the congestion and because he loves Runyan Lake.  He stated that one of his biggest 

concerns is the potential impacts to Runyan Lake.  He stated that he is worried that the proposed 

development may result in reduction of his property value due to negative impacts to Runyan 

Lake. 

John Fialka (resident) stated that he has lived on Runyan Lake since 1968.  He stated that 

everyone has already expressed their concerns but wanted to make note that he was also 

concerned about potential impacts to Runyan Lake and the surrounding areas including sediment 

runoff, pollution, and increased traffic.   

Herman Ferguson (resident and Township Trustee) stated that he has lived in the Township for 

forty-five (45) years and he sincerely cares about the community.  He stated that he wishes that 

he would see public turnout at the Township Board meetings as he sees tonight.  He stated that 

he is glad that he came and is happy to see the passion and public participation.  He stated that he 

represents all residents of the Township and wants to hear from them so he can make informed 

decisions.   

Nick Branoff (resident) asked if the developer plans to reroute the drainage flow from Denton 

Creek to Runyan Lake and whether or not the beaver dams would be removed from the subject 

property.  Chairman Stickel stated that the plans do not depict any change to the water system he 

described.  Nick Branoff asked how the stormwater drainage system would work.  Chairman 

Stickel elaborated.  Rade Beslac indicated that they have no intent of moving the beaver dams.   

James May (resident) stated that he has concerns about the volume of water and sediment that 

could potentially flow into Runyan Lake.  He stated that he would like to see additional 

calculations to confirm that the drainage system would work.   

Resident (name not stated) indicated that the developer could easily obtain a permit to remove 

the beaver dams from the property through the Michigan DNR. 

Scott Dietrich (resident) stated that the residents have expressed a consensus regarding road 

safety on White Lake Road. 

Sara Dollman-Jersey (resident) thanked Ross Nicholson for his explanation of how the PUD 

process works.  She stated that she is inspired by the number of people in attendance engaging in 



 

9 
 

the discussion.  She asked if the application would be included on future Planning Commission 

meeting agendas between the preliminary and final application.  Ross Nicholson provided 

clarification.  He indicated that, following preliminary review, the applicants would seek agency 

reviews and put together an application meeting the requirements for final PUD review before 

returning to the Planning Commission.  Sara Dollman-Jersey asked how she can obtain the 

application documents.  Ross Nicholson indicated that the application documents are available in 

the meeting packet documents on the Township website. 

Jannette Ropeta (resident) thanked the Planning Commission and Ross Nicholson for the work 

they do.  She stated that she has frequently been attending Township meetings and is very 

interested in what is going on in Township government.  She stated that she was happy to see so 

many residents in attendance and hopes to see consistent turnout moving forward.  She stated 

that she is recording the meeting because she was told by someone at the Township that nobody 

cares.  She stated that she has started a Facebook group called Tyrone Township Watch to ensure 

that all meetings are recorded and livestreamed for those who are unable to attend meetings in-

person.   

Michael Ewles (resident) stated that he and his wife own two properties in the area and have 

lived in the Township for twenty-five (25) years.  He stated that he has concerns with the 

potential for increased light pollution as a result of the proposed development.  He stated that he 

very much enjoys the natural beauty of the Township and is concerned that increased traffic and 

additional dwellings would lead to increased light pollution.  He stated that he loves and cares 

about Runyan Lake.  He stated that the wetlands on the subject property are significant,  and 

development of the area would negatively impact Runyan Lake. 

Resident (name not stated) asked the Planning Commission to point out where the proposed 

development would be located in relation to her property.  The Planning Commission pointed it 

out on the map. 

Resident (name not stated) asked if residents in the area could launch kayaks into the water on 

the subject property.  Rade Beslac responded. 

Chairman Stickel read a letter addressed to the Planning Commission from Runyan Lake 

Incorporated (association).  The letter summarized the intent and purpose of the association and 

outlined concerns regarding drainage/stormwater management, exploitation of natural features, 

overdevelopment, sediment runoff control, etc… The letter recommended that the Planning 

Commission require specific review/approvals from other agencies having jurisdiction prior to 

granting preliminary PUD approval.  The letter also stated concerns regarding potential 

incompatibility of the development with the Zoning Ordinance requirements for the zoning 

district as well as concerns regarding potential contamination of Runyan Lake.  The letter also 

indicated that it would be illegal for the development to create runoff that would impact nearby 

properties.  The letter concluded with a request to the Planning Commission that they 

recommend denial of the application until the aforementioned concerns are sufficiently 

addressed. 



 

10 
 

Chairman Stickel asked if there were any additional public comments.  None were received.  He 

asked the Planning Commission if they had any questions or comments.  Rich Erickson stated 

that the new road layout should be shown on the parallel plan and indicated that he would like to 

know if it would be possible to reduce the number of lots in the PUD.  Jon Ward asked if a traffic 

impact study would be required for preliminary PUD review.  Chairman Stickel indicated that a 

study would be required as part of a complete final PUD application.  The Planning Commission 

asked the applicants if they have received feedback from any other agencies having jurisdiction 

aside from the LCRC and EGLE.  Rade Beslac indicated that they have not received reviews or 

approvals from other agencies because preliminary PUD approval is required prior to seeking 

them.  Chairman Stickel asked for clarification of the status of the wetlands on the subject 

property.  Rade Beslac indicated that they have hired a wetland consultant to flag and delineate 

the wetlands on the property and confirmed the status of the wetland areas with EGLE.  The 

Planning Commission briefly discussed.  Chairman Stickel reiterated the requirements for 

preliminary PUD review versus final PUD review.  He stated that the Planning Commission 

would not be making a recommendation tonight.  There was a brief discussion between the 

Planning Commission and members of the public.  The Planning Commission and Ross 

Nicholson discussed the timeline and requirements for the review process. 

Chairman Stickel stated that they have received many comments regarding concerns primarily 

regarding increased traffic and stormwater management.  He asked the applicants for 

clarification on how the proposed roads would be built within the PUD.  Rade Beslac stated that 

the roads would be built to LCRC specs but managed by the condominium association.  

Chairman Stickel recommended that they should draft road maintenance agreements prior to 

submitting the application for final PUD review.  Rade Beslac indicated that they would include 

maintenance agreements as well as drafts of the condominium documents including the master 

deed and bylaws.   

Chairman Stickel asked if there were any additional comments from the Planning Commission.  

Jon Ward stated that the PUD standards require that the development be located on a primary 

road.  It was determined that Runyan Lake is not considered to be a primary road.  The Planning 

Commission briefly discussed.  Chairman Stickel indicated that that would need to be evaluated 

and further discussed prior to making a recommendation.    

Chairman Stickel closed the public hearing at 8:54 pm.      

NEW BUSINESS:   

2) Vale Royal Barn Special Land Use Amendment 

The applicant requested that the item be deferred until a future meeting when the Planner is in 

attendance.   

The item was tabled. 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:   



 

11 
 

Scott Dietrich (resident) stated that White Lake Road is a mess.  He stated that all residents in 

attendance agree.  He stated that the proposed Lake Urban PUD includes too many wetland areas 

and is too dense of a development.  He reiterated concerns regarding safety along White Lake 

Road. 

Jeff Cooper (resident) expressed safety concerns with White Lake Road. 

 Kim Fracalossi (resident) asked for a status update on the Master Plan.  Chairman Stickel 

indicated that they have not formally begun the master planning process. 

Jannette Ropeta (resident) stated that it is hard for residents to participate in the master planning 

process if they are unaware of when the discussions will take place.  She stated that she feels the 

Township is attempting to hold of on discussion until the public loses interest. 

ADJOURNMENT: The meeting was adjourned by Chairman Stickel at 9:04 pm. 



COMMUNICATION #3 
 

Planning Commission Approved Regular Meeting 
Minutes- August 18, 2021 

 
 



 

1 
 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING APPROVED MINUTES  

August 18, 2021  

 

 

PRESENT: Vice-Chairman Kurt Schulze, Commissioners Rich Erickson, Jon Ward, and Steve 

Krause 

OTHERS PRESENT: Karie Carter and Zach Michels 

ABSENT: Chairman Dan Stickel, Commissioners Bill Wood and Perry Green 

CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order by Vice-Chairman Kurt Schulze at 6:05 

pm. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  

A member of the public spoke about some intersections he felt were dangerous in the Township. 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  

Commissioner Rich Erickson moved to approve the agenda as presented. Commissioner Steve 

Krause seconded. The motion carried.  

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:  None 

OLD BUSINESS:  None 

The meeting was suspended at 6:09 pm to wait for the arrival of Zach Michels.  The meeting 

reconvened at 6:13 pm. 

NEW BUSINESS:   

1) Vale Royal Barn Special Land Use Amendment 

Vice-Chairman Schulze asked the applicants if they had anything they wanted to say or ask 

about their application before hearing from Carlisle Wortman.  They said they would wait until 

after Zach Michels did his review.  He explained that the applicant is requesting to amend the 

description of use (use statement) governing the previously approved site plan and special land 

use for a public/private recreation area/facility (event/wedding barn).   

He went over all of the changes the applicants were requesting, which included changing the 

hours of operation on weekdays to 9:00 am to 11:00 pm (the original hours were 2:00 pm to 9:00 

pm), allowing for later music on weekdays, allowing for more events on weekends (up to two 

events on up to six weekends rather than the current one event per weekend), and expanding the 

potential for subcontracted use of the facility (renting out for other types of events like Boy 



 

2 
 

Scouts, etc.). They would like to increase the number of participants on weekdays to 163; 

currently, it is 60.  

Mr. Michels stated that the commercial nature of the use and the proposed changes to the 

description of use statement are generally consistent with the intent of the future land use map.  

He stated that the proposed change does not appear to have an impact on any of the natural 

resources on the site, nor would the potential increase in the volume of vehicles cause any 

impact. 

He suggested the Planning Commission consider converting the grass parking area to gravel. He 

also said they should consider if it needs additional information about employee parking 

(location, etc.).  Other items Mr. Michels said the applicants should provide are confirmation that 

the existing utilities will be adequate to accommodate the potential increased volume of guests, 

and that there will be no changes to the existing landscaping, screening, and lighting.  He said 

they should confirm there will be no additional signs than what was previously approved on their 

site plan.  

Mr. Michels said that the Planning Commission may want to consider some changes to sound 

and trash management if there are concerns about their potential impact on surrounding 

properties.  He said that the proposed amendment would likely create increased volumes of 

traffic, as the capacity will be increased for events on weekdays. However, the maximum volume 

for any single event will not exceed the current maximum volume.  He recommended the 

Planning Commission consider consulting the Livingston County Road Commission to 

determine if any additional improvements may be necessary for the driveway.  

Mr. Michels talked about the music and said the noise levels would have to follow the ordinance 

on how loud it can be.  If there is concern about noise, the ordinance states that outdoor music 

ends at 10:00 pm.  

He said there may be a need for more trash bins with an increase in guests. There is no need to 

change any parking areas; there are enough spaces for the proposed increase of guests. Vice-

Chairman Schulze asked if the 163 parking spots were for the guests and not the staff.  Mr. 

Michels said it was just for the guests; staff and employees park off-site.  

The applicants asked to eliminate the requirement to submit monthly reports. They appear to 

have operated without any significant issues since originally approved. Mr. Michels felt the 

Planning Commission should consider the owner prepare and submit an annual report instead of 

the monthly reports.  

The site plan needs to be stamped by a licensed professional. It should show the locations of any 

trash dumpsters, as well.  If parking will change, it should be shown on the site plan.  

After Mr. Michels completed his review, Vice-Chairman Schulze asked the Planning 

Commission to share any thoughts or ask any questions they may have. Commissioner Krause 

asked about converting the grass to gravel. He said if it gets muddy, it would get messy for their 

guests.  The applicant stated that the grass area is high and dry, it is mostly clay so it stays 



 

3 
 

compact. They keep the grass cut very short. If it rains, gravel tends to spread and cause more 

holes for guests to trip on.  

 

Vice-Chairman Schulze asked if they were expanding the number of months they would operate. 

The applicants stated they would not – they will still hold events from April through October.  

Commission Krause agreed that grass is easier to maintain than gravel.  He then asked if the off-

site parking for staff/vendors was an issue. Mr. Michels said it is not an issue.  The applicant said 

they have only maxed out their parking one time.  Vice-Chairman Schulze asked about other 

events that would be hosted there and where the staff would park. Ms. Johnson stated that no 

event will ever be over 150 guests.   

There have never been complaints against them.  The neighbor who lives to the north of them 

has stated she is very pleased with the operation so far. The music cannot be heard from afar, 

especially because of the noise from US-23.  Vice-Chairman Schulze asked if they had their fire 

suppression system installed; Ms. Johnson confirmed that they did.    

In regards to parking, if there are a bunch of cars parked up and down the road (Old US-23) that 

would be a violation of the special land use approval. The township could then put them on 

notice, give them a warning. If it were to happen multiple times, the special land use could be 

revoked.  

The Planning Commission discussed approving the request contingent upon the changes that 

were discussed were made.  The site plan needed to be updated showing dumpsters, dates of 

operation.  The applicants need to prove adequate sewer/bathrooms/utilities for the increased use.  

The use statement needs to be revised. The Planning Commission agreed that the applicants can 

convert from monthly reports to annual reports. 

Commissioner Erickson moved to conditionally approve the Site Plan/Special Land Use 

Amendment with the conditions that the site plan has the dumpster locations and has a stamp and 

the site plan has the same notes to be consistent with the use statement and that they amend to 

require an annual report. Commissioner Krause seconded. The motion carried.   

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  A few members of the public spoke. 

ADJOURNMENT: The meeting was adjourned by Vice-Chairman Schulze at 7:05 pm. 



COMMUNICATION #4 
 

Planning Commission Meeting & Public Hearing 
Synopsis- January 11, 2022 

 
 



TYRONE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING SYNOPSIS 

January 11, 2022  7:00 p.m. 

 

Note: This meeting was held at the Tyrone Township Hall with remote access via Zoom 

Videoconferencing. 

Note: This meeting was recessed at 7:30 pm for a public hearing. 

 

PRESENT: Kurt Schulze, Jon Ward, Steve Krause, and Rich Erickson 

 

ABSENT: Bill Wood, Chet Schultz, and Garrett Ladd 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: Ross Nicholson and Zach Michels (CWA) 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm  

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  Several public comments were received. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  New Business item #2 (Private Road Standards) was 

moved ahead of all other business items. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:  

1) 08/10/2021 Regular Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes: Approved as amended. 

 

2) 08/18/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes: Approved as presented. 

 

NEW BUSINESS #2:  Private Road Standards 

 

The Planning Commission briefly discussed a request from the Runyan Lake Heights 

Association to consider partial paving of a private road within the subdivision.  Zach Michels 

indicated that the Zoning Ordinance allows for modifications of private road standards for safety 

purposes.  The Planning Commission briefly discussed what information they would need from 

the Association to consider the request.  The Planning Commission determined that they would 

need plans and a written description in accordance with the standards in Article 24 of the Zoning 

Ordinance to make a determination.  No action was taken. 

 

The regular meeting was recessed at 7:30 pm to hold the scheduled public hearing. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING #1:  Niemi Shared Private Driveway  

 



Zach Michels summarized the application and read through the review letter.  The Planning 

Commission briefly discussed the application.  A public comment was received.   

 

PUBLIC HEARING #2:  Sultani Caregiver Special Land Use 

 

Zach Michels summarized the application and read through the review letter.  The Planning 

Commission briefly discussed the application.  A number of public comments were received. 

 

OLD BUSINESS #1:  Niemi Shared Private Driveway 

 

The Planning Commission briefly discussed the application documents.  The Planning 

Commission recommended Township Board approval with conditions. 

 

OLD BUSINESS #2:  Master Plan 

 

The Planning Commission discussed possible survey options for the master planning process.  It 

was determined that the primary focus of the next workshop meeting would be to focus on 

master plan survey questions and timelines for the master planning process. 

 

NEW BUSINESS #1:  Sultani Caregiver Special Land Use 

 

The Planning Commission discussed the application amongst themselves and the applicants.  

They provided direction to the applicants/agents, requesting additional information and revisions 

to the site plan.  The item was tabled pending the receipt of the requested information. 

 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  Several public comments were received. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS:  

 

Next Workshop Meeting:  The next Workshop meeting was scheduled for Wednesday, 

01/19/2022, beginning at 6:00 pm. 

 

ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 9:44 pm. 



UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
#1 

 
Lake Urban Crossing PUD Preliminary Site Plan 

 



 

GM Confidential 

Township Board 

Tyrone Township 

8420 Runyan Lake Road 

Fenton, MI 48430 
 

Subject:  Agenda Request, Lake Urban Crossings Preliminary PUD Plan 

Recommendation for Approval 

 

Dear Township Board Members:  

At our Planning Commission meeting held 11/30/2021 the Planning Commission 
supported a favorable recommendation of the Preliminary Site Plan for Lake 
Urban Crossing PUD application. 

Motion: 

Kurt Schulze made a motion to recommend Township Board approval of the Lake 
Urban Crossing preliminary PUD application noting that the Planning Commission 
discussed and made determinations for items 1-11 from the Carlisle Wortman 
Associates review letter dated 11/04/2021 under the list of items requiring 
Planning Commission determination (beginning at the bottom of page 26). The 
recommendation is conditional upon items 1-10, excluding item #4, from the 
potential conditions section of the Carlisle Wortman Associates review letter dated 
11/04/2021 being addressed as part of a final PUD plan application following 
agency reviews (at the bottom of page #27). 

Steve Krause supported the motion.  Motion carried 3:2.  Votes: Yes- Shultz, 

Schulze, Krause / No- Erickson, Ladd. 

Summary: 

The applicant proposes 88 total lots being built in 2 phases of construction. Phase 
1 consists of 42 lots, with entrance from Runyan Lake Rd North of White Lake and 
Phase 2 consists of 46 lots with entrance from White Lake Rd east of Runyan Lake 
Rd.   

There were many items that the Planning Commission reviewed in the 

11/30/2021 meeting and agreed with allowing as part of Preliminary concept 



 

GM Confidential 

approval. More specifically, the Planning Commission went through the list of 

items that require Planning Commission determinations (1-11) listed in the 

Carlisle Wortman Planning Report dated 11/4/2021 on page 26 and 27 (see 

excerpt at the end of this document).   

Other items of note are that the applicant did provide a Traffic Impact Study for 

the years 2016- 2020 and also agreed to remove 4 lots that border Tyrone Hills 

subdivision as well as agreeing that they will put a cul-de-sac at the end of 

Valencia as directed by the Fire Department.  The required public hearing was 

held on 08/10/2021 at 7:30 pm. 

 

Regards, 

 

Chairman -Tyrone Township Planning Commission 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

GM Confidential 

Excerpt From 11/04/2021 Carlisle/Wortman Assoc., Inc review letter RE: Lake Urban Crossings: 

 

1. The Planning Commission should determine if the 1” = 150’ scale is adequate for substantial review of 

the preliminary plan.   

The Planning Commission determined that the scale provided was adequate for preliminary review.  

2. The Planning Commission should determine whether or not to waive all or a part the requirement to 

show the location of existing structures within 500 feet of the lot as part preliminary review. 

The Planning Commission waived the requirement to show the location of all existing structures 

within 500 feet of the subject property for preliminary review. 

3. The Planning Commission should determine if it will require a traffic impact statement, as outlined in 

Table 23.1 Requirements for Various Types of Traffic Impact Studies, as part of preliminary review. 

The Planning Commission requested and received a traffic impact statement (attached). 

4. The Planning Commission should determine if a statement of use is necessary for preliminary review. 

The Planning Commission waived the use statement requirement for preliminary review but noted 

that one will be required as part of a complete application for final PUD plan review. 

5. The Planning Commission should determine if the parallel plan is reasonably feasible. 

The Planning Commission determined that the parallel plan is reasonably feasible. 

6. The Planning Commission should determine if the proposed developmental standard modifications are 

consistent with sound planning and design, are necessary for the preservation of significant features or 

open space on the site or are otherwise necessary to result in a higher-quality design. 

The Planning Commission determined that the proposed developmental standard modifications are 

consistent with sound planning and design, are necessary for the preservation of significant features 

or open space on the site or are otherwise necessary to result in a higher-quality design. 

7. The Planning Commission should determine if the criteria for additional residential lots are satisfied 

and, if so, what incremental bonus from 0% to 5% the planned unit development qualifies for. 

The Planning Commission determined that the requirements for additional residential lots are 

satisfied and granted an incremental bonus of 15% (total) based on the criteria listed in Section 

11.02.H.2 of the Zoning Ordinance 

8. The Planning Commission should determine if the site characteristics, surrounding natural features, 

and proposed design features lend themselves to a reduced open space requirement. 

The Planning Commission determined that, due to the challenges surrounding site characteristics 

inclusive of wetlands and other natural features, there was justification to reduce the open space 

requirement. While the plans fall short of the upland open space requirement, it includes a 

substantial amount of wetland and submerged land open space and ultimately satisfies the intent of 

the open space design requirements as described in the Zoning Ordinance.  



 

GM Confidential 

9. The Planning Commission should consider whether or not it would recommend using non-contiguous 

property to satisfy open space area if a waiver is not granted from the 30% minimum. 

The Planning Commission determined that non-contiguous open space should not be required as the 

amount of open space area provided ultimately satisfies the intent of the open space design 

requirements as described in the Zoning Ordinance. 

10. The Planning Commission should determine if alternative screening would be warranted. 

The Planning Commission determined that alternate screening would not be warranted for the 

preliminary PUD plan but would be reevaluated if the applicant returns for final PUD plan review. 

11. The Planning Commission should determine if the criteria for preliminary site plan, special land use, 

and planned unit developments are satisfied. 

The Planning Commission determined that all requirements for preliminary PUD plan review have 

been satisfied. 





43 56,816 1.304 12,507 50.0 197.4
44 24,195 0.555 10,986 50.0 100.0
45 23,588 0.542 10,564 50.0 99.0
46 24,802 0.569 11,404 50.0 101.0
47 24,195 0.555 10,986 50.0 100.0
48 23,849 0.547 10,158 50.0 100.0
49 24,853 0.571 7,433 50.0 110.0
50 21,834 0.501 7,570 35.0 115.6
51 21,888 0.502 7,625 35.0 124.8
52 22,885 0.525 7,316 35.0 140.6
53 22,313 0.512 7,881 35.0 149.1
54 18,128 0.416 6,947 35.0 116.0
55 25,578 0.587 8,270 50.0 116.3
56 23,100 0.530 10,125 50.0 105.0
57 23,100 0.530 10,125 50.0 105.0
58 25,578 0.587 8,270 50.0 116.3
59 31,500 0.723 9,300 50.0 210.0
60 37,076 0.851 9,282 50.0 244.1
61 25,578 0.587 8,270 50.0 116.3
62 23,100 0.530 10,125 50.0 105.0
63 23,100 0.530 10,125 50.0 105.0
64 25,578 0.587 8,270 50.0 116.3
65 18,950 0.435 8,134 35.0 110.0
66 18,484 0.424 8,051 35.0 101.4
67 18,287 0.420 7,983 35.0 124.1
68 19,514 0.448 8,773 35.0 129.2
69 18,490 0.424 7,924 35.0 106.3
70 18,754 0.431 7,897 35.0 110.6
71 18,080 0.415 5,595 35.0 128.6
72 18,036 0.414 6,786 35.0 132.7
73 18,024 0.414 6,890 35.0 131.8
74 18,025 0.414 6,941 35.0 132.3
75 42,757 0.982 18,551 35.0 121.7
76 21,069 0.484 6,717 35.0 135.5
77 18,093 0.415 6,074 35.0 141.0
78 25,233 0.579 9,787 35.0 139.7
79 41,547 0.954 18,190 35.0 122.8
80 26,617 0.611 9,796 35.0 168.2
81 20,360 0.467 6,411 35.0 145.4
82 29,613 0.680 15,647 35.0 113.0
83 25,125 0.577 12,068 35.0 113.4
84 26,319 0.604 12,626 35.0 118.6
85 26,156 0.600 9,833 35.0 153.8
86 30,005 0.689 10,916 35.0 220.6
87 70,434 1.617 38,506 50.0 328.5
88 117,223 2.691 81,787 50.0 317.3

INDIVIDUAL UNIT INFORMATION TABLE
UNIT     

NUMBER

TOTAL UNIT   
AREA         
(SFT)

TOTAL UNIT   
AREA        

(ACRES)

BUILDING 
ENVELOPE 

(SFT)

FRONT SETBACK 
DISTANCE    

(FEET) 

FRONT LOT WIDTH 
AT SETBACK LINE   

(FEET) 
1 40,777 0.936 17,031 40.0 252.5
2 31,535 0.724 10,849 50.0 129.0
3 23,726 0.545 10,240 50.0 117.2
4 30,168 0.693 14,615 50.0 90.0
5 26,272 0.603 10,244 50.0 90.0
6 22,516 0.517 9,330 50.0 990.0
7 27,432 0.630 13,077 50.0 90.0
8 21,912 0.503 8,613 50.0 106.3
9 23,533 0.540 7,021 40.0 195.0
10 26,160 0.601 12,345 50.0 99.3
11 27,360 0.628 13,081 50.0 107.2
12 27,230 0.625 11,562 50.0 126.5
13 27,319 0.627 9,919 50.0 100.5
14 23,975 0.550 10,385 50.0 90.0
15 23,287 0.535 9,473 50.0 90.0
16 22,526 0.517 9,973 50.0 90.0
17 40,616 0.932 17,708 50.0 101.6
18 27,813 0.638 7,286 50.0 90.0
19 26,632 0.611 11,676 50.0 90.0
20 25,015 0.574 10,645 50.0 90.0
21 23,045 0.529 6,792 50.0 90.0
22 21,987 0.505 5,346 50.0 91.7
23 21,782 0.500 6,674 50.0 108.6
24 21,785 0.500 6,951 50.0 112.5
25 21,792 0.500 6,652 50.0 110.4
26 22,284 0.512 5,829 50.0 111.4
27 36,638 0.841 10,801 40.0 116.5
28 31,974 0.734 8,633 40.0 254.0
29 26,247 0.603 9,385 40.0 163.1
30 23,176 0.532 8,858 50.0 144.3
31 30,875 0.709 14,265 50.0 167.4
32 22,254 0.511 6,296 50.0 100.0
33 23,485 0.539 8,536 50.0 100.0
34 21,786 0.500 6,333 50.0 100.0
35 21,841 0.501 5,241 50.0 140.0
36 22,592 0.519 6,859 40.0 139.6
37 23,990 0.551 7,909 50.0 167.9
38 22,105 0.507 9,079 50.0 111.9
39 26,122 0.600 10,367 50.0 133.9
40 25,130 0.577 9,952 50.0 131.5
41 23,562 0.541 7,975 50.0 122.0
42 27,499 0.631 9,278 40.0 234.2

INDIVIDUAL UNIT INFORMATION TABLE
UNIT     

NUMBER

TOTAL UNIT   
AREA         
(SFT)

TOTAL UNIT   
AREA        

(ACRES)

BUILDING 
ENVELOPE 

(SFT)

FRONT SETBACK 
DISTANCE    

(FEET) 

FRONT LOT WIDTH 
AT SETBACK LINE   

(FEET) 



















 

Richard K. Carlisle, President   Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President   John L. Enos, Principal 

David Scurto, Principal   Benjamin R. Carlisle, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal   Craig Strong, Principal   R. Donald Wortman, Principal 
Laura K. Kreps, Senior Associate   Paul Montagno, Senior Associate, Megan Masson-Minock, Senior Associate 

November 4, 2021 
 

Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development Review 

for 

Tyrone Township, Michigan 
 

PETITION INTRODUCTION 
 
Applicant: David McLane, AMAG LLC (agent) 

Owner: Lake Urban Crossings LLC 

Project Name: Lake Urban Crossings 

Plan Date: October 25, 2021 

Request: Review of Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
 
 

PETITION DESCRIPTION 

 
The applicant is requesting review and approval of a preliminary site plan/planned unit development for 
a residential site condominium in 2 phases.  The proposed project calls for 88 single-family houses on a 
site of roughly 158 acres. 
 
Residential planned unit developments may be approved as a special land use at this location.    Because 
the project calls for dividing the properties as a site condominium, site plan approval is also required. 
 
Review and approval takes places in two steps.   
 
The Planning Commission first reviews the preliminary planned unit development and preliminary site 
plan.  The focus of planned unit development review at this time is to determine compliance with criteria 
for planned unit developments, review the parallel plan, determine approved uses, and general approval 
of the design concept.   
 
The focus of reviewing the site plan at this time is to review issues raised in consultant reviews, 
recommend changes for the final site plan, and determine initial compliance with site plan review 
standards.   
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
2 

The Planning Commission provides recommendation to the Township Board, which makes the ultimate 
decision. 
 
Preliminary approval allows an applicant to submit a final planned unit development and site plan 
application.  It does not vest any rights for approval of final plans.   
 
Final approval may consider individual phases of a project or the whole project. 
 
Planned unit developments are an optional development tool intended to encourage innovative site plan 
designs that provide a recognizable benefit for the users of the development and the community that 
might not otherwise be possible using conventional zoning.  They allow the Township to modify 
developmental standards, such as setbacks or lot area.  Planned unit developments are not intended as a 
method for avoiding ordinance standards. 
 
For residential planned unit developments requesting more lots than would be allowed with a 
conventional development, a parallel plan showing how the property could be developed according to 
the zoning district consistent with the Future Land Use map must be provided.   
 
This parallel plan is reviewed by the Planning Commission to determine if it would be feasible, and it serves 
as the basis for number of lots allowed in the final planned unit development.  This project is requesting 
additional lots, so a parallel plan is required.  The most recent parallel plan, Sheet P-10, is dated October 
22, 2021.   
 
The purpose of this review is to provide guidance and feedback to the Planning Commission as part of its 
preliminary review.  It summarizes important decisions for the Planning Commission to make and provides 
some potential conditions for preliminary approval.   
 
 

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

 
Address: n/a, Runyan Lake Road, White Lake Road 

Location: 
North side of White Lake Road, east of Runyan Lake Road, south of Hills of 
Tyrone West 

Parcel Number: 04-03-300-001/020, 04-10-100-024/025, 04-10-200-025 

Lot Area: ~158 acres  

Frontage: 
~70 feet along Runyan Lake Road 

~1,835 along White Lake Road 

Existing Land Use: Undeveloped woodlands, wetlands, and water 

 
  



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
3 

Aerial of the Site 
 

 
 
 

ZONING 

 
The property is currently within the RE Rural Estate district.   
 
The parallel plan should be prepared based on the zoning districts that correspond with the Future Land 
Use Map.   
 
According to Table 11.1, the western portion of the site would be in either the R-1 Single Family Residential 
or R-2 Single Family Residential district.  The eastern portion of the property would be located within the 
RE Rural Estate district.  (The Township Board recently adopted a zoning text amendment to make the 
corresponding districts in Table 11.1 consistent with what is outlined in the Master Plan.) 
 
The intents of those districts are below. 
 

Zoning per Master 
Plan: 

western portion 

R-2 Single Family Residential 
The intent of the R-2 district is the same as in the R-1 district, except that the district is 
intended for areas served with public sewer and water, or locations adjacent to 
urbanizing centers in which public sewer and water is expected in the foreseeable 
future.  In order to preserve natural features and to provide design flexibility in the R-2 
District, cluster development shall be permitted as described in Article 8. 
 

Zoning per Master 
Plan: 

eastern portion 

RE Rural Estate 
The intent of the RE Rural Estate District is to provide a transitional area between the 
FR District and other more intense land utilization districts.  However, the RE District 
will generally maintain the same types of land uses permitted in the FR District.  The 
primary difference between the two districts is that the RE District permits the creation 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
4 

and use of smaller lots than the FR District.  In order to preserve natural features and 
to provide design flexibility in the FR and RE Districts, cluster development shall be 
permitted as described in Article 8. 

 
Current Zoning Map 
 

 
 

Comments:  For planned unit developments, the zoning district in which it is located becomes less 
important for developmental standards (lot area, setbacks, etc) because modified developmental 
standards could be approved for the project.   
 
This project calls for modified standards for lot size, setbacks, and lot coverages.  If approved, these 
modified developmental standards would become the standard for review/approval of future 
improvements within the project. 
 
The underlying zoning district could have an impact on potential uses within the development.  As a 
practical matter, however, most master deeds limit use to single-family residential uses. 
 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP  

 
The western portion of the site is located within the Medium Density Single Family Detached Residential 
area.  The eastern portion of the site is located within the Residential/Natural Resources Preservation 
area.   
 
The boundary between these two areas cuts through the property, running roughly north and south from 
an interior property corner.  At previous meetings, the Planning Commission said it was comfortable using 
the northern boundary of Urban Lake to demarcate the boundary, as it is common to use natural features 
as boundaries, and that practice has been used in other areas of the Future Land Use Map. 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
5 

Future Land Use Map 
western portion 

Medium Density Single Family Detached Residential 

This classification is intended to provide a transitional residential density between Low 
and High Density Residential.  Lots will generally range from 0.5 acre to 1.5 acres per 
dwelling unit.  This designation has been applied to land in and around existing 
residential subdivisions and near planned commercial areas.  Medium density 
development should be encouraged to locate near areas that already have the 
infrastructure and amenities to support it. 
  

Future Land Use Map 
eastern portion 

Residential/Natural Resource Preservation 

As noted on the Opportunities and Constraints Map, Tyrone possesses a wealth of 
significant natural resources and features.  These include woodlands, wetlands, 
natural water bodies, and areas with steep slopes and scenic vistas.  The Future Land 
Use Plan’s Residential/Natural Resource Preservation designation is located in areas 
that possess one or more of these significant natural features.  It is intended to allow 
residential development at the very low density of a minimum of 3 acres per dwelling 
unit.  Residential uses will be developed in a planned manner that preserves the 
attractive natural features of Tyrone Township. 

 
Future Land Use Map 
 

  
 
Comments:  The boundary between the Medium-density Single-Family Residential and Residential/Natural 
Resources Preservation areas cuts through the property.   
 
The boundary, as shown in the Future Land Use Map, is different from what was used to prepare the 
parallel plan.  The parallel plan instead uses a boundary that follows the northern shore of Lake Urban.  At 
an earlier meeting, the Planning Commission determined that the use of the natural feature as the 
boundary would be appropriate. 
 

  

Public/ 
Quasi-public 

Residential/ 
Natural Resources 

Preservation 

Medium-density 
Single-family 

Medium-density 
Single-family – 

Lake Side 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
6 

NATURAL RESOURCES 

 
Topography:   Due to the size of the property, there are a variety of topographies present. 
 
Waterbodies:   A significant portion of the site consists of Lake Urban.  Additionally, Denton Creek 

flows through the site, connecting Lake Urban and Runyan Lake. 
 
Wetlands:   There are significant wetland areas within the site that are adjacent and connected 

to Denton Creek and Lake Urban. 
 
Woodland:   A significant portion of the site that is not a waterbody is currently woodlands.   
 
Soils:   The site has a variety of soils, ranging from loamy sands to clay loam to muck. 
 
Comments:  Both the parallel plan and proposed planned unit development plan require some filling of 
identified wetland areas.  Because the wetlands on the site are considered state-regulated wetlands, filling 
would require issuance of permits from the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and 
Energy. 
 
Soils on some lots may require greater engineering for construction of structures, such as helical piers.  
Review of construction details is typically done during zoning/building permit review. 
 
 

AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, & SETBACKS 

 
Residential developments must be planned to meet the developmental standards for the zoning district 
in which it is located.   
 
For planned unit developments, however, an applicant can propose modifications from developmental 
standards.  If approved, those modified developmental standards would become the developmental 
standards for the project 
 
The standards for the current zoning district, the zoning districts corresponding with the Future Land Use 
Map, and the proposed standards for the planned unit development are outlined below.   
 
  



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
7 

Developmental Standards 
 

 
RE Rural 

Estate 
current 

R-2 Single Family 
western portion 
per Master Plan 

RE Rural Estate 
eastern portion 
per Master Plan 

Proposed 
PUD 

Complies 

Lot Area (min) 1.75 acres 21,780 sf 1.75 acres 

21,870 sf 
(phase 1) 
18,000 sf 
(phase 2) 

Yes 

Parallel Plan ->  21,794 sf 1.75 acres  Yes 

Lot Width (min) 200 feet 110 feet 200 feet 90 feet Yes 

Parallel Plan ->  110 feet 200 feet  Yes 

Lot Coverage 
(max) 

25 percent 30 percent 25 percent 35 percent Likely 

Setbacks      

Front  100 feet 50 feet  50/100 feet 35/50 feet Yes 

Parallel Plan ->  50 feet 50/100 feet  Yes 

Side 20 feet 15 feet 20 feet 15 feet Yes 

Parallel Plan ->  15 feet 20 feet  Yes 

Rear 75 feet 35 feet 75 feet 35 feet Yes 

Parallel Plan ->  35 feet 75 feet  Yes 

Natural Features 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet Yes 

Parallel Plan ->  50 feet 50 feet  Yes 

 
Comments:  The proposed lots in the parallel appear to meet, or could with some minor adjustments, the 
developmental standards for the R-2 Single Family Residential district in the northwestern portion of the 
site and the RE Rural Estate district in the southeastern portion of the site.  
 
The proposed lots in the planned unit development appear to be consistent with the proposed 
developmental standards for the planned unit development.  Lot coverage on individual lots would be 
reviewed as part of zoning permit review. 
 
 

ACCESS & CIRCULATION 

 
The parallel plan shows 1 access point from Runyan Lake Road to the west for the western/northern 
portion of the development and 1 access point from White Lake Road to the south for the 
eastern/southern portion of the development.  Additionally, 2 lots would have direct access from White 
Lake Road. 
 
The proposed planned unit development would have access from Runyan Lake Road to the west and from 
White Lake Road from the south.  The Runyan Lake Road access will serve the northern/western portion 
with 42 lots.  The White Lake access will serve the southern/eastern portion with 44 lots.  Two lots will 
have direct access from White Lake Road with a shared driveway. 
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
8 

As noted in §11.02(E) Access, planned unit developments “shall be located so that it can be accessed from 
a paved County primary road able to safely serve the proposed development without adverse impact on 
the community.”   
 
While it has been offered that the above standard requires planned unit developments to only have direct 
access from a paved county primary road, the plain language used here and the language used in other 
sections of the Zoning Ordinance offer different guidance.   
 
The definition section states that “shall” is always mandatory and not discretionary.  “Can” is not defined 
in the ordinance, but its common meaning is “to be able to” or “to be permitted to.”  Based on the plain 
language, a planned unit development must be located so it is able to have access from a paved county 
road. 
 
Developmental standards for other uses provide different guidance.  For example, cemeteries and open 
storage yard must have “direct access” to certain types of roads.  Churches, colleges, golf courses, and 
contractors limited storage have some variation of “all access shall be directly to” certain types of roads. 
 
It is our interpretation that the location of the proposed planned unit development is consistent with the 
access standard, as it is written in the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
The access point for each phase has a boulevard or partial boulevard and will provide access to more than 
30 but less than 50 dwelling units.  In general, private roads with a single point of access are limited to 30 
dwelling units.  Boulevard entrances have previously been considered as providing multiple access points.  
Additionally, planned unit developments may have up to 50 dwelling units with a single access point. 
 
Based on the number of proposed units and likely trip generation, a traffic impact statement, as described 
in Table 23.1 Requirements for Various Types of Traffic Impact Studies, will be required as part of final 
approval.  Some basic information has been provided by the applicant by email.   
 
The site plan calls for the internal roads to be public roads, dedicated to the Livingston County Road 
Commission.  It appears that the proposed internal roads are generally consistent with the design 
standards, but we defer further comment to the Township Engineer. 
 
Items to be Addressed:  1) We recommend the cul-de-sacs should be reconfigured so the center area is 
landscaped rather than paved.  2) The eastern end of Valencia will likely need to be reconfigured to provide 
a large-vehicle turnaround.  3) Before final site plan application, the applicant should secure the necessary 
permits from the Livingston County Road Commission.  4) Approval of the access and circulation by the 
Township Engineer and Fire Inspector. 
 
 

ESSENTIAL SERVICES 

 
The proposed planned unit development will be served by public sanitary sewer.   
 
Except where otherwise noted, the utilities will generally be buried within the street rights-of-way.  
Potential locations for above ground utility boxes are not shown at this time. 
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
9 

It is our understanding that the site has enough sewer taps available and that there would be adequate 
capacity to provide sewer service for the proposed number of lots. 
 
The preliminary plan shows the approximate location of stormwater management improvements.  In 
general, stormwater will be pretreated in a detention basin or other structure to remove sediment and 
pollutants and to mange flow rate before discharge into onsite wetlands. 
 
Items to be Addressed:  1) The applicant should provide confirmation of capacity as part of final site plan 
submission.  2) The applicant should provide information about required permits from Livingston County 
and the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy at final site plan submission.  3) 
Calculations and details for stormwater management should be included in the final site plan.  4) The 
applicant should consult with the Post Master to determine if shared mailboxes will be required and include 
locations and details in the final site plan. 
 

 

LANDSCAPING & SCREENING 

 
A landscaping plan is included on Sheet P-6. 
 
It calls for planting 4 species of trees, including Austrian pine, blue spruce, American sweetgum, and black 
maple.  Roughly 34 trees will be planted along White Lake Road, 43 trees along the northern lot line of 
the northern/western portion, and 16 along adjacent residential properties to the southwest. 
 
We recommend that the applicant consider some changes to or additions to the proposed species, which 
could be included in the final site plan.  Blue spruce are susceptible to disease.  Other trees may be better 
suited for areas with wet soils, such as Douglas fir, balsam fir, and red maple. 
 
Calculations used to determine the number of trees and description of location for specific trees are not 
included at this time, but preliminary site plan is intended to review if there is space available for 
landscaping with details tended to at final site plan. 
 
The location of some of the proposed trees may have to be adjusted to accommodate clear-vision areas 
at the intersections and the shared private driveway for lots 87 and 88.  
 
Items to be Addressed:  1) Applicant should consider changes or additions to proposed tree species.  2)  
Calculations, number of each specie, and identification of trees should be added to the final site plan.  3)  
Clear-vision areas, as defined in §21.39 of the Zoning Ordinance, should be added to the final site plan.   
 

 

LIGHTING 

 
The site plan does not appear to show the location of or any details of any proposed outdoor lighting. 
 
The Township may require street lighting for planned unit developments.  At an earlier meeting, the 
applicant has stated they would be willing to install street lights and the location for street lights are 
shown on Sheet P-2. 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
10 

Items to be Addressed:  1) The Planning Commission should determine if street lights will be required.  2)  
The location and details of existing and proposed outdoor lighting should be added to the final site plan, 
or a note should be added that there will be no exterior lighting. 
 
 

OUTDOOR ADVERTISING & SIGNS 

 
The preliminary site plan does not indicate whether or not there will be any signs near the entrances at 
Runyan Lake or White Lake Road. 
 
Items to be Addressed:  The location and details of any signs should be added to the final site plan, or the 
applicant should confirm that no signs will be added. 
 
 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
§11.02 General Requirements provides minimum standards that all planned unit developments must 
comply with.  Below is a review of those general requirements.  In some cases, the requirement may have 
its own section of this report. 
 
A. Location.  A PUD may be approved at any location in the Township as a special use as specified in 

Table 11.1 and further subject to review and approval as provided herein. 
 

Comments:  The proposed planned unit development is a special land use at the proposed location. 
 

B. Ownership.  At the time of Preliminary PUD approval, the proposed development shall be under single 
ownership or control such that there is a single person or entity having responsibility for the 
development of the project. This provision shall not prohibit a transfer of ownership or control of 
separate parcels or phases following approval of the Preliminary PUD, however all phases and parcels 
shall continue to be subject to the approved Preliminary PUD plan and all of its terms and conditions.  

 
Comments:  It is our understanding that the proposed planned unit development is under single ownership 
or control at this time.   
 
C. Minimum Area.  The minimum area required for a PUD shall not be less than 20 contiguous acres of 

land…  
 
Comments:  The properties that are a part of the proposed planned unit development are significantly 
greater than 20 acres and are all contiguous. 
 
D. Utilities.  The PUD shall be located at a site that is able to provide adequate water and wastewater 

disposal service to the proposed development without adversely impacting the community and 
surrounding neighbors. 

 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
11 

Comments:  If lots within the proposed project would be served by individual wells, Livingston County 
Health Department would require several test wells on the site (tests are typically done between 
preliminary and final site plans) and would require permits for each individual well.   
 
The project will be served by a public sanitary sewer system. 
 
E. Access.  The PUD shall be located so that it can be accessed from a paved, County primary road able 

to safely serve the proposed development without adverse impact on the community.  
 
Comments:  As noted in the “Access and Circulation” section of this report, it is our interpretation that the 
location of the proposed planned unit development is consistent with the access standard, as it is written 
in the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
The proposed planned unit development would have access for 42 units from White Lake Road, less than 
the 52 units that would have access in the parallel plan, which is likely to reduce any adverse impacts on 
the use of that road. 
 
A traffic impact statement, required as part of final site plan review, will provide more details about 
anticipated trip generation and distribution.  The Planning Commission could also require a traffic impact 
study as part of preliminary review if it determines such a study is essential for review of the planned unit 
development at this phase. 
 
F. Uses.  The following uses may be permitted in PUDs… 
 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development will only have single-family residential uses, which is 
a permitted use in the current zoning district and the zoning districts consistent with the Future Land Use 
Map. 
 
G. Residential Density / Parallel Plan.  To assist the Planning Commission in determining the number of 

lots, units, or square footage permitted in a residential PUD or the residential component of a PUD, 
the applicant shall submit a parallel plan (see also Sections 11.04.B and 11.06.A.4) for the 
development.  The parallel plan shall comply with the requirements for a site plan in Section 23.02, 
and shall show how the site could be reasonably developed in compliance with adopted zoning and 
subdivision ordinances and standards.  The parallel plan should be drawn to contain the maximum 
number of lots or dwelling units allowable and reasonable per the dimensional and other Ordinance 
standards and practical engineering limitations that would apply to the site if zoned in accordance 
with the site’s future land use designation (see Table 11.1).  The Planning Commission shall review 
the parallel plan and determine the number of lots or dwelling units that could be constructed (based 
on adopted ordinances and standards, site conditions, engineering, cost and similar factors).  For 
example, parallel plans showing lots with dwellings on extremely steep slopes, in bodies of water, or 
in a right-of-way will have these lots rejected, as they are not reasonable and do not meet ordinance 
requirements.  This number, as recommended by the Planning Commission and approved by the 
Township Board, will be the base number of dwelling units allowable for the residential PUD.  Any 
density bonus (see Section 11.02.H) granted by the Township Board will be applied to this base 
number.  For residential PUDs which do not request a density bonus, the parallel plan requirement 
may be waived, subject to the determination of the Planning Commission. 

 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
12 

Comments:  The proposed planned unit development is requesting a residential density bonus, so a parallel 
plan is required.   
 
The proposed lots in the parallel plan appear to meet, or could meet with minor adjustments, the 
developmental standards for lots within the corresponding zoning districts.  The parallel plan shows 
building envelopes with attached garage that are larger than the minimum required square footage for 
dwellings. 
 
H. Residential Density Bonus.  The number of units permitted in a residential PUD or the residential 

component of a PUD, as determined from the parallel plan may be increased at the discretion of the 
Planning Commission and the Township Board, in accordance with the following:   
1. Each element listed in Section 11.02.H.2 below, is worth an additional, incremental bonus.  The 

bonus for each element may range from 0% to 5% of the units identified on the parallel plan.  The 
specific amount of the bonus shall depend on the degree to which the PUD has addressed that 
element and the impact the element has in contributing to the objectives sought to be achieved 
by the PUD.  The maximum density increase any development may receive shall be 15% of the 
residential units identified on the parallel plan. 

2. For those residential PUDs eligible to receive a density bonus, the proposed development is 
required to meet or exceed one or more of the requirements of this section of the Ordinance. 
a.  Providing clustered development where a minimum of fifty percent (50%) of the gross land 

area of the development is protected open space. 
b.  Inclusion of a variety of building types, quality architecture, durable materials and superior 

site design. 
c.  Providing frontage transition areas along all public roads that are at least one hundred fifty 

(150) feet in depth with suitable landscaping. 
d.  Providing public amenities such as trails for non-motorized use, children’s playgrounds, picnic 

facilities, or community centers. 
e.  Providing paths, trails, greenways, or other pedestrian and nonmotorized transportation 

facilities, accessible to the public, and connected to or creating a network of trails throughout 
the community. 

f.  Cleanup of site contamination. 
g.  On-site storm water management that relies upon natural systems to the greatest extent 

possible and preserves the quality and integrity of such systems. 
h.  Other similar elements as determined by the Planning Commission. 

 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development is requesting a residential density bonus, so a parallel 
plan is required.   
 
Based on comments from the applicant, it is our understanding that they are requesting additional lots for 
items b (superior architecture/design), d (non-motorized trails), and g (stormwater management with 
natural features).   
 
The Planning Commission should determine if it believes the elements are satisfied and, if so, what 
incremental bonus from 0% to 5% the planned unit development qualifies for. 
 
I. Development Standards and Flexibility.  The purpose of this Section is to ensure that PUDs are 

compatible with adjacent properties and the Township.  All development standards of this Ordinance 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
13 

and the requirements of the zoning district corresponding to the site’s future land use designation 
(see Table 11.1) shall be followed in the design of PUDs.  However, modifications to any of these 
standards may be approved as part of a Preliminary PUD plan provided that such modifications are 
determined by the Township Board to be consistent with the purpose and intent of this Article, are 
consistent with sound planning and design, are necessary for the preservation of significant features 
or open space on the site, or are otherwise necessary to result in a higher quality design. 

 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development is proposing modification of several district 
standards, as noted in the table below.   
 
Current and Proposed Developmental Standards 

 

 
RE Rural 

Estate 
current 

R-2 Single Family 
western portion 
per Master Plan 

RE Rural Estate 
eastern portion 
per Master Plan 

Proposed 

PUD 

Standards 

Lot Area (min) 1.75 acres 21,780 sf 1.75 acres 

21,870 sf 
(phase 1) 
18,000 sf 
(phase 2) 

Lot Width (min) 200 feet 110 feet 200 feet 90 feet 

Lot Coverage 
(max) 

25 percent 30 percent 25 percent 35 percent 

Front  100 feet 50 feet  50/100 feet 35/50 feet 

Side 20 feet 15 feet 20 feet 15 feet 

Rear 75 feet 35 feet 75 feet 35 feet 

 
The proposed modification of minimum lot area and width would allow for more area to be included within 
open space.  Including wetland areas within common open space areas tends to provide greater protection 
than if wetland areas are within individual lots.  The associated modifications to setbacks and lot coverage 
are likely necessary to develop lots with typical dwellings on the proposed lots. 
 
A table should be added to the preliminary plan listing the proposed developmental modifications 
requested as part of the planned unit development, the specific section of the Zoning Ordinance, and the 
reasons and mechanisms used to protect the public health, safety, and welfare in place of the original 
standards. 
 
J. Phasing.  Where a project is proposed for construction in phases, the project shall be so designed that 

each phase, when completed, shall be capable of standing on its own in terms of services and facilities, 
and shall contain the necessary components to ensure protection of natural resources and the health, 
safety, and welfare of the users of the planned unit development and residents of the community.  A 
phase shall not be substantially dependent upon subsequent phases for safe and convenient vehicular 
and pedestrian access. 
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
14 

Comments:  As noted in Phasing Schedule and Timeline on Sheet P-1, the project is proposed for 
construction in 2 phases.  Phase 1 would include lots 1-42 and would begin in spring 2022.  Phase 2 would 
begin in spring 2024. 
 
Each phase is generally able to stand on its own.  Some utility improvements to support Phase 2 are located 
within the boundaries of Phase 1 and should be completed while those improvements are being made. 
 
Walking trails within the open spaces of Phase 2 should be completed as part of Phase 1 or a performance 
guarantee adequate to cover costs of construction should be provided to the Township.   
 
K. Open Space.  1. Residential.  PUDs containing a residential component shall provide and maintain 

open space at a minimum of 30 percent of the total land area of the portion of the site that is 
designated for residential use.  However, the Planning Commission may recommend, and the 
Township Board may approve, modifications of the 30 percent requirement if it finds that the site 
characteristics, surrounding natural features, and proposed design features and uses lend themselves 
to different open space area requirements.  For residential uses, open space shall conform to the 
requirements of Section 21.51 of this Ordinance, however up to 50% of the area of storm water basins 
which utilize best management practices to provide for an aesthetic site amenity may be considered 
to be open space, at the discretion of the Planning Commission and Township Board based on review 
of the specific solution. 

 
Comments:  Unfortunately, the Zoning Ordinance does not define “total land area.”  The calculations 
provided by the applicant for 156.54 acres is consistent with the definition for net lot area, excluding rights-
of-way.  Without further guidance from the Zoning Ordinance, this number appears appropriate to use, 
provided that rights-of-way for the adjacent public streets are excluded and the rights-of-way for the 
internal, proposed streets are included. 
 
A minimum of 30% of the total land area must be provided as open space, which would be 46.96 acres.  A 
maximum of 25% (11.74 acres) can come from submerged lands.  A maximum of 35% (16.43 acres) can 
come from wetlands.  The rest of the open space would need to be upland. 
 
The calculations on Sheet P-5 states the open space would include 49.34 acres of submerged land/open 
water, 24.95 acres of state-regulated wetland, and 15.44 acres of upland.  Based on the limitations above, 
the submerged lands and wetlands would be allowed to contribute a maximum of 28.17 acres.  With the 
upland, a total of 43.61 acres of open space would be provided, according to the Zoning Ordinance, roughly 
3.35 acres short of the required open space.  (The calculations on Sheet P-5 incorrectly limit upland to 40% 
of the required open space, but there is no limit on upland contribution.) 
 
It is not clear if the calculations for open space include storm water basins.  This should be noted on the 
site plan. 
 
The Township may approve for non-contiguous open space, as outlined in §11.02(K)(3)f.  The non-
contiguous space would have to be located within Tyrone Township and would have to be protected in 
perpetuity with a recorded instrument.  We are unaware if the applicant has investigated securing open 
space outside of the proposed planned unit development. 
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
15 

The Township may modify the 30% open space area requirement if it finds that the site characteristics, 
surrounding natural features, and proposed design features lend themselves to different open space 
requirements.   
 
We recommend the applicant examine securing non-contiguous open space before the Township consider 
reducing the open space area requirement. 
 
L. Emergency Access.  The configuration of buildings, driveways, and other improvements shall permit 

convenient and direct emergency vehicle access.  A PUD in excess of 50 dwelling units and/or 500 
average daily vehicle trips shall, at the discretion of the Township Board, provide at a minimum of two 
points of ingress and egress. 

 
Comments:  The proposed road system would allow direct access to all of the proposed lots.  Sheet P-8 
shows fire apparatus access through most of the site.  It is likely that a turnaround will be required at the 
eastern end of Valencia. 
 
Lots 87 and 88 will have direct access from White Lake through a shared private driveway. 
 
The planned unit development will have more than 50 dwelling units, but no access point will provide 
access for more than 50 dwelling units.  Additionally, the access points for the roads serving each phase 
will have a full or partial boulevard segment. 
 
We defer further comment to the Township Engineer and Fire Inspector. 
 
M. Site Circulation.  The vehicular and pedestrian circulation system within each development shall 

accommodate, where appropriate, the movement of vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrians throughout 
the proposed development and to and from surrounding areas in a safe and convenient manner.  
Sidewalks and streets shall be connected into the overall Township network and shall be extended to 
adjacent undeveloped properties to provide future connections.  Any improvements, if necessary, 
shall be at the applicant’s expense.  Private roads shall comply with the standards in Article 24.  PUDs 
must also satisfy the Access Management Standards in Section 21.54.  

 
Comments:  The planned unit development would include a vehicular access system to provide primary 
access to most of the lots.  It appears that the proposed geometry, except as noted otherwise, appears to 
be consistent with the applicable standards and would allow access by fire apparatus (and school buses 
and garbage trucks).  The proposed road system is not designed to connect with adjacent properties, but 
most of the adjacent properties are already developed or connections would be limited due to wetlands or 
water. 
 
The planned unit development would include a separate pedestrian circulation system, with sidewalks 
along the proposed streets and a variety of pathways to and within open space.  There is also a proposed 
pedestrian connection spanning the river that divides the 2 phases. 
 
N. Streets.  All public and private streets within a PUD shall comply with the applicable standards of the 

Livingston County Road Commission and Tyrone Township.  
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
16 

Comments:  It appears that the proposed streets within the planned unit development would comply with 
the applicable standards.  We note that a large vehicle turnaround of some type is likely necessary for the 
eastern end of Valencia.   
 
We defer further comment to the Township Engineer and the Livingston County Road Commission. 
 
O. Infrastructure Improvements.  All infrastructure improvements, including roads, water, wastewater, 

storm water drainage, street lights, and street signage, within and adjacent to the PUD and necessary 
to serve the site, shall be provided by the developer as a part of the development of the site.  All such 
infrastructure shall be subject to the approval and meet the requirements of the Fire Department and 
all other agencies with authority.  

 
Comments:  Details and approvals for the various responsible agencies above are typically obtained 
following preliminary approval.  Any final approval should be conditioned on receiving those approvals 
and providing a performance guarantee to ensure installation of any infrastructure improvements. 
 
P. Availability and Capacity of Public Services.  The proposed type and intensity of use shall not exceed 

the existing or planned capacity of existing public services and facilities, including police and fire 
protection, traffic capacity of the public roads, drainage and storm water management facilities, and 
capacity of existing or planned water and sanitary sewer facilities.  The expansion or provision of 
public services shall not create an unreasonable burden on the Township.  Approval of the appropriate 
County agencies, other agencies with authority, Fire Department and the Township Engineer shall be 
required for all facilities necessary for the development.  

 
Comments:  It is our understanding that the proposed single-family residential use and proposed number 
of units would not exceed the existing or planned capacity for public services.  Addition information about 
traffic would be required as part of final site plan approval. 
 
We defer further comment to the applicable agencies. 
 
Q. Utilities.  All utilities except electrical transmission lines constructed or relocated within the site, 

including: electrical service lines, appurtenances and accessories, shall be placed underground.  Any 
utility pad or transformer, where required to be placed above ground because of size or function, shall 
be fully screened or obscured by mature landscaping and/or a decorative masonry wall, or may be 
fully enclosed in a dedicated building constructed consistent with these regulations.  

 
Comments:  The planned unit development calls for burying utilities throughout the project.  Specific 
locations and easements are typically described as part of final site plan review.  It appears that there is 
adequate space for utilities within the proposed rights-of-way and existing easements. 
 
R. Landscaping.  Landscaping, screening and buffering shall be required.  A landscaping plan shall be 

submitted with both the Preliminary and Final PUD plans consistent with the requirements in Article 
21A.  

 
Comments:  A landscaping plan has been submitted as Sheet P-6.  It shows the rough location of proposed 
plantings and the types of trees to be planted.   
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
17 

The applicant should consider changes or additions to proposed tree species.  Calculations, number of each 
specie, and identification of trees should be added to the final site plan.  Clear-vision areas, as defined in 
§21.39 of the Zoning Ordinance, should be added to the final site plan 
 
The plan generally demonstrates that it is possible to provide landscaping 
 
S. Parking and Loading.  Parking and loading facilities in a PUD shall comply with the standards in Article 

25.  However, the numerical requirements for parking may be modified, based on evidence that other 
standards would be more reasonable because of the level of current or future employment, the level 
of current or future customer traffic, shared parking by uses that have peak parking demands that do 
not overlap, and other considerations.  A decision to reduce the number of parking spaces shall be 
based on technical information provided by a qualified planning, parking or traffic consultant, that 
verifies that the reduction will not impair the functioning of the developments served, or have an 
adverse impact on traffic flow on or adjacent to the development. 

 
Comments:  Parking for the proposed single-family houses would be provided on each lot, on the driveways 
or within the garages. 
 
T. Conditions of Construction.  The hours of construction activity shall be stated on the PUD plan and 

shall be determined based on the scale and schedule of construction, and proximity to and type of 
adjacent developments.  Noise, dust, odors, traffic and other impacts of construction of the PUD shall 
be limited so as to not create negative impacts for the Township or surrounding area.  The applicant 
shall present a plan for review that includes specific measures to ensure that construction operations 
do not create nuisance conditions.  The Township Board may place reasonable limitations on hours 
and other construction activities to prevent potential negative impacts. 

 
Comments:  Hours of construction and nuisance mitigation measures should be added to the final site 
plan. 
 
 

PARALLEL PLAN REVIEW 

 
The Parallel Plan review process, noted below, is outlined in §11.02(G) Residential Density/Parallel Plan. 
 

To assist the Planning Commission in determining the number of lots, units, or square footage 
permitted in a residential PUD or the residential component of a PUD, the applicant shall submit 
a parallel plan (see also Sections 11.04.B and 11.06.A.4) for the development.  The parallel plan 
shall comply with the requirements for a site plan in Section 23.02, and shall show how the site 
could be reasonably developed in compliance with adopted zoning and subdivision ordinances 
and standards.  The parallel plan should be drawn to contain the maximum number of lots or 
dwelling units allowable and reasonable per the dimensional and other Ordinance standards and 
practical engineering limitations that would apply to the site if zoned in accordance with the site’s 
future land use designation (see Table 11.1).  
 
The Planning Commission shall review the parallel plan and determine the number of lots or 
dwelling units that could be constructed (based on adopted ordinances and standards, site 
conditions, engineering, cost and similar factors).  For example, parallel plans showing lots with 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
18 

dwellings on extremely steep slopes, in bodies of water, or in a right-of-way will have these lots 
rejected, as they are not reasonable and do not meet ordinance requirements.  This number, as 
recommended by the Planning Commission and approved by the Township Board, will be the base 
number of dwelling units allowable for the residential PUD.  Any density bonus (see Section 
11.02.H) granted by the Township Board will be applied to this base number.  For residential PUDs 
which do not request a density bonus, the parallel plan requirement may be waived, subject to 
the determination of the Planning Commission. 

 
Comments:  The proposed residential planned unit development would include additional lots, so review 
and approval of a parallel plan is required.  A parallel plan, dated October 22, 2021, is included as Sheet P-
10. 
 
The parallel plan shows lots that could be developed using the standards for the zoning districts that are 
consistent with the Future Land Use Map. 
 
This parallel plan includes building footprints, showing the potential location for houses on each of the 
lots.   
 
The lots appear to be generally feasible or could be feasible with minor adjustments; none of the lots call 
for dwellings on extremely steep slopes, in bodies of water, or within rights-of-way.  
 
 It appears that all of the lots would meet the lot area and width standards.  The proposed house locations 
appear to meet the setback standards, and it appears that the lot coverage standards would be met. 
 
 

APPLICABLE DECISION CRITERIA 
 
The proposed planned unit development requires site plan, special land use, and planned unit 
development review.  The decision criteria for those approvals are examined below. 
 
Standards for site plan review are outlined in §23.03 Standards for Site Plan Review, and a description of 
information that must be included in a site plan is outlined in §23.02 Site Plan Information.  Comments 
addressing these standards are included throughout this report and below. 
 
A. Required Information.  That all required information has been provided. 
 
Comments:  The site plan is generally complete for preliminary review, except as otherwise noted, or may 
be eligible for waivers.  At this time the applicant has submitted elements of but not a completed impact 
statement, as outlined in §23.04 Requirements for Impact Statement.  At this time, the applicant has 
submitted elements of but not a complete traffic impact statement, as outlined in §23.05 Traffic Impact. 
 
The plans are drawn at a scale of 1” = 150’.  Any scale greater than 1” = 100’ requires Planning Commission 
waiver upon determination that the requirement is clearly unnecessary for substantial review. 
 
B. Zoning District Conformity.  That the proposed development conforms to all regulations of the zoning 

district in which it is located. 
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
19 

Comments:  The proposed planned unit development appears to conform with the regulations for the RE 
Rural Estate district or with modifications proposed as part of the planned unit development. 
 
C. Legal Applicant.  That the applicant may legally apply for site plan review, including authorization from 

the owner. 
 
Comments:  To the best of our knowledge, the applicant is legally authorized to apply for site plan review. 
 
D. Infrastructure.  That the plan meets the specifications of Tyrone Township for fire and police 

protection, water supply, sewage disposal or treatment, storm drainage, and other public facilities 
and services, and has been approved by the Township’s designated Fire Marshal and/or professional 
consultants where appropriate. 

 
Comments:  It is our understanding that full review by the listed agencies has not been completed at this 
time.  Typically, these reviews are completed between preliminary and final review or as a condition of 
final approval. 
 
E. Suitable Soils.  That soils not suited to development will be protected or altered in an acceptable 

manner. 
 
Comments:  The soils that are less suitable for development are generally located within open spaces and 
will not be developed. 
 
F. Soil Erosion.  That the proposed development will not cause soil erosion or sedimentation problems. 
 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development does not appear likely to cause soil erosion or 
sedimentation problems following construction.  During construction, soil erosion and sedimentation 
control measures will be required to prevent erosion and sedimentation. 
 
G. Floodplains.  That the proposed development properly respects floodways and/or floodplains on or 

in the vicinity of the subject property. 
 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development is not located within a floodway or floodplain.  
However, the open water will be located within open space with limited development in the immediate 
vicinity. 
 
H. Drainage.  That the drainage plan for the proposed development is adequate to handle anticipated 

storm water runoff and will not cause runoff onto neighboring property or overloading of water 
courses in the area. 

 
Comments:  The preliminary site plan shows the location for some stormwater management 
improvements, including swales and detention basins.  Calculations for sizing of these improvements is 
typically included as part of final site plan review.  The stormwater will eventually be discharged into 
wetland areas and then flow downstream.  Typically, discharge permits require stormwater management 
to discharge at the same rate as before the property was developed. 
 
We defer additional comment to the Township Engineer. 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
20 

I. Coordinated Improvements.  That the proposed development is coordinated with improvements 
serving the subject property and with the other development in the general vicinity. 

 
Comments:  We are not aware of any improvements in the general vicinity that would require coordination 
with the proposed planned unit development. 
 
J. Site Lighting.  That outside lighting will not adversely affect adjacent or neighboring properties or 

traffic on adjacent streets (see Section 21.37) and that adequate lighting will be provided as 
determined appropriate by the Planning Commission upon the advice of the Township expert to 
protect the public health, safety and welfare. 

 
Comments:  The preliminary site plan includes interior street lighting.  Specific details of the lighting and 
a photometric plan have not been provided at this time.  The proposed locations are not likely to cause 
significant negative impact on adjacent properties or streets, as they will be screened by structures and 
landscaping.  Additional information should be provided as part of final site plan review. 
 
K. Garbage and Refuse.  That outdoor storage of garbage and refuse is contained, screened from view, 

and located so as not to be a nuisance to the subject property or neighboring properties. 
 
Comments:  It is our understanding that garbage would be stored and collected using individual bins, 
typical for residential developments. 
 
L. Grading or Filling.  That grading or filling will not destroy the character of the property or the 

surrounding area and will not adversely affect the adjacent or neighboring properties. 
 
Comments:  The preliminary plan for the proposed planned unit development shows the limits of disturbed 
areas on Sheet P-7.  This area will include some grading and filling adjacent to neighboring properties, but 
it is not clear that the proposed work would create a negative impact. 
 
We defer further comment to the Township Engineer. 
 
M. Traffic.  That vehicular and pedestrian traffic within the site as well as to and from the site is both 

convenient and safe and includes berms, barriers, and sidewalks necessary to protect adjacent 
property from vehicle lights. 

 
Comments:  The applicant has not provided a complete traffic impact statement at this time, but the 
proposed planned unit development is likely to provide a better distribution of traffic than a conventional 
development.  Internally, the site provides streets and vehicular circulation that appears to be convenient 
and safe.  Because adjacent dwellings are not currently shown on the preliminary site plan, it is difficult to 
determine if any additional screening might be necessary to protect them from vehicle lights. 
 
We defer further comment to the Township Engineer and Livingston County Road Commission. 
 
N. Parking.  That parking layout will not adversely affect the flow of traffic within the site or to and from 

the adjacent streets and adjacent properties. 
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
21 

Comments:  The proposed planned unit development does not include any parking areas, beyond 
residential driveways. 
 
O. Governmental Agencies.  That the plan meets the standards of other government agencies, where 

applicable, and that the approval of these agencies has been obtained or is assured. 
 
Comments:  The applicant has provided a review from the Livingston County Road Commission.  We are 
not aware of other reviews or approvals from other agencies.  Typically, these reviews are completed 
between preliminary and final review or as a condition of final approval. 
 
P. Public Streets.  That the plan provides for the proper expansion of existing public streets serving the 

site, where applicable. 
 
Comments:  We are unaware of requirements for expansion of existing public streets and defer further 
comment to the Livingston County Road Commission.  
 
Q. Phased Development.  That all phased developments are ordered in a logical sequence so that any 

individual phase will not depend in any way upon a subsequent phase for adequate access, public 
utility services, drainage or erosion control. 

 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development will take place in 2 phases.  Phase 1 does not appear 
to require any improvements from Phase 2 in order to function; there are some improvements to open 
space that are shown in Phase 2 that should be completed as part of Phase 1 or a performance guarantee 
should be provided. 
 
R. Landscaping.  The Planning Commission and/or Township Board may further require landscaping, 

fences and walls in pursuance of these objectives and shall be provided and maintained in accord with 
any use to which they are appurtenant. 

 
Comments:  The preliminary site plan shows potential landscaping that appears to be generally consistent 
with the Zoning Ordinance standards.  Notes for improvements to the landscaping are included in the 
“Landscaping & Screening” section of this report. 
 
S. Screening.  The Planning Commission shall have some latitude in specifying the walls, fences, 

greenbelts as they apply to a phased development if the particular phase of development and 
construction work is far enough removed from adjacent properties to afford the screening, etc., as 
otherwise required. 

 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit includes screening along White Lake Road and along adjacent 
residential properties where lots are proposed.   The Planning Commission should provide guidance to the 
applicant if alternative screening is desired. 
 
T. Sound Planning.  The proposed site plan must be in accord with the spirit and purpose of this 

ordinance and not be inconsistent with or contrary to the objectives sought to be accomplished by 
this ordinance and principles of sound planning. 

 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
22 

Comments:  The proposed planned unit development is located on a challenging property.    It appears to 
preserve greater natural areas than a conventional development would and provides greater pedestrian 
circulation than a typical development.  It would provide a better distribution of traffic between the 
adjacent streets and would support connection with a sanitary sewer system.  Ideally, it would include 
vehicular and pedestrian connections with adjacent properties and developments and a greater variety of 
housing options, but the surrounding properties are already developed and the Zoning Ordinance does not 
require a mix of housing options. 
 
U. Developmental Impacts.  Plans shall provide sufficient information, text, detail and/or other 

assurances necessary to satisfy the Planning Commission and Township Board that areas required to 
be protected from the impacts of the development (such as topsoil, trees, and other natural features) 
have been properly designated on the plans, and that these areas have been properly protected, in 
accordance with Section 21.A.8 before commencement of any building, operations, or development. 

 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development includes areas that would be preserved in their 
natural state or with little disturbance.  Sheet P-7 shows the limits of disturbed areas. 
 
V. Natural Watercourses.  The development will not substantially reduce the natural retention storage 

capacity of any watercourse, thereby increasing the magnitude and volume of flood at other locations. 
 
Comments:  It does not appear that the proposed planned unit development will substantially reduce the 
natural retention storage capacity of a watercourse because the watercourse and adjacent wetlands are 
generally located within open space and will generally be preserved in their natural state. 
 
We defer further comment to the Township Engineer. 
 
W. Conditions for Excavation.  The soil and subsoil conditions are suitable for excavation and site 

preparation and the drainage is designed to prevent erosion and environmentally deleterious surface 
runoff. 

 
Comments:  We defer comment to the Township Engineer. 
 
X. Natural Features.  The development will not detrimentally affect or destroy natural features such as 

ponds, streams, wetland, hillsides or wooded areas, but will preserve and incorporate such features 
into the development's site design. 

 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development will preserve significant areas of water, wetland, and 
woodlands.  Areas proposed for streets and other infrastructure and for individual lots are likely to have 
trees removed and some grading. 
 
Y. Site Topography.  The location of natural features and the characteristics of site topography have been 

considered in the designing and siting of all physical improvements. 
 
Comments:  The design of the planned unit development and limits of individual lots appears to consider 
the natural features on the site. 
 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
23 

Z. Current Standards.  That if the site has existing improvements, all site conditions have been brought 
up to the current standards of this ordinance. 

 
Comments:  There are no existing improvements on the site.  This standard does not apply. 
 

 
The general review standards for special land uses are outlined in §22.04 General Review Standards for 
All Special Land Uses and are included below.  Comments addressing these standards are included 
throughout this report and below. 
 
Special land uses require an applicant to submit a statement of use, as outlined in §22.02(B)(2) Statement 
of Use.  To the best of our knowledge, such a statement has not be provided at this time. 
 
Comments:  The applicant should provide a statement of use, consistent with §22.02(B)(2) Statement of 
use. 
 
A. Master Plan.  The special land use will be consistent with the goals, objectives, and future land use 

plan described in the Township's Master Plan. 
 
Comments:  The Future Land Use Map calls residential dwellings in this area with lots sizes ranging 
between half an acre and 3 acres.  The Master Plan calls for cluster-style developments in these areas. 
 
The proposed planned unit development would preserve more natural features than a conventional 
development and would allow more lots within an area served by sanitary sewer.   
 
B. Zoning District.  The special land use will be consistent with the stated intent of the zoning district. 
 
Comments:  The proposed use planned unit development is a special land use in the Planned Commercial 
Industrial district. 
 
C. Neighborhood Compatibility.  The special land use will be designed, constructed, operated and 

maintained to be compatible with, and not significantly alter, the existing or intended character of 
the general vicinity in consideration of environmental impacts, views, aesthetics, noise, vibration, 
glare, air quality, drainage, traffic, property values or similar impacts. 

 
Comments:  The proposed residential planned unit development appears to be generally consistent with 
the surrounding residential developments.  It would have smaller setbacks for individual lots, but it would 
have a larger area of the site preserved in a natural state.  
 
D. Environment.  The special land use will not significantly impact the natural environment. 

 
Comments:  The development of any property from a natural state to a developed state will have an impact 
on the natural environment.  The extensive wetland areas within the open space are more likely to be 
protected than they would be within individual lots and are likely to provide better stormwater 
management. 

 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
24 

E. Public Services.  The special land use can be served adequately by public facilities and services such as 
police and fire protection, drainage structures, water and sewage facilities, refuse disposal and 
schools. 

 
Comments:  It appears that the proposed planned unit development should adequately be served by public 
facilities and services.  Additional information would be provided and reviewed as part of final site plan 
review. 
 
We defer additional comment to the applicable public facility and service agencies. 
 
F. Traffic.  The proposed use shall be of a nature that will make vehicular and pedestrian traffic no more 

hazardous than is normal for the district involved, taking into consideration the following… 
 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development appears likely provide better vehicular circulation on 
the adjacent streets than a conventional plan because it would reduce the number of lots accessing Runyan 
Lake and increase the number of lots accessing White Lake.  Additional information would be available as 
part of a traffic impact statement. 
 
The proposed planned unit development would include an extensive internal pedestrian circulation system, 
with more sidewalks and trailways than other residential developments in the area. 
 
G. Additional Development.  The proposed use shall be such that the location and height of buildings or 

structures, and the location, nature and height of walls, fences, and landscaping will not interfere with 
or discourage the appropriate development and use of adjacent land and buildings or unreasonably 
affect their value. 

 
Comments:  It does not appear that the proposed planned unit development would interfere with the 
development or use of adjacent properties.  While the loss of completely natural area may affect the value 
of adjacent properties, it is not clear that the proposed planned unit development would unreasonably 
affect the value beyond a conventional development at this site.   
 
H. Health, Safety and Welfare.  The proposed use shall be designed, located, planned, and operated to 

protect the public health, safety, and welfare. 
 
Comments:  If the Planning Commission determines that the proposed planned unit development is 
consistent with the standards in the Zoning Ordinance or qualifies for modifications or waivers, it should 
not create a negative impact on public health, safety, or welfare. 
 

 
Standards for planned unit development review are outlined in §11.08 Standards for PUD Approval and 
are included below.  Comments addressing these standards are included throughout this report and 
below. 
 
A. Documentation is complete, unless a requirement is specifically waived by the Township Board. 

 
Comments:  Documentation for preliminary review appears to be generally complete for preliminary 
review, except as otherwise noted, or may be eligible for waivers. 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
25 

B. Satisfies the standards of this article. 
 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development appears to generally meet the standards of the 
Planned Unit Development Article, except where otherwise noted, or may be eligible for waivers.  The 
largest question is related to open space. 
 
C. Satisfies the standards and requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, including site plan requirements, 

unless specifically noted modifications have been granted. 
 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development appears to meet the standards of the Zoning 
Ordinance, if noted modifications and waivers have been granted by the Planning Commission and 
Township Board. 
 
D. Satisfies the goals and objectives of the Master Plan. 
 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development appears to preserve more natural features than a 
conventional development, provide more pedestrian circulation, and would locate more dwellings in an 
area served by public services (sanitary sewer). 
 
E. Does not adversely affect and is compatible with adjacent property areas. 
 
Comments:  The proposed single-family dwelling use of the planned unit development appears to be 
consistent with the surrounding developed areas, which are primarily single-family dwellings. 
 
F. Does not result in a significant increase in demand for public services or facilities when compared to 

the development that would otherwise be permitted in that district, unless the proposal contains an 
acceptable plan for providing necessary services. 

 
Comments:  The proposed planned unit development would result in 11 more lots that appear likely 
reasonable as part of an otherwise permitted development.  It does not appear likely that the additional 
11 single-family houses would result in a significant increase in demand for public services or facilities. 
 
G. Protects the natural environment as well or better than conventional development could have at the 

same location. 
 
Comments:  It appears that the proposed planned unit development is more likely to protect and preserve 
natural features on the site than a conventional development.  A significant portion of the wetlands will 
be located within common open space instead of within individual lots. 
 
H. Establishes a safe and efficient circulation system that is integrated into the existing and potential 

future road network, provides for the pedestrian, and minimizes impacts of parking, loading, and 
access areas. 

 
Comments:  The proposed circulation system reduces the number of access points, and the planned unit 
development would allow for fewer lots accessing Runyan Lake Road than a conventional development.  
Ideally, the road system would have a connection between the 2 phases and to adjacent developments, 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
26 

but a connection would require extensive improvements within wetland areas and the adjacent properties 
do not provide ready access. 
 
I. Creates coordinated, visually appealing development by emphasizing the relationship between 

building form, signage, landscaping, and the overall theme of the development. 
 
Comments:  It is difficult to provide guidance on this review standard.  The applicant has provided 
renderings for proposed architecture and general landscaping information, but no information is provided 
about signage or “overall theme.” 
 
 

SUMMARY & COMMENTS 

 
The applicant is requesting preliminary approval at this time.  The purpose of preliminary approval is to 
determine if the project is generally consistent with the Zoning Ordinance.  Preliminary approval grants 
the applicant the ability to submit an application for final site plan approval; it does not create any vested 
rights in final approval. 
 
The application is generally complete, but there is some information that has not been fully provided at 
this time.  If the Planning Commission determines any missing information is not eligible for waivers or is 
necessary for its preliminary review, it should postpone action and direct the applicant to provide the 
information.  Missing information that the Planning Commission does not determine is necessary for its 
preliminary review could be added to plans submitted for final approval. 
 
The Planning Commission could make a favorable recommendation to the Township Board, with or 
without conditions, if it determines decision criteria and developmental standards are met or would be 
met with conditions. 
 
The Planning Commission could postpone action if it determines there are significant or too many changes 
or conditions that would be necessary to receive a favorable recommendation.  If this is the case, it should 
direct the applicant to prepare revisions based on its review and provide guidance as to what information 
or standards it would be comfortable with waiving. 
 
The Planning Commission could make an unfavorable recommendation to the Township Board if it 
determines decision criteria and developmental standards are not met or could not easily be met with 
changes or conditions.  The application would still be forwarded to the Township Board. 
 

 
The list below includes items that require Planning Commission determinations.  (Although the Planning 
Commission has discussed some of these determinations previously, it is best practice to confirm them at 
time of review.) 
 
1. The Planning Commission should determine if the 1” = 150’ scale is adequate for substantial review 

of the preliminary plan.  
2. The Planning Commission should determine whether or not to waive all or a part the requirement to 

show the location of existing structures within 500 feet of the lot as part preliminary review. 



Lake Urban Crossings 
Preliminary Site Plan/Planned Unit Development 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
27 

3. The Planning Commission should determine if it will require a traffic impact statement, as outlined in 
Table 23.1 Requirements for Various Types of Traffic Impact Studies, as part of preliminary review. 

4. The Planning Commission should determine if a statement of use is necessary for preliminary review. 
5. The Planning Commission should determine if the parallel plan is reasonably feasible. 
6. The Planning Commission should determine if the proposed developmental standard modifications 

are consistent with sound planning and design, are necessary for the preservation of significant 
features or open space on the site or are otherwise necessary to result in a higher-quality design. 

7. The Planning Commission should determine if the criteria for additional residential lots are satisfied 
and, if so, what incremental bonus from 0% to 5% the planned unit development qualifies for. 

8. The Planning Commission should determine if the site characteristics, surrounding natural features, 
and proposed design features lend themselves to a reduced open space requirement. 

9. The Planning Commission should consider whether or not it would recommend using non-contiguous 
property to satisfy open space area if a waiver is not granted from the 30% minimum. 

10. The Planning Commission should determine if alternative screening would be warranted. 
11. The Planning Commission should determine if the criteria for preliminary site plan, special land use, 

and planned unit developments are satisfied. 
 

 
The list below includes potential conditions of approval for the Planning Commission to consider.  
Additional potential conditions could also be identified at the Planning Commission meeting.  Conditions 
associated with final review/approval have not been included below but are identified throughout this 
report. 
 
1. The applicant should provide a statement of use, consistent with §22.02(B)(2) Statement of use. 
2. Special land use approval should only be effective upon approval of the final planned unit development 

and final site plan. 
3. A table should be added to the preliminary plan listing the proposed developmental modifications 

requested as part of the planned unit development, the specific section of the Zoning Ordinance, and 
the reasons and mechanisms used to protect the public health, safety, and welfare in place of the 
original standards. 

4. The cul-de-sacs should be reconfigured so the center is landscaped. 
5. The eastern end of Valencia should be reconfigured to provide a large-vehicle turnaround. 
6. Approval of access and circulation by the Township Engineer and Fire Inspector.  
7. Changes or additions should be made to proposed tree species. 
8. The site plan should include a description of the criteria proposed for residential density bonus. 
9. Open space calculations on Sheet P-5 should be corrected.  (There is no maximum contribution of 

upland area and additional details about stormwater basins.) 
10. The applicant shall conduct a preapplication meeting with the Township before submitting an 

application for final approvals. 
 
 

  



November 2021 

Prepared by:Prepared for 
Lake Urban Dev, LLC 

 
 

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
FOR 

LAKE URBAN CROSSING PUD 
TYRONE TOWNSHIP, MICHIGAN 

CarterJ
ALVI SEAL



   Lake Urban Crossing PUD 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

P a g e  i  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  
1. INTRODUCTION  ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.1.    Purpose  .................................................................................................................................................. 1 
1.2.    Project Description .................................................................................................................................. 1 
1.3.    Study Area ............................................................................................................................................... 1 
1.4.    Study Analysis Methodology ................................................................................................................... 4 
1.5.    Level of Service Analysis Methodology ................................................................................................... 4 
1.6.    Analysis Steps  ......................................................................................................................................... 5 
1.7.    Significance Criteria  ................................................................................................................................ 6 

2. EXISTING CONDITIONS .................................................................................................................... 6 
2.1.  Roadway Segments .................................................................................................................................. 6 
2.2.  Crash Analysis  ......................................................................................................................................... 6 
2.3.  Existing Intersection Volumes & Lane Configurations ............................................................................. 8 
2.4.    Intersection Level of Service Analysis  .................................................................................................... 8 

3. BACKGROUND CONDITIONS ............................................................................................................ 8 
3.1.   Background Traffic Volumes .................................................................................................................... 8 
3.2.   Background Intersection Level of Service Analysis .................................................................................. 9 

4. BUILD‐OUT CONDITIONS ............................................................................................................... 10 

4.1.   Build‐Out Condition Trip Generation ..................................................................................................... 10 
4.2.   Build‐Out Condition Trip Distribution and Assignment ......................................................................... 10 
4.3.   Build‐Out Condition Intersection Level of Service Analysis ............................................................ 10 

5. CONCLUSIONS................................................................................................................................ 11 
 

FIGURES 

Figure 1 ‐ Project Site ............................................................................................................................... 2 
Figure 2 ‐ Site Plan  ................................................................................................................................... 3 

TABLE 

Table 1.    Analysis Scenarios ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Table 2.    Signalized Intersection Level of Service .................................................................................... 4 
Table 3.    Un‐Signalized Intersection Level of Service ............................................................................... 5 
Table 4.    Crashes By Type ........................................................................................................................ 7 
Table 5.    Crashes By Severity ................................................................................................................... 7 
Table 6.    Crash Conditions ....................................................................................................................... 7 
Table 7.    Crashes By Year ......................................................................................................................... 7 
Table 8.    Existing Condition Intersection Level of Service ........................................................................ 8 
Table 9.    2024 Background Condition Intersection Level of Service ........................................................ 9 
Table 10.  2027 Background Condition Intersection Level of Service ........................................................ 9 
Table 11.  Phase I Project Trip Generation .............................................................................................. 10 

Table 12.  Phase II Project Trip Generation ............................................................................................. 10 

Table 13.  2024 Build‐Out Condition Intersection Level of Service Analysis ............................................ 11 
Table 14.  2027 Build‐Out Condition Intersection Level of Service Analysis ............................................ 11 
 
 
 
 
 



   Lake Urban Crossing PUD 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

P a g e  ii  
 

TECHNICAL APPENDIX  
 

Appendix A ‐   Traffic Data  
Appendix B ‐   Crash Data 
Appendix C ‐   Existing Condition LOS Computations (Synchro Printouts) 
Appendix D ‐   Background Condition LOS Computations (Synchro Printouts) 
Appendix E ‐   Build‐Out Condition LOS Computations (Synchro Printouts) 
 
 
  



    Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 

C&A Engineers  November 2021   1 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. PURPOSE 

C&A Engineers, LLC  (C&AE) conducted a  traffic  impact  study  (TIS)  for  the proposed Lake Urban Crossing PUD 

located  in  the NE quadrant of  the White  Lake Road and Runyan  Lake Road  Intersection,  in Tyrone Township 

Michigan. The purpose of this study  is to evaluate the  impact on the existing road system from the additional 

vehicular traffic generated by the proposed PUD.  The TIS has been prepared in accordance Tyrone Township and 

the Livingston County Road Commission (LCRC) guidelines. 
 

The assessment documented in this traffic impact analysis is based on a review of exis ng traffic volumes, recent 

crash data, and  the an cipated  traffic genera ng characteris cs of  the proposed project. The study examines 

exis ng and projected traffic opera ons (both with and without the proposed PUD) at key  intersec ons  in the 

vicinity of the project site. The study area was selected based on a review of the surrounding roadway network 

and expected trip genera ng characteris cs of the proposed project. This study provides a detailed analysis of 

traffic opera ons during the weekday morning and weekday a ernoon peak hours, when the adjacent roadway 

volumes are greatest.    
 

1.2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION  

The site (Figure 1) is located in the NE quadrant of the NE quadrant of the White Lake Road and Runyan Lake Road 

Intersection,  in Tyrone Township. The proposed PUD will be developed  in two phases, Phase I (West Side) will 

comprise of 46 Units, constructed between the Spring of 2022 through the Spring of 2024.  Phase II (East Side) will 

comprise of 42 Units, constructed between the Spring of 2025 through the Spring of 2027.  Access to the Phase I 

of the PUD will be provided off of Runyan Lake Road north of the White Lake Road intersection. Access to Phase 

II, will be provided off of White Lake Road just east of Carmer Road.   Figure 2 illustrates the proposed site plan.   
 

1.3. STUDY AREA 

The  study area  for  this project  includes key  intersections and adjacent  roadways  that maybe affected by  this 

project.  The specific study area includes the intersection and roadway segments listed below.   
 

Intersections 

 White Lake Road at Runyan Lake Road    White Lake Road at Carmer Road  
 

Road Segments 

 White Lake Road  

 Runyan Lake Road 

 Carmer Road 



    Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 

C&A Engineers  November 2021   2 

 

 

Figure 1 Project Site 



Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 3 

 

 Figure 2 Site Plan 



  Dutton Road Industrial Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

C&A Engineers  November 2021   4 

 

1.4. STUDY ANALYSIS METHODOLOGY 

This section documents the methodologies and assumptions used to conduct the traffic impact study for the PUD. 

This section includes the analysis condition, analysis time periods and level of service analysis methodologies and 

steps.  Table 1 presents a summary of the analysis condition. 
 
 

TABLE 1: ANALYSIS CONDITIONS 

 

 

1.5. LEVEL OF SERVICE ANALYSIS METHODOLOGY 

The intersections and roadway segments in the study area were analyzed using procedures consistent with the 

Highway Capacity Manual. At intersections, the Level of Service (LOS) is based on the average delay experienced 

by motorists traveling through the intersection. Table 2 and Table 3 displays the average delay range for each LOS 

category associated with signalized and unsignalized intersections.  
 

Signalized  intersection  operations  are  evaluated  based  on  the  appropriate  jurisdiction’s  LOS  standards  (i.e., 

minimum threshold for acceptable operations). An acceptable LOS for signalized intersections is defined as LOS D 

or better during a peak period. The HCM 2010 method evaluates signalized  intersection operations based on 

average control delay for all vehicles at the intersection, which can be correlated to a LOS Table 2. 

 

TABLE 2: SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE 
Level of Service  Description (for signalized intersections) 

Avg Delay1 
(Seconds) 

A  Operations with low delay occurring with favorable traffic signal progression and/or short cycle lengths.  < 10 

B  Operations with low delay occurring with good progression and/or short cycle lengths.  > 10 to 20 

C 
Opera ons with average delays resul ng from fair progression and/or longer cycle lengths. Individual cycle
failures begin to appear. 

>20.1 to 
35.0 

D 
Operations with longer delays due to a combination of unfavorable progression, long cycle lengths, or high 
V/C ratios. Many vehicles stop, and individual cycle failures are noticeable. 

> 35 to 55 

E 
Operations with high delay values indicating poor progression, and long cycle lengths. Individual cycle failures
are frequent occurrences. This is considered to be the limit of acceptable delay. 

> 55 to 80 

F 
Operations with delays unacceptable to most drivers occurring due to over‐saturation, poor progression, or 
exceptionally long cycle lengths. 

> 80 

Note: 1. Average delay expressed in seconds per vehicle. 
Source: Highway Capacity Manual (Transportation Research Board, 2010) 
 

Conditions  DESCRIPTION 

Existing Conditions 
The analysis of Existing Condition was based on existing traffic data at the key intersections as well as count 
data collected.  

Background Conditions 
Future  traffic  forecasts without  the proposed development were projected  for  the 2024 & 2027 Background
Conditions by  forecasting  future traffic by applying a three percent annual growth to the existing count data
collected. 

Build Conditions  This traffic scenario provides an assessment of operating conditions under 2024 & 2027 Build Condition with the 
addition of Project‐generated traffic and transportation network infrastructure proposed by the Project. 



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 5 

 

The  operations  of  the  unsignalized  intersections were  evaluated  using HCM  2010.  LOS  ratings  for  stop‐sign 

controlled intersections are based on the average control delay expressed in seconds per vehicle. At twoway or 

side‐street‐controlled intersections, the average control delay is calculated for each stopped movement, not for 

the  intersection as a whole. For approaches composed of a single  lane,  the control delay  is computed as  the 

average  of  all  movements  in  that  lane.  Table  3  summarizes  the  relationship  between  delay  and  LOS  for 

unsignalized intersections. 

 

TABLE 3: UN-SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE 
 

Level of Service 
 

Descrip on (for unsignalized intersec on) 
 

Average Delay1  

(Seconds) 

A  Li le or no delay.  ≤ 10.0 

B  Short traffic delays.  10.1 to 15.0 

C  Average traffic delays.  15.1 to 25.0 

D  Long traffic delays.  25.1 to 35.0 

E  Excep onally long traffic delays.  35.1 to 50.0 

F  Extreme traffic delays with intersec on capacity exceeded.  > 50.0 

Note: 1. Average delay expressed in seconds per vehicle. 
Source: Highway Capacity Manual (Transportation Research Board, 2010)  
 

 

The study intersections were analyzed using Synchro/SimTraffic analysis software. This software program analyzes 

the  interaction of vehicles, pedestrians,  traffic signals, and  the  roadway configuration. By modeling  individual 

vehicles, the analysis can account for the effect of queue spillbacks on upstream lanes and intersections, delay to 

unbalanced lane utilization, and interaction between intersections due to signal coordination. 
 

1.6. ANALYSIS STEPS 

The study was conducted in three steps. The first step consisted of an inventory of existing traffic conditions within 

the  project  study  area.  As  part  of  this  inventory,  manual  turning  movement  counts  were  collected  at  key 

intersections during the weekday morning and weekday afternoon peak hours.  A field visit was also completed 

to document  intersection and  roadway geometries and available  sight distances at  the project  site driveway.  

Crash data for the study area intersections was obtained from the SEMCOG and used to determine if the study 

area has any existing traffic safety deficiencies.  
 

The second step of the study builds upon the data collected in the first step to establish the basis for evaluating 

potential transportation  impacts associated with the projected future conditions.   During this second step, the 

projected traffic demands associated with any planned future developments that could influence traffic volumes 

at  the  study  area  intersections were  assessed.   Consistent with  the  Township  and  LCRC  traffic  impact  study 

guidelines, the 2021 Existing traffic volumes were forecasted to the future years of 2024 and 2027 to determine 

Background (without project) conditions and Buildout (with project) conditions.   
 

The third step of this study determined if measures were necessary to improve existing or future traffic operations 

and safety, minimize potential traffic impacts, and provide safe and efficient access to the proposed project site. 
 



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 6 

 

1.7. SIGNIFICANCE CRITIRIA 

The following thresholds of significance have been used to determine whether implementing the proposed PUD 

would result  in a adverse transportation  impact. The PUD would have a adverse  impact  if one of the following 

conditions were to occur. 
 

1. Causes the intersection to reduce by two or more LOS categories during the AM/PM peak hours. 

2. Worsen an unacceptable roadway operations to a significant degree during the weekday AM/PM peak hours. 

 

2. EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 

C&A Engineers on November 10, 2021, conducted peak‐hour vehicular turning movement count (TMC) survey, 

(Appendix A) at the key  intersection  identified above  in the Study Area section of the report, from 7:00AM to 

9:00AM, and 3:00PM  to 7:00PM, which are  the  confirmed peak AM, Noon and PM period  identifies by  from 

historical traffic data for the key intersections.   
 

2.1. ROADWAY SEGMENTS 

The principal roadways in the PUD study area are described briefly below. The description includes the physical 

characteristics, adjacent land uses, and traffic control devices along these roadways.  
 

 White Lake Road is a northwest‐southeast, 2‐lane roadway, which intersects with both Runyan Lake Road and 

Carmer Road.   The White  Lake Road and Runyan  Lake Road  intersection has  four approaches and  is un‐

signalized, with stop control on the Runyan Lake Road approaches.  The White Lake Road and Carmer Road 

intersection is un‐signalized T‐intersection, with stop control on the Carmer Road approach.  The posted speed 

limit is 35 MPH near Runyan Lake Road and 45 MPH near Carmer Road. 

 Runyan Lake Road is a northeast-southwest, 2-lane roadway, which intersect with White Lake Road.  The 

posted speed limit is 40 MPH in the vicinity of the PUD. 

 Carmer Road is a north-south, two-lane roadway, which terminates at White Lake Road. The posted speed 

limit is 40 MPH. 
 

2.2. CRASH ANALYSIS  

Below is summary of the crashes data obtained from SEMCOG (Appendix B) for the last five‐years (January 1, 2016 

– December 31, 2020), at each of  the key  intersection. Tables 4, 5, 6 and 7,  illustrate crashes based on  type, 

severity, road condition, weather, and year.  
 

 White Lake Road at Runyan Lake Road:  There were ten (10) crashes reported at the intersection during the 

study period, with a breakdown of five (5) angle type crashes, two (2) single‐vehicle type crashes, and one (1) 

head‐on left crash and one (1) other type crash.  One (1) fatal crash occurred at the intersection. 

 White  Lake  Road  at  Carmer  Road:    There  was  only  one  (1)  single  vehicle  type  crash  reported  at  the 

intersection, resulting in property damage.   

 



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 7 

 

The majority of the angle type crashes were the result failure to stop.  The following countermeasures may reduce 

these types of crashes. 

 

 Overlay existing pavement 

 Install intersection ahead signs  

 Install street lighting 
 
 
 

TABLE 4, CRASHES BY TYPE 

 
 

 

 

TABLE 5, CRASHES BY SEVERITY 

 

 
 
 
TABLE 6, CONDITION 

 
 
 
TABLE 7, CRASHES BY YEAR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 8 

 

2.3. EXISTING INTERSECTION VOLUMES & LANE CONFIGURATIONS 

The operation of  the  study  intersection was evaluated  for  the highest one‐hour  volume during  the weekday 

AM/PM peak hour periods. Existing TMC were collected on November 10, 2021. A summary of count data, and 

intersection TMC conducted for this study can be found in Appendix A.   

 

2.4. INTERSECTIONS LEVEL OF SERVICE ANALYSIS 

The results of the LOS analysis  for study  intersections under Existing Conditions are presented  in Table 8,  the 

corresponding LOS calculation sheets are included in Appendix C.  The LOS analysis indicates that all of the key  

intersections currenlty operate at an acceptable LOS A during the both the AM and PM peak hours. 
 
 
 

TABLE 8: EXISTING CONDITIONS INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE 

 
 
 
 

3. BACKGROUND CONDITIONS 
 

The Background scenarios represents conditions prior to the completion of the PUD. To evaluate the potential 

impact of  traffic generated by  the proposed PUD on  the  surrounding  roadway  system,  it  is necessary  to  first 

develop estimates of the traffic condition in the area without the PUD. Traffic conditions without the PUD under 

this scenario reflect existing traffic counts with the addition with the addition of future growth  in the buildout 

year. The existing roadway system and intersection geometries was used for the Background analysis.  

 

3.1. BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Traffic  volumes  for  years  2024  and  2027 Background Conditions  comprise of  existing  volumes  forecasted  to 

projected  build‐out  years  of  2024  and  2027  utilizing  an  applicable  growth  rate.  In  order  to  determine  the 

applicable growth rate for the existing traffic volumes to projected build‐out year, historical traffic count data and 

population forecasts publish by SEMCOG were used to estimate future growth for the study area.  Based on this 

data a 3% annual growth was determined, thus a 1.09 and 1.19 growth factors were used for years 2024 and 2027 

respectively in the Synchro models.   

 

 



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 9 

 

3.2. BACKGOUND INTERSECTIONS LEVEL OF SERVICE ANALYSIS 

The results of the LOS analysis for year 2024 and 2027 Background Conditions are summarized in Tables 9 and 10 

and detailed calculations are provided in Appendix D.  The LOS analysis indicates that all of the key intersections 

in 2024 will operate at an acceptable LOS A during both the AM and PM peak hours.  It should also be noted, that 

all the approaches operate at an aceptable LOS B or better.   

 

In 2027 the key intersections will operate at an acceptable LOS A during both the AM and PM peak hours.  It should 

also be noted, that all the approaches operate at an aceptable LOS B or better.   
 

 

TABLE 9: 2024 BACKGROUND CONDITION INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE  

 
 
 
 
TABLE 10: 2027 BACKGROUND CONDITION INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE 

 
 
 
 
 



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 10 

 

4. BUILD CONDITIONS   
 

4.1. TRIP GENERATION 

Trip generation is a measure or forecast of the number of trips that begin or end at the project site. The traffic 

generated is a function of the extent and type of development proposed for the site. These trips will result in some 

traffic increases on the streets where they occur. Vehicular traffic generation characteristics for developments are 

estimated based on established rates. These rates identify the probable traffic generation of various land uses‐

based studies of developments in comparable settings. The rates used in this analysis were determined based on 

rates contained in the Trip Generation, 9th Edition, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) for 

ITE Code for Residential PUD 270.   As shown in Table 11, the Phase I of the PUD is expected to generate at the 

Runyan Lake Road access drive 5 IN / 18 OUT trips, during the AM Peak and 19 IN / 10 OUT trips during the PM 

Peak.  As shown in Table 12, Phase II of the PUD is expected to generate at White Lake Road access drive 5 IN / 17 

OUT trips during the AM Peak and 17 IN / 9 OUT trips during the PM Peak.    
 

 

TABLE 11:  PHASE I PROJECT TRIP GENERATION  

 
 
 

TABLE 12:  PHASE II PROJECT TRIP GENERATION  

 
 
 
 

4.2. BUILD‐OUT CONDITIONS TRIP DISTRIBUTION AND ASSIGNMENT 

Trip distribution and assignment  is  the process of  identifying  the probable destinations, directions, and  traffic 

routes that project related traffic will likely affect. The distribution of the projected trips due to the PUD was based 

on existing traffic patterns in the study area.  The AM/PM peak hour traffic directionality in the study area varied 

and was applied to the trip distribution percentages using the site access points.  The trips distribution reports can 

be found in Appendix F.  
 

4.3. BUILD‐OUT CONDITIONS INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE ANALYSIS  

The results of the LOS analysis for year 2024 and 2027 Build‐out Conditions are summarized in Table 13 and Table 

14 and detailed calculations are provided in Appendix E.  In years 2024 and 2027 with the addition of project trips, 

the key  intersections are expected to operate similar to the 2024 and 2027 Background Conditions during the 

both the AM and PM peak hours periods.   

 

 



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 11 

 

TABLE 13: 2022 BUILD-OUT CONDITION INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE  

 
 
TABLE 14: 2026 BUILD-OUT CONDITION INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE  

 
 
 

5. CONCLUSIONS 
 

C&A Engineers has reached the following conclusions regarding the proposed Lake Urban Crossing PUD located in 

the NE quadrant of the White Lake Road and Runyan Lake Road intersec on, in Tyrone Township.  The proposed 

PUD will be developed  in two phases, Phase  I (West Side) will comprise of 46 Units, constructed between the 

Spring of 2022 through the Spring of 2024.  Phase II (East Side) will comprise of 42 Units, constructed between the 

Spring of 2025 through the Spring of 2027.  Access to the Phase I of the PUD will be provided off of Runyan Lake 

Road north of the White Lake Road intersec on. Access to Phase II will be provided off of White Lake Road just 

east of Carmer Road.    
 

Based on the analysis presented in this assessment, the Phase I of the PUD is expected to generate at the Runyan 

Lake Road access drive 5 IN / 18 OUT trips, during the AM Peak and 19 IN / 10 OUT trips during the PM Peak.  

Phase II of the PUD is expected to generate at White Lake Road access drive 5 IN / 17 OUT trips during the AM 

Peak and 17 IN / 9 OUT trips during the PM Peak.    



Dutton Road Industrial Park  
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 

C&A Engineers  November 2021 12 

 

 

The capacity analysis indicates that Phase I and Phase II of the proposed PUD would have a negligible impact on 

the opera ons of the study area intersec ons and adjacent roadway segments.  In year 2024 with the addi on of 

traffic generated by the PUD, the key intersec ons analyzed are expected to con nue to operate at similar LOS 

ra ngs as the 2021 Exis ng and 2024 Background condi ons.  In year 2027 with the addi on of traffic generated 

by the project, the key intersec ons analyzed are expected to con nue to operate at similar LOS ra ngs as the 

2021 Exis ng and 2027 Background condi ons.  
 

Based on a review of the conserva ve analysis contained within this traffic impact study, the proposed PUD is not 

expected to have a no ceable impact on the traffic opera ons of the study area roadways and intersec ons. Based 

on these findings, and the recommenda ons listed below, it is concluded that the site is par cularly well suited 

for proposed PUD.  

 

 



    Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Technical Appendix  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 



Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix ‐ A 

TRAFFIC DATA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Date:
Location: White Lk Rd at Runyan Lk Rd

Time Interval: 7AM‐9AM; 11AM‐1PM

6:45 ‐ 7:00 7 4 1 3 9 3 6 3 3 5 39 8
7:00 ‐ 7:15 7 4 1 3 11 3 6 3 3 10 72 14
7:15 ‐ 7:30 5 4 1 4 12 4 7 3 4 11 85 16
7:30 ‐ 7:45 8 5 2 3 13 4 8 4 3 12 92 18
7:45 ‐ 8:00 10 6 2 5 11 3 12 6 3 12 91 18
8:00 ‐ 8:15 14 7 2 4 19 6 15 6 2 8 66 13
8:15 ‐ 8:30 9 6 2 4 24 7 10 2 2 8 58 11
8:30 ‐ 8:45 16 2 2 5 26 7 10 4 2 6 48 9
8:45 ‐ 9:00 14 8 2 6 30 9 12 5 4 5 38 8
10:45 ‐ 11:00 9 4 3 6 85 8 13 5 4 3 20 4
11:00 ‐ 11:15 7 6 1 8 16 5 9 3 4 3 24 5
11:15 ‐ 11:30 10 9 2 11 17 7 9 2 6 4 28 6
11:30 ‐ 11:45 12 9 3 8 22 7 12 3 5 4 30 6
11:45 ‐ 12:00 12 8 3 10 16 6 18 4 6 5 30 7
12:00 ‐ 12:15 10 8 2 9 27 9 16 2 8 5 35 6
12:15 ‐ 12:30 12 4 2 5 38 10 20 2 9 4 32 5
12:30 ‐ 12:45 10 4 3 5 41 11 21 5 7 5 37 8
12:45 ‐ 13:00 12 3 2 7 39 6 26 4 8 5 36 7
14:45 ‐ 15:00 14 6 2 5 23 6 3 2 2 4 30 6
15:00 ‐ 15:15 12 5 2 11 19 7 3 3 1 4 32 6
15:15 ‐ 15:30 12 7 2 6 29 8 3 2 3 5 37 7
15:30 ‐ 15:45 15 7 3 12 26 9 5 0 4 5 40 8
15:45 ‐ 16:00 16 4 3 11 28 9 5 3 3 6 46 9
16:00 ‐ 16:15 15 5 4 9 43 13 4 2 3 4 37 7
16:15 ‐ 16:30 13 5 2 6 55 15 5 2 4 6 42 8
16:30 ‐ 16:45 10 6 2 9 57 16 4 3 5 6 46 9
16:45 ‐ 17:00 10 7 1 9 43 13 4 4 4 7 48 9
17:00 ‐ 17:15 14 6 2 9 52 15 2 2 2 7 53 10
17:15 ‐ 17:30 16 7 3 10 62 17 3 4 1 8 62 12
17:30 ‐ 17:45 14 9 3 12 75 9 3 4 1 9 66 13
17:45 ‐ 18:00 15 4 5 7 62 9 3 2 2 7 55 10
18:00 ‐ 18:15 12 2 4 7 69 7 4 5 2 6 50 8
18:15 ‐ 18:30 12 2 4 6 83 8 5 2 6 7 56 11
18:30 ‐ 18:45 10 4 3 7 79 9 5 4 5 8 60 12

18:45 ‐ 19:00 10 3 1 5 73 7 4 4 6 7 55 11

A.M. Peak Hour (Midnight to Noon)

7:15 ‐ 7:30 5 4 1 4 12 4 7 3 4 11 85 16
7:30 ‐ 7:45 8 5 2 3 13 4 8 4 3 12 92 18
7:45 ‐ 8:00 10 6 2 5 11 3 12 6 3 12 91 18
8:00 ‐ 8:15 14 7 2 4 19 6 15 6 2 8 66 13

7:15 ‐ 8:15 37 22 7 16 55 17 42 19 12 43 334 65

Peak Hour Factor:  0.934

P.M. Peak Hour (Noon to Midnight)

17:15 ‐ 17:30 16 7 3 10 62 17 3 4 1 8 62 12
17:30 ‐ 17:45 14 9 3 12 75 9 3 4 1 9 66 13
17:45 ‐ 18:00 15 4 5 7 62 9 3 2 2 7 55 10
18:00 ‐ 18:15 12 2 4 7 69 7 4 5 2 6 50 8

17:15 ‐ 18:15 57 22 15 36 268 42 13 15 6 30 233 43

Peak Hour Factor:  0.894

EB

Left

NB 

Thru

NB

Left

EB 

Right

EB 

Thru

EB

LeftTime

Runyan Lk Rd

10‐Nov‐21

White Lk RdWhite Lk Rd Runyan Lk Rd
NB 

Right

SB 

Right

SB 

Thru

SB

Left

WB 

Right

WB 

Thru

WB

Left

Time

Runyan Lk Rd White Lk Rd Runyan Lk Rd White Lk Rd
SB 

Right

SB 

Thru

SB

Left

WB 

Right

WB 

Thru

WB

Left

NB 

Right

NB 

Thru

NB

Left

EB 

Right

EB 

Thru

Time

SB 

Right

SB 

Thru

SB

Left

WB 

Right

WB 

Thru

WB

Left

NB 

Right

NB 

Thru

NB

Left

Runyan Lk Rd White Lk Rd Runyan Lk Rd White Lk Rd
EB 

Right

EB 

Thru

EB

Left

Logo



Date:
Location: White Lk Rd at Carmer Rd

Time Interval: 7AM‐9AM; 11AM‐1PM

6:45 ‐ 7:00 0 0 0 0 22 4 1 0 2 1 7 0
7:00 ‐ 7:15 0 0 0 0 27 2 0 0 1 3 9 0
7:15 ‐ 7:30 0 0 0 0 30 2 2 0 3 3 9 0
7:30 ‐ 7:45 0 0 0 0 34 3 1 0 3 4 12 0
7:45 ‐ 8:00 0 0 0 0 51 7 2 0 4 8 24 0
8:00 ‐ 8:15 0 0 0 0 45 5 4 0 7 11 32 0
8:15 ‐ 8:30 0 0 0 0 40 4 4 0 7 14 39 0
8:30 ‐ 8:45 0 0 0 0 36 8 7 0 8 9 31 0
8:45 ‐ 9:00 0 0 0 0 31 6 5 0 7 13 35 0
10:45 ‐ 11:00 0 0 0 0 34 3 5 0 8 4 21 0
11:00 ‐ 11:15 0 0 0 0 32 3 7 0 11 8 23 0
11:15 ‐ 11:30 0 0 0 0 35 6 5 0 7 5 18 0
11:30 ‐ 11:45 0 0 0 0 41 4 8 0 8 10 27 0
11:45 ‐ 12:00 0 0 0 0 39 6 8 0 10 9 27 0
12:00 ‐ 12:15 0 0 0 0 42 5 6 0 9 13 38 0
12:15 ‐ 12:30 0 0 0 0 36 7 5 0 7 15 42 0
12:30 ‐ 12:45 0 0 0 0 32 5 7 0 8 17 54 0
12:45 ‐ 13:00 0 0 0 0 48 3 7 0 6 11 37 0
14:45 ‐ 15:00 0 0 0 0 49 5 4 0 7 7 45 0
15:00 ‐ 15:15 0 0 0 0 40 6 4 0 6 10 51 0
15:15 ‐ 15:30 0 0 0 0 37 6 5 0 6 7 49 0
15:30 ‐ 15:45 0 0 0 0 47 2 6 0 5 9 49 0
15:45 ‐ 16:00 0 0 0 0 53 5 6 0 4 9 61 0
16:00 ‐ 16:15 0 0 0 0 56 4 4 0 5 11 64 0
16:15 ‐ 16:30 0 0 0 0 65 3 5 0 8 12 60 0
16:30 ‐ 16:45 0 0 0 0 59 4 5 0 8 11 58 0
16:45 ‐ 17:00 0 0 0 0 67 4 6 0 9 11 71 0
17:00 ‐ 17:15 0 0 0 0 78 5 4 0 9 9 63 0
17:15 ‐ 17:30 0 0 0 0 65 5 5 0 7 8 57 0
17:30 ‐ 17:45 0 0 0 0 76 4 7 0 9 9 64 0
17:45 ‐ 18:00 0 0 0 0 71 4 4 0 8 18 72 0
18:00 ‐ 18:15 0 0 0 0 74 5 4 0 7 10 50 0
18:15 ‐ 18:30 0 0 0 0 62 4 3 0 6 14 57 0
18:30 ‐ 18:45 0 0 0 0 45 3 4 0 4 11 44 0
18:45 ‐ 19:00 0 0 0 0 36 2 4 0 4 12 40 0

A.M. Peak Hour (Midnight to Noon)

8:00 ‐ 8:15 0 0 0 0 45 5 4 0 7 11 32 0
8:15 ‐ 8:30 0 0 0 0 40 4 4 0 7 14 39 0
8:30 ‐ 8:45 0 0 0 0 36 8 7 0 8 9 31 0
8:45 ‐ 9:00 0 0 0 0 31 6 5 0 7 13 35 0

8:00 ‐ 9:00 0 0 0 0 152 23 20 0 29 47 137 0

Peak Hour Factor:  0.944

P.M. Peak Hour (Noon to Midnight)

17:00 ‐ 17:15 0 0 0 0 78 5 4 0 9 9 63 0
17:15 ‐ 17:30 0 0 0 0 65 5 5 0 7 8 57 0
17:30 ‐ 17:45 0 0 0 0 76 4 7 0 9 9 64 0
17:45 ‐ 18:00 0 0 0 0 71 4 4 0 8 18 72 0

17:00 ‐ 18:00 0 0 0 0 290 18 20 0 33 44 256 0

Peak Hour Factor:  0.934

Carmer Rd White Lk Rd Carmer Rd White Lk Rd
EB 

Right

EB 

Thru

EB

LeftTime

SB 

Right

SB 

Thru

SB

Left

WB 

Right

WB 

Thru

WB

Left

NB 

Right

NB 

Thru

NB

Left

Time

Carmer Rd White Lk Rd Carmer Rd White Lk Rd
SB 

Right

SB 

Thru

SB

Left

WB 

Right

WB 

Thru

WB

Left

NB 

Right

NB 

Thru

NB

Left

EB 

Right

EB 

Thru

Time

Carmer Rd

10‐Nov‐21

White Lk RdWhite Lk Rd Carmer Rd
NB 

Right

SB 

Right

SB 

Thru

SB

Left

WB 

Right

WB 

Thru

WB

Left

EB

Left

NB 

Thru

NB

Left

EB 

Right

EB 

Thru

EB

Left

Logo



Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix ‐ B 

CRASH DATA 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



�����������	�
������������
���������������������	���������	�������������	������������� �!�"���#�$�%�� &'()�(�*+�,-./0�1�234���5��678�����9:� 6/���/;.<9=��:=>%9����%?@��9?>
A�(����B3�C9�����
�����	���	�����	��:	�	

DEE�F� GHI�JHKH�LMEMD

AN2&OP�Q�ARS�T�'U��23VT3W'X&RSXV34�R��PRY�(X)�X�U



���������	
��	
	
 �����������������	
��	
	

���������� ������������������ ���� ���� ���� �������������

��������� � !"#$% &'%() �* +',) -%() �$.�� !"#$%/0 12#23.%4 !.# %" &'" 56'7 8!,9'%( :2+ .�$.�%$2�,$" "� � � � � � �

���������� 	
�� 	
�; 	
�< 	
�= 	
	
 >��?�@��AB�������� !"�:% � � � � � ���C&'%() �* +',) � � � � � �����C-%() � � � � � ���C� !"�:%/0 12�D3.% � � � � � ���C4 !.�E%" � � � � � ���C4 !"�E%"�0 12 � � � � � ���C4 !.�E%"�4'(+2 � � � � � ���CD$2!)�F.!5+ 5 � � � � � �����C
�������������� 	
�� 	
�; 	
�< 	
�= 	
	
 >��?�@��AB�������G!2!) � � � � � ���C& .'$35�H%I3.J � � � � � ���C:2+ .�H%I3.J � � � � � ���CK.$7 .2J�L!M!( :%)J � � � � � �����CD$2!)�F.!5+ 5 � � � � � �����C



���������	
������
�
���������� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� �����
�������������� !"�# $##%!�& ' ' ' ' ' '(')��� !"�# ��*+ ' ' ' ' ' '('),*-.�/0 ' ' ' ' ' '(')$&1 234/./%"/ ' ' ' ' ' '(')5%&*6�72*!1 ! ' 8 ' ' ' 8''(')

���������	
������
� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� �����
������������9 �:6�01&�9;//�/0 ' ' ' ' ' '(')<*/ �= #*2&;2 ' ' ' ' ' '(')>6-%1%6 ' ' ' ' ' '(')=2;0! ' ' ' ' ' '(')=  2 ' 8 ' ' ' 8''(')52*�/ ' ' ' ' ' '(')7%++ 2-�*6�52;-.3,;! ' ' ' ' ' '(')�-1%%6�,;! ' ' ' ' ' '(')?+ 20 /-@�A 1�-6 ' ' ' ' ' '(')B%&%2-@-6 ' ' ' ' ' '(')



���������	
������
� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� �����
����������������� �!�"#� $ $ $ $ $ $%$&'#�(�)#�� $ $ $ $ $ $%$&*�+� ��",� $ $ $ $ $ $%$&-"!.!/" � $ $ $ $ $ $%$&0" !��,!��+�0�"1�� $ $ $ $ $ $%$&2/+���0�"1���345�,�+�#/+��6 $ $ $ $ $ $%$&7#8�9�0�"1���3:4��#�;<6 $ $ $ $ $ $%$&



��������	
 ���������������������������������������	���������������� !"#��"�$%&"'(����)��������&������� 	���*�)�&������+���,�� � ���� -./���012��34�56575&����� ���� 819:�9�34�	6�	;<����=�� ;>���>75
?�9����@/�A

&�������BC�"�+���C
&��������� ��������

DEE�F� GHI�JHKH�LMEMD

?NO8PQ�R�?ST�.�1U��O/V./W1X8STXV/Y�S��QSZ�9X:�X�U



���������	
�
�������� �������� �������� �������� ���������� ���� � !"#
��$%�&'(!��
������ �������� �������� �������� ���������� �
�����
�����)�*
+,-�.�. � /��0���1� �23,4���5�6 � /��0�/346� �7��.��, � 2839��2�:� �7��.���1� � 2839���99 ��,4�� � ��-;3,4 �/��0�<,. � ��6�0=+,;,�8, �������>
��?�

����� ������� ������� ������� ����@��@A�@B�@C
�@D�@�

	
��E�F



�����������	
��������
�����������	���	����	������������������������
�����������������	
�����
�������
���
������	
�����
��������
���
����������	���	
�����������
��
������	
�����
	�������
�	�
	������	
�� ��
	�������
�	�
	����������	���	
�����
	�	������
�	�
	�����	�����	���	
����������
�����
������������
�����	�������	
����������������
���������������������	�������	
����
��������
� 
����������	
���!��	������	��	����������	
����������
��������������������	
������� ��������������������	
��� "����
������
	�	���������������	
���#������	�������������������	
���

$%&'()*%&�+�,-�#
��
�.%/01020'1�'/�3%)4&5%6%)027�8

����
��	
���������	����������
���
�������

��������������
��	
�����������������	����9�	������		����
��
����������:��	����;���9�	�������������
��	
�����������������	����9�	������		����
��
���������:����	;���9�	���<���������
��	
�����������������	����9�	������		����
��
�<�������:����� ��;���9�	���=+!���
��	
���������	�����������	���	���
�
��������:�����9�	���;��>)?&@�37A%B
C?*2')&B

DEFGEEH I����"
����� J�JKK LJ,L-K M���LNO-,P ��� Q�� =+! ���������� <��
	 +
	� +	� ,RS , +��������,���,����,���	��� ,���,����,� T U D V WX. $'?Y�Z?4% [0\% ]$ .?2% .̂ _ 304% 5%6%)027 37A% _%?2@%) 0̀a@201a $'?Y /̂/ b102& C?*2')



�����������	
�������	��������	����
������������	��������	����
��������������	����	��������	����
�����������������	����	��������	����
������������	��������	����
��������	���
�������	����	��������	����
�������	��������	���	��������	����
��� �����������	
��	��������	����
��� ��������	�������	���	��������	����
��������������!��	��������	����
���"�����
	��	��������	����
���#���$���%����	��������	����
���&����������	����	��������	����
��



�����������	�
������������
���������������������	������������	���	�������������	������������ !�"�#���$%�%&�� '()*+)�,+-��'.�/012��1�345�2617�89�����:;� <2���2�2=:>��;>?&:��@�&AB��:A?
C�D����E4�F:�����
����@	���	�����	��;	�	

GHH�I� JKL�MKNK�OPHPG

CQ3RST�U�CV(�W�+X��34YW4Z+)RV()Y45�V��TV[�D)\�)�X



���������	
��	
	
 �����������������	
��	
	

���������� ������������������ ���� ���� ���� �������

���  !"#$%& '(&)*!�+!,(-*! .&)*!�%/� !"#$%&01!23$34/&5!"/$!&# '(#!67(8! 9"-:(&) ;3,!/�%/�&%3�-%#!#� � � � � � �

���������� 	
�� 	
�< 	
�= 	
�> 	
	
 ?��@�A��BC������� !"#�;& � � � � � �D�E'(&)*!�+!,(-*! � � � � � ��D�E.&)*! � � � � � ��D�E !"#�;&01!23�F4/& � � � � � ��D�E5!"/�G&# � � � � � ��D�E5!"#�G&#�1!23 � � � � � �D�E5!"/�G&#�5(),3 � � � � � �D�EF%3"*�H/"6,!6 � � � � � ���D�E
�������������� 	
�� 	
�< 	
�= 	
�> 	
	
 ?��@�A��BC�������I"3"* � � � � � ��D�E'!/(%46�J&K4/L � � � � � �D�E;3,!/�J&K4/L � � � � � ��D�EM/%8!/3L�N"O")!;&*L � � � � � ��D�EF%3"*�H/"6,!6 � � � � � ���D�E



���������	
������
�
���������� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� �����
�������������� !"�# $##%!�& ' ' ' ' ' '(')��� !"�# ��*+ ' ' ' ' ' '('),*-.�/0 ' ' ' ' ' '(')$&1 234/./%"/ ' ' 5 ' ' 5'(')6%&*7�82*!1 ! 5 9 : : ' 5''(')

���������	
������
� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� �����
������������; �<7�01&�;=//�/0 ' ' ' ' ' '(')>*/ �? #*2&=2 5 ' ' ' ' 5'(')@7-%1%7 ' ' ' 5 ' 5'(')?2=0! ' ' ' ' ' '(')?  2 ' 5 ' ' ' 5'(')62*�/ ' ' ' ' ' '(')8%++ 2-�*7�62=-.3,=! ' 5 ' ' ' 5'(')�-1%%7�,=! ' 5 ' ' ' 5'(')A+ 20 /-B�C 1�-7 ' ' ' ' ' '(')D%&%2-B-7 ' ' ' 5 ' 5'(')



���������	
������
� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� �����
����������������� �!�"#� $ % & & $ '$($)*#�+�,#�� $ $ $ $ $ $($)-�.� ��"/� $ $ $ $ $ $($)0"!1!2" � $ $ $ $ $ $($)3" !��/!��.�3�"4�� $ $ $ 5 $ 5$($)62.���3�"4���789�/�.�#2.��: $ 5 5 $ $ &$($);#<�=�3�"4���758��#�&%: 5 5 & & $ 8$($)



��������	
 ���������������������������������������	���������������� !"#��"�$%&"'(����)��������&������� 	����*�)�&������+���,�� � ���� -./���012��34�567	7&����� ���� 389:19�012��34�765��;����<�� =7���7	7
>�?����@/�A

&�������BC�"�+���C
&��������� ��������

DEE�F� GHI�JHKH�LMEMD

>NOPQR�S�>T8�.�1U��O/V./W19PT89V/X�T��RTY�?9Z�9�U



���������	
�
�������� �������� �������� �������� ���������� �� ! "#$%&
��'(�)*+$��
������ �������� �������� �������� ���������� �
�����
�����,�-
./0�1�1 � 2��3���4� �56/7���8�9 � 2��3�2679� �:��1�!/ � 5;6<��5�=� �:��1���4� � 5;6<��!<< ��/7�� > ��0?6/7 �2��3�@/1 � !�9�3A./?/�;/ �������B
��C�

����� ������� ������� ������� � !����
D>"

	
��E�F



����������	
�������������������������

�������  !"#$%�&$'( )*+�) ,)�,�- .��/01��+ 2!� -34 5
�$6$� 7�8�$ 9�$�: 	�;�"8!# 	:; 1� 1 <���=��=  !"#$%�&$'( )*+�+ ,)�,�- 7�8�>01��+ ?:" ���4 @	A 7�8�$ 9�B�(; 	�;�"8!# 	:; � 1 ?<C���D�D=  !"#$%�&$'( )*+�) ,)�,�- AE#1>01��+ F�# +34 @	A F"�8�$6$!* 9�$�: 	�:& 	:; +G � 	�D�HI�� '��;��%�&$'( +*)1/ ,)+��) AE#��01��> 2!� )34 @	A '$�:
$�( 9�B�(; 	�;�"8!# 	:; - 1 ?<C��H���D  !"#$%�&$'( )*+�> ,)�,�- 	$EG01��> 2�$ )34 5
�$6$� A#!$: 9�$�: 	�;�"8!# 	:; G> ) <C���H�D�  !"#$%�&$'( )*+�> ,)�,�- 7�8�-01��, 2!� G34 @	A 7�8�$ 9�$�: 	�;�"8!# 	:; - 1 <C����=D�  !"#$%�&$'( )*+�+ ,)�,�- 7�8)01��, F�# /34 ?�#�� 7�8�$ 9�$�: 	�;�"8!# 	:; � 1 7J<�C�H�DH�� '��;��%�&$'( +*)�� ,)+��) 73:��01��/ F�� ���4 9
�$6$� F"�8�$6$!* F�BK 	�;�"8!# <E; +G � %C��H���� '��;��%�&$'( +*)1/ ,)+��) ?$L�G01��+ 2�$ +�4 @	A J$�(
�$M# 9�$�: 	�K� 	:; - 1 <��HH��= '��;��%�&$'( +*)1- ,)+��) ��:101��+ 2!� >�4 @	A 7�8�$ 9�$�: 	�;�"8!# <E; � 1 9<FF!BK"�8�#B��BM��$�#:"$N �
��BM�� O P � Q R

S� ��TUVT�� W�X� Y� �T�� �Z[ ���� \�]����̂ �̂_� [�T�̀�� a�b̀���b ��TU Z�� c���� dT����



�����������	
��������
�����������	���	����	������������������������
�����������������	
�����
�������
���
������	
�����
��������
���
����������	���	
�����������
��
������	
�����
	�������
�	�
	������	
�� ��
	�������
�	�
	����������	���	
�����
	�	������
�	�
	�����	�����	���	
����������
�����
������������
�����	�������	
����������������
���������������������	�������	
����
��������
� 
����������	
���!��	������	��	����������	
����������
��������������������	
������� ��������������������	
���"��������	��
��	�����������������	
���#������	��������������	
���$���$%�����������������������	
���&�������	����	���	��������������	
���'����	�����������������	
����������	
�����	���	��������������	
���(������	��������������������	
���
)����
������
	�	���������������	
���%������	�������������������	
���*��������	�
���������������	
�������	��������	��������������������	
�������������� ����������������	
���+���	
����������������	
���,�����	�-�����������������	
���.����������	���	��������������	
��

/0102345�&

����
��	
���������	����������
���
�������

��������������
��	
�����������������	����6�	������		����
��
����������7��	����8���6�	�������������
��	
�����������������	����6�	������		����
��
���������7����	8���6�	���"���������
��	
�����������������	����6�	������		����
��
�"�������7����� ��8���6�	���*#!���
��	
���������	�����������	���	���
�
��������7�����6�	���8��92:;<�=5>0?
@:A4B2;?



Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix ‐ C 

EXISTING CONDITION  

SYNCHRO RESULTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Lake Urban Crossing Existing Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 Existing Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Future Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 71 363 47 18 60 17 8 24 21 46
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 77 0 0 410 0 0 667 69 666 387
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 105 - 529 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 562 - 137 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1522 - - 1149 - - 372 994 373 661
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 901 - 533 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 512 - 866 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1522 - - 1149 - - 312 994 320 661
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 312 - 320 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 846 - 500 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 429 - 793 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 1.6 10.2 12.8
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 526 1522 - - 1149 - - 738
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.126 0.046 - - 0.016 - - 0.065
HCM Control Delay (s) 12.8 7.5 0 - 8.2 0 - 10.2
HCM Lane LOS B A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 0.1 - - 0 - - 0.2



Lake Urban Crossing Existing Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 Existing Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Future Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 149 51 25 165 32 22
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 200 0 390 175
          Stage 1 - - - - 175 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 215 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1372 - 614 868
          Stage 1 - - - - 855 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 821 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1372 - 602 868
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 602 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 855 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 805 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1 10.7
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 688 - - 1372 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.077 - - 0.018 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.7 - - 7.7 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing Existing Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 Existing Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Future Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 48 262 34 47 301 40 17 25 17 15
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 341 0 0 296 0 0 806 321 835 279
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 415 - 375 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 391 - 460 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1218 - - 1265 - - 300 720 287 760
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 615 - 646 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 633 - 581 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1218 - - 1265 - - 262 720 227 760
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 262 - 227 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 586 - 616 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 575 - 483 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 1 13 14.7
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 402 1218 - - 1265 - - 528
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.078 0.04 - - 0.037 - - 0.153
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.7 8.1 0 - 8 0 - 13
HCM Lane LOS B A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 0.1 - - 0.1 - - 0.5



Lake Urban Crossing Existing Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 Existing Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.6

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Future Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 278 48 20 315 36 48
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 326 0 657 302
          Stage 1 - - - - 302 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 355 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1234 - 430 738
          Stage 1 - - - - 750 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 710 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1234 - 421 738
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 421 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 750 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 696 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.5 12.6
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 558 - - 1234 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.15 - - 0.016 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 12.6 - - 8 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - - 0 -



Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix ‐ D 

BACKGROUND CONDITIONS  

SYNCHRO RESULTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Background Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2024 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Future Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 77 396 51 20 65 19 8 26 23 50
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 84 0 0 447 0 0 727 75 726 422
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 115 - 576 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 612 - 150 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1513 - - 1113 - - 339 986 340 632
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 890 - 503 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 480 - 853 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1513 - - 1113 - - 277 986 285 632
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 277 - 285 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 829 - 469 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 392 - 773 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 1.6 10.5 13.6
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 493 1513 - - 1113 - - 701
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.147 0.051 - - 0.018 - - 0.074
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.6 7.5 0 - 8.3 0 - 10.5
HCM Lane LOS B A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.2



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Background Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2024 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Future Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 162 56 27 180 34 24
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 218 0 424 190
          Stage 1 - - - - 190 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 234 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1352 - 587 852
          Stage 1 - - - - 842 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 805 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1352 - 574 852
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 574 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 842 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 787 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1 11
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 662 - - 1352 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.088 - - 0.02 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11 - - 7.7 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Background Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2024 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Future Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 53 285 37 51 328 44 18 27 18 16
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 372 0 0 322 0 0 879 350 911 304
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 452 - 410 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 427 - 501 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1186 - - 1238 - - 268 693 255 736
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 587 - 619 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 606 - 552 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1186 - - 1238 - - 228 693 194 736
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 228 - 194 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 555 - 585 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 542 - 447 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 1 14 15.9
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 365 1186 - - 1238 - - 486
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.094 0.044 - - 0.042 - - 0.181
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.9 8.2 0 - 8 0 - 14
HCM Lane LOS C A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 0.1 - - 0.1 - - 0.7



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Background Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2024 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Future Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 303 52 21 344 39 52
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 355 0 715 329
          Stage 1 - - - - 329 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 386 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1204 - 397 712
          Stage 1 - - - - 729 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 687 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1204 - 388 712
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 388 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 729 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 672 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.5 13.3
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 524 - - 1204 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.174 - - 0.018 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.3 - - 8 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Future Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 84 432 56 22 71 21 9 28 25 54
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 92 0 0 488 0 0 794 82 792 460
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 126 - 628 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 668 - 164 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1503 - - 1075 - - 306 978 307 601
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 878 - 471 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 448 - 838 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1503 - - 1075 - - 242 978 251 601
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 242 - 251 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 810 - 435 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 355 - 751 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 1.6 11 14.5
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 459 1503 - - 1075 - - 659
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.172 0.056 - - 0.02 - - 0.086
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.5 7.5 0 - 8.4 0 - 11
HCM Lane LOS B A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.3



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Future Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 177 61 30 197 38 26
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 238 0 465 208
          Stage 1 - - - - 208 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 257 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1329 - 556 832
          Stage 1 - - - - 827 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 786 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1329 - 542 832
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 542 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 827 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 766 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1 11.3
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 632 - - 1329 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.1 - - 0.022 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.3 - - 7.8 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Future Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 57 312 40 56 358 48 20 29 20 17
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 406 0 0 352 0 0 959 382 993 332
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 494 - 446 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 465 - 547 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1153 - - 1207 - - 237 665 224 710
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 557 - 591 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 578 - 521 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1153 - - 1207 - - 196 665 163 710
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 196 - 163 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 522 - 554 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 509 - 409 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.2 1 15.3 17.3
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 330 1153 - - 1207 - - 444
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.113 0.05 - - 0.047 - - 0.217
HCM Control Delay (s) 17.3 8.3 0 - 8.1 0 - 15.3
HCM Lane LOS C A A - A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.8



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Future Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 331 57 23 375 43 57
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 388 0 781 360
          Stage 1 - - - - 360 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 421 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1170 - 363 684
          Stage 1 - - - - 706 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 662 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1170 - 354 684
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 354 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 706 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 645 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.5 14.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 489 - - 1170 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.204 - - 0.02 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.2 - - 8.1 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Appendix ‐ E 

BUILDOUT CONDITION  

SYNCHRO RESULTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition
2: Runyan Lk Rd & Phase 1 Drive Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 100 0 0 66
Future Vol, veh/h 17 2 100 5 1 66
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 20 2 118 6 1 78
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 201 121 0 0 124 0
          Stage 1 121 - - - - -
          Stage 2 80 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 788 930 - - 1463 -
          Stage 1 904 - - - - -
          Stage 2 943 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 787 930 - - 1463 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 787 - - - - -
          Stage 1 904 - - - - -
          Stage 2 942 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.6 0 0.1
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 800 1463 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.028 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.6 7.5 0
HCM Lane LOS - - A A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.1 0 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lk Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Future Vol, veh/h 67 334 43 17 55 19 19 24 19 42
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 79 396 51 20 65 23 23 28 23 50
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 88 0 0 447 0 0 733 77 734 422
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 117 - 580 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 616 - 154 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1508 - - 1113 - - 336 984 336 632
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 888 - 500 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 478 - 848 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1508 - - 1113 - - 274 984 279 632
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 274 - 279 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 826 - 465 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 390 - 763 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 1.5 12.7 13.6
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 490 1508 - - 1113 - - 536
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.147 0.053 - - 0.018 - - 0.13
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.6 7.5 0 - 8.3 0 - 12.7
HCM Lane LOS B A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.4



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lk Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Future Vol, veh/h 146 50 23 154 30 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 173 59 27 182 36 24
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 232 0 439 203
          Stage 1 - - - - 203 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 236 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1336 - 575 838
          Stage 1 - - - - 831 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 803 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1336 - 562 838
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 562 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 831 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 785 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1 11.1
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 647 - - 1336 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.092 - - 0.02 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.1 - - 7.8 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition
2: Runyan Lk Rd & Phase 1 Drive Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 94 0 94
Future Vol, veh/h 9 1 0 112 2 94
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 11 1 0 133 2 111
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 182 67 0 0 133 0
          Stage 1 67 - - - - -
          Stage 2 115 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 807 997 - - 1452 -
          Stage 1 956 - - - - -
          Stage 2 910 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 806 997 - - 1452 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 806 - - - - -
          Stage 1 956 - - - - -
          Stage 2 909 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.4 0 0.2
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 822 1452 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.014 0.002 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.4 7.5 0
HCM Lane LOS - - A A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0 0 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lk Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Future Vol, veh/h 51 233 30 42 268 45 19 23 16 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 60 276 36 50 318 53 23 27 19 15
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 371 0 0 312 0 0 876 345 908 294
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 445 - 414 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 431 - 494 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1188 - - 1248 - - 269 698 256 745
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 592 - 616 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 603 - 557 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1188 - - 1248 - - 228 698 194 745
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 228 - 194 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 556 - 578 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 536 - 450 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.3 0.9 14.6 16.1
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 359 1188 - - 1248 - - 469
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.096 0.051 - - 0.04 - - 0.202
HCM Control Delay (s) 16.1 8.2 0 - 8 0 - 14.6
HCM Lane LOS C A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.7



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lk Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Future Vol, veh/h 259 45 18 297 35 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 307 53 21 352 41 52
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 360 0 728 334
          Stage 1 - - - - 334 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 394 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1199 - 390 708
          Stage 1 - - - - 725 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 681 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1199 - 381 708
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 381 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 725 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 666 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.5 13.6
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 513 - - 1199 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.182 - - 0.018 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.6 - - 8.1 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Future Vol, veh/h 65 334 43 17 55 16 7 22 19 42
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 84 432 56 22 71 21 9 28 25 54
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 92 0 0 488 0 0 794 82 792 460
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 126 - 628 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 668 - 164 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1503 - - 1075 - - 306 978 307 601
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 878 - 471 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 448 - 838 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1503 - - 1075 - - 242 978 251 601
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 242 - 251 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 810 - 435 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 355 - 751 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 1.6 11 14.5
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 459 1503 - - 1075 - - 659
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.172 0.056 - - 0.02 - - 0.086
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.5 7.5 0 - 8.4 0 - 11
HCM Lane LOS B A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.3



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: AM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  7:15 am 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Future Vol, veh/h 137 47 23 152 29 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 177 61 30 197 38 26
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 238 0 465 208
          Stage 1 - - - - 208 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 257 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1329 - 556 832
          Stage 1 - - - - 827 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 786 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1329 - 542 832
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 542 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 827 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 766 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1 11.3
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 632 - - 1329 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.1 - - 0.022 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.3 - - 7.8 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
3: Runyan Lk Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBL SBR NEL NER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Future Vol, veh/h 43 233 30 42 268 36 15 22 15 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 57 312 40 56 358 48 20 29 20 17
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 406 0 0 352 0 0 959 382 993 332
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 494 - 446 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 465 - 547 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.22 7.12 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 - 6.12 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 3.318 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1153 - - 1207 - - 237 665 224 710
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 557 - 591 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 578 - 521 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1153 - - 1207 - - 196 665 163 710
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 196 - 163 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 522 - 554 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 509 - 409 -
 

Approach EB WB SB NE
HCM Control Delay, s 1.2 1 15.3 17.3
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NELn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 330 1153 - - 1207 - - 444
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.113 0.05 - - 0.047 - - 0.217
HCM Control Delay (s) 17.3 8.3 0 - 8.1 0 - 15.3
HCM Lane LOS C A A - A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.8



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Background Condition
6: Carmer Rd & White Lake Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak

Lake Urban Crossing  5:15 pm 11/10/2021 2027 Background Condition Synchro 9 Report
C&AE Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Future Vol, veh/h 256 44 18 290 33 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 331 57 23 375 43 57
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 388 0 781 360
          Stage 1 - - - - 360 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 421 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1170 - 363 684
          Stage 1 - - - - 706 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 662 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1170 - 354 684
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 354 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 706 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 645 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.5 14.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 489 - - 1170 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.204 - - 0.02 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.2 - - 8.1 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - 0.1 -



Lake Urban Crossing PUD  
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix – F 

TRIP GENERATION, DISTRIBUTION  

AND  

ASSIGNMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition

Timing Plan: AM Peak

1 Driveway 1 (Node 11)Driveway:

Development: phase 1

Distribution % Trips Distribution % Trips
RouteOrigin #

FromTo

1 Origin 1 (Node 8) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 10.00 1 10.00 2

2 Origin 2 (Node 4) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 32.57 2 14.07 3

3 Origin 3 (Node 1) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 6.60 0 8.37 2

4 Origin 4 (Node 7) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 10.07 1 17.87 3

5 Origin 5 (Node 5) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 40.76 2 49.70 9

Lake Urban Crossing  11/10/2021 AM Peak 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report

C&AE 1Page



Lake Urban Crossing 2024 Build Condition

Timing Plan: PM Peak

1 Driveway 1 (Node 11)Driveway:

Development: Phase 1

Distribution % Trips Distribution % Trips
RouteOrigin #

FromTo

1 Origin 1 (Node 8) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 10.00 2 10.00 1

2 Origin 2 (Node 4) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 40.78 8 43.48 4

3 Origin 3 (Node 1) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 3.76 1 5.20 1

4 Origin 4 (Node 7) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 8.27 2 10.40 1

5 Origin 5 (Node 5) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 37.19 7 30.92 3

Lake Urban Crossing  11/10/2021 PM Peak 2024 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report

C&AE 1Page



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Build Condition

Timing Plan: AM Peak

1 Driveway 1 (Node 11)Driveway:

Development: phase 1

Distribution % Trips Distribution % Trips
RouteOrigin #

FromTo

1 Origin 1 (Node 8) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 10.00 1 10.00 2

2 Origin 2 (Node 4) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 32.57 2 14.07 3

3 Origin 3 (Node 1) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 6.60 0 8.37 2

4 Origin 4 (Node 7) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 10.07 1 17.87 3

5 Origin 5 (Node 5) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 40.76 2 49.70 9

1 Driveway 1 (Node 10)Driveway:

Development: Phase 2

Distribution % Trips Distribution % Trips
RouteOrigin #

FromTo

1 Origin 1 (Node 8) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 14.29 1 11.28 2

2 Origin 2 (Node 4) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 42.29 2 38.21 6

3 Origin 3 (Node 1) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 9.09 0 8.72 1

4 Origin 4 (Node 7) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 4.33 0 11.79 2

5 Origin 5 (Node 5) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 30.00 2 30.00 5

Lake Urban Crossing  11/10/2021 AM Peak 2027 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report

C&AE 1Page



Lake Urban Crossing 2027 Build Condition

Timing Plan: PM Peak

1 Driveway 1 (Node 11)Driveway:

Development: Phase 1

Distribution % Trips Distribution % Trips
RouteOrigin #

FromTo

1 Origin 1 (Node 8) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 10.00 2 10.00 1

2 Origin 2 (Node 4) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 40.78 8 43.48 4

3 Origin 3 (Node 1) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 3.76 1 5.20 1

4 Origin 4 (Node 7) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 8.27 2 10.40 1

5 Origin 5 (Node 5) to Driveway 1 (Node 11) 37.19 7 30.92 3

1 Driveway 1 (Node 10)Driveway:

Development: Phase 2

Distribution % Trips Distribution % Trips
RouteOrigin #

FromTo

1 Origin 1 (Node 8) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 14.48 2 10.00 1

2 Origin 2 (Node 4) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 40.68 7 41.71 4

3 Origin 3 (Node 1) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 3.39 1 12.80 1

4 Origin 4 (Node 7) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 11.46 2 5.49 0

5 Origin 5 (Node 5) to Driveway 1 (Node 10) 30.00 5 30.00 3

Lake Urban Crossing  11/10/2021 PM Peak 2027 Build Condition Synchro 9 Report

C&AE 1Page



TYRONE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING SYNOPSIS 

August 10, 2021  7:00 p.m. 

 

Note: This meeting was held at the Tyrone Township Hall 

Note: This meeting was recessed at 7:30 pm for a public hearing 

 

PRESENT: Kurt Schulze, Jon Ward, Dan Stickel, and Rich Erickson 

 

ABSENT: Perry Green, Steve Krause, and Bill Wood  
 

OTHERS PRESENT: Ross Nicholson  

 

CALL TO ORDER:  The meeting was called to order at 7:05 pm by Chairman Stickel. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  Chairman Stickel asked if there were any public comments not 

relating to an item on the agenda.  Several public comments were received. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Approved as presented. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:  

1) 04/13/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes: Approved as presented. 

2) 05/11/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes: Approved as presented. 

 

OLD BUSINESS:  

1) Lake Urban Crossing Preliminary PUD:  The Planning Commission brought up the 

application documents and latest site plan up on the overhead screens.  The applicant and 

authorized agent provided the Planning Commission and public in attendance with an 

overview and summary of their proposal.  The Planning Commission briefly discussed 

the application.  Chairman Stickel recessed the regular meeting and held a public hearing 

beginning at 7:31 pm to receive public comments regarding the proposed preliminary 

Planned Unit Development application.  Public comments were received regarding 

concerns about potential impacts to property values, wildlife/environment, traffic, road 

conditions, stormwater runoff, loss of rural character, expansion of the public sanitary 

sewer system, etc...  The public hearing was closed at 8:54 pm.  Chairman Stickel 

resumed the regular meeting.  No action was taken. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

1) Vale Royal Barn Special Land Use Amendment: The item was deferred. 

 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  Several public comments were received. 



 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS:  

 

ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 9:04 by Chairman Stickel. 



TYRONE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING SYNOPSIS 

November 30, 2021   7:00 p.m. 

Note: This meeting was held at the Tyrone Township Hall  

And via remote access (Zoom) 

 

PRESENT: Kurt Schulze, Rich Erickson, Steve Krause, Garrett Ladd, and Chet Shultz 

 

ABSENT: Jon Ward (present via Zoom) and Bill Wood  
 

OTHERS PRESENT: Ross Nicholson and Zach Michels  

 

CALL TO ORDER:  The meeting was called to order at 7:00 by Chairman Erickson. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  

 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC: The Planning Commission heard several questions and comments 

from members of the public. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Approved as presented. 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:  

1) 06/08/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes: Approved as presented. 

2) 07/13/2021 Regular Meeting and Public Hearing Minutes: Approved as presented. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

1) Lake Urban Crossing Preliminary PUD Plan: Zach Michels read through the latest 

review letter he had prepared for the application. The Planning Commission discussed the 

application. The Planning Commission recommended Township Board approval of the 

preliminary PUD plan with conditions.  

 

2) Master Plan Discussion: Zach Michels read through and elaborated on a document he 

had prepared designed to outline the master planning process and aid the Planning 

Commission.  The Planning Commission discussed and provided direction to Zach 

Michels.  It was determined that Master Plan discussion will be included on each regular 

meeting agenda moving forward until the process has been completed. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

1) Niemi Shared Private Driveway: Zach Michels read through the latest review letter he 

had prepared for the application. The Planning Commission discussed the application. 

The Planning Commission provided direction to the applicant.  The Planning 

Commission recommended scheduling the public hearing for the application.  No action 

was taken.  

 



CALL TO THE PUBLIC: The Planning Commission heard several questions and comments 

from members of the public. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS: Zach Michels took a few moments to touch on several topics 

discussed earlier in the meeting. 

 

ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 9:33 by Chairman Erickson. 



NEW BUSINESS #1 
 

Speaker Larry Gawthrop, CFAO, Mott Community 
College. 

 
 



Lawrence Gawthrop 

• Chief Financial & Administrative Officer - 

CFAO 

• Chief Financial Officer 

•  larry.gawthrop@mcc.edu 
 

 

 
Primary areas of responsibility: 

• Financial management leadership for the College 

o Oversight of all accounting and budgeting functions — general ledger, accounts payable 

and receivable, grant fiscal management, accounting for Foundation for MCC , Bruin 

Club and other outside agencies 

o Cash and investment decisions 

o Debt management; Bond Issuance 

o Budget planning and integration of strategic plans with resource allocation 

o Long and short-term financial forecasting 

o Oversight of internal and external audits 

o Cost and revenue analyses of current and proposed activities 

o Monthly Financial Reporting to Board and Subcommittees 

o Ensure compliance with regulatory, contractual, and accounting standards 

 



NEW BUSINESS #2 
 

Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
 



1

Terri Medor

From: Ross Nicholson

Sent: Wednesday, January 12, 2022 1:46 PM

To: Marcella Husted; Terri Medor

Cc: Karie Carter; Planning Chair; Richard Erickson; Marian Krause; kaschulze@charter.net

Subject: Agenda Request Niemi Shared Private Driveway 

Attachments: Niemi Shared Private Driveway Rec for Approval 1-12-22.pdf; PC Meeting and PH 

Synopsis 01-11-2022.docx; Niemi SPD.pdf; Niemi Shared Driveway Planning Report 

(11042021).pdf; NIEMI Contours 2ft.pdf; Driveway.zip; Tyrone Twp letter (Mark 

Niemi).docx; Shared Private Driveway Maintenance Agreement.docx

Importance: High

Marcie & Terri, 

 

I have attached the letter of recommendation and supporting documents for a proposed shared private driveway as part 

of a proposed land division of Parcel # 4704-21-100-010 (located near the end of Indian View Trail on the west side 

abutting the cul-de-sac).  The subject property is ~10-acres, zoned FR.  The proposed land division would result in two 

new ~5-acre parcels, both taking access from the proposed shared private driveway. 

 

The required public hearing for the application was held on 01/11/2022 at 7:30 pm.  During the same meeting, the 

Planning Commission moved to recommend approval of the proposed shared private driveway with two conditions 

(motion below).  I have included notes below for clarification of the conditions. 

 

Motion (notes in red): 

Steve Krause made a motion to recommend Township Board approval of the Niemi Shared Private Driveway application 

with the following conditions: 

-The maintenance agreement must be provided in a recordable format.   

The Planning Commission has not requested any additional revisions to the content of the maintenance 

agreement.  They requested that the applicant verify with the Livingston County Register of Deeds that the attached 

version can be accepted and recorded OR make any required formatting revisions and submit to the Township prior to 

recording.  Verification that the maintenance agreement is in recordable format is required as part of the land division 

application.  If approved, the maintenance agreement must be recorded concurrent with the survey for the land 

division. 

-The applicant must comply with the request from the City of Fenton Fire Chief dated 11/23/2021 (as follows): “all 

addresses that are serviced by the private drive be marked with appropriate signage at the road. Additionally at every 

drive off the sharded driveway each address should be identified. ” 

If the Board grants approval of the proposed shared private driveway, the motion should include this condition as it 

cannot be completed until both resulting parcels have been issued addresses (addresses may only be issued following 

approval of the land use permits for construction of single-family dwellings on each parcel).  The letter from Chief 

Cairnduff is attached to this email for reference. 

Jon Ward supported the motion.  Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 



2

Attachments: 

1. Recommendation Letter 

2. Synopsis from the 01/11/2022 Planning Commission meeting and public hearing 

3. Original shared private driveway application  

4. Latest CWA review letter for shared private driveway application 

5. GIS approximate elevation contours for the subject property  

6. Shared private driveway plans and cross-section drawing (Zipped- 2 files) 

7. 11/23/2021 Letter from Chief Cairnduff (City of Fenton Fire Department) 

8. Latest shared private driveway maintenance agreement (content OK, reformatting may be required) 

Please let me know if you require any additional information prior to placing on the Board agenda.   

 

Best regards, 

 

Ross Nicholson 
Planning & Zoning Administrator 

 
    Tyrone Township 
    8420 Runyan Lake Rd. 
    Fenton, MI 48430 
    phone: (810) 629-8631 
    fax: (810) 629-0047 

 

 

  www.tyronetownship.us 

 
Notice: This email, including any attachments, is covered by Electronic Communication Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C. 2510-2521, is confidential and may be legally 

privileged.  If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any retention, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly 

prohibited.  Please reply to the sender if you have received this message in error and destroy all copies of the original message.  

 



 

 

Township Board 

Tyrone Township 

8420 Runyan Lake Road 

Fenton, MI 48430 
 

Subject:  Agenda Request, Niemi Shared Private Driveway Recommendation for 

Approval 

Dear Township Board Members:  

At our Planning Commission meeting held 1/11/2022 the Planning Commission 
supported a favorable recommendation of the Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
Application 

Motion: 

Steve Krause made a motion to recommend Township Board approval of the 
Niemi Shared Private Driveway application with the following conditions: 

-The maintenance agreement must be provided in a recordable format 

-The applicant must comply with the request from the City of Fenton Fire Chief 
dated 11/23/2021 (as follows): “all addresses that are serviced by the private 
drive be marked with appropriate signage at the road. Additionally at every drive 
off the sharded driveway each address should be identified.” 

Jon Ward supported the motion.  Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 

Item of Note: 

Mr. Robert Cairnduff in his letter dated 11/23/2021 also stated: “There is not a 

sufficient water source in the area that would make a dry hydrant possible. The 

access provided on Indian View Trail and the turn around at the end of the road 

make access for our fire trucks possible.” 

 

Regards, 

 

Chairman -Tyrone Township Planning Commission 



TYRONE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING SYNOPSIS 

January 11, 2022  7:00 p.m. 

 

Note: This meeting was held at the Tyrone Township Hall with remote access via Zoom 

Videoconferencing. 

Note: This meeting was recessed at 7:30 pm for a public hearing. 

 

PRESENT: Kurt Schulze, Jon Ward, Steve Krause, and Rich Erickson 

 

ABSENT: Bill Wood, Chet Schultz, and Garrett Ladd 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: Ross Nicholson and Zach Michels (CWA) 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm  

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  Several public comments were received. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  New Business item #2 (Private Road Standards) was 

moved ahead of all other business items. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:  

1) 08/10/2021 Regular Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes: Approved as amended. 

 

2) 08/18/2021 Regular Meeting Minutes: Approved as presented. 

 

NEW BUSINESS #2:  Private Road Standards 

 

The Planning Commission briefly discussed a request from the Runyan Lake Heights 

Association to consider partial paving of a private road within the subdivision.  Zach Michels 

indicated that the Zoning Ordinance allows for modifications of private road standards for safety 

purposes.  The Planning Commission briefly discussed what information they would need from 

the Association to consider the request.  The Planning Commission determined that they would 

need plans and a written description in accordance with the standards in Article 24 of the Zoning 

Ordinance to make a determination.  No action was taken. 

 

The regular meeting was recessed at 7:30 pm to hold the scheduled public hearing. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING #1:  Niemi Shared Private Driveway  

 



Zach Michels summarized the application and read through the review letter.  The Planning 

Commission briefly discussed the application.  A public comment was received.   

 

PUBLIC HEARING #2:  Sultani Caregiver Special Land Use 

 

Zach Michels summarized the application and read through the review letter.  The Planning 

Commission briefly discussed the application.  A number of public comments were received. 

 

OLD BUSINESS #1:  Niemi Shared Private Driveway 

 

The Planning Commission briefly discussed the application documents.  The Planning 

Commission recommended Township Board approval with conditions. 

 

OLD BUSINESS #2:  Master Plan 

 

The Planning Commission discussed possible survey options for the master planning process.  It 

was determined that the primary focus of the next workshop meeting would be to focus on 

master plan survey questions and timelines for the master planning process. 

 

NEW BUSINESS #1:  Sultani Caregiver Special Land Use 

 

The Planning Commission discussed the application amongst themselves and the applicants.  

They provided direction to the applicants/agents, requesting additional information and revisions 

to the site plan.  The item was tabled pending the receipt of the requested information. 

 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  Several public comments were received. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS:  

 

Next Workshop Meeting:  The next Workshop meeting was scheduled for Wednesday, 

01/19/2022, beginning at 6:00 pm. 

 

ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 9:44 pm. 



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President   Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President   John L. Enos, Principal 

David Scurto, Principal   Benjamin R. Carlisle, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal   Craig Strong, Principal   R. Donald Wortman, Principal 

Laura K. Kreps, Senior Associate   Paul Montagno, Senior Associate, Megan Masson-Minock, Senior Associate 

November 4, 2021 
 

Shared Private Driveway Review 

for 

Tyrone Township, Michigan 
 

PETITION INTRODUCTION 
 
Applicant: Mark Niemi (agent) 

Owner: Mark Niemi 

Plan Date: May 14, 2021 (survey) 

Request: Shared private driveway  
 
 

PETITION DESCRIPTION 

 
The applicant is requesting approval of a shared private driveway to provide access for a proposed land 
division.   
 
Shared private driveways can provide access for up to 4 single-family lots, site condominium units, or 
non-residential principal buildings and can have a maximum length of up to 1,200 feet.   
 
The proposed shared private driveway could provide access for up to 2 lots.  
 
The proposed shared private driveway would have access from Indian View, an existing private road.  
Indian View connects with Center to the north. 
 
The Zoning Ordinance outlines the process and design standards for shared private driveways and the 
process and limitations for the expansion (length or number of lots) of private roads, including shared 
private driveways connected to existing private roads. 
 
This review does not examine the proposed land division, but it should be noted that lot areas should 
exclude the shared private driveway easement. 
 
The application is not complete at this time, but the Planning Commission can provide some guidance to 
the applicant. 
 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
2 

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

 
Address: None 

Location: West of Indian View, south of Center 

Parcel Number: 04-21-100-010 

Lot Area: ~9.9 acres (gross)  

Frontage: ~428 feet  

Existing Land Use: Vacant/woodlands 

 
Aerial of the Site 
 

 
 
  



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
3 

ZONING 

 
The property is within the FR Farming Residential zoning district.  The intent of that district is below. 
 

Zoning per Zoning 
Map: 

 

FR Farming Residential 
The intent of the FR Farming Residential District is to protect lands best suited to 
agricultural uses from the encroachment of incompatible uses, while designating an 
area appropriate to the type of single family residential development that does not 
alter the general agricultural character of the district. Moreover, the intent also is to 
protect vital natural resources, including wetlands, inland lake water quality, 
groundwater supplies, fertile and stable soils, and significant stands of wood lots and 
vegetative cover. Lands in the FR rand RE District are not likely to be served with 
centralized public water and sewer facilities. 

 
Current Zoning Map 
 

 
 
Comments:  Although not directly a part of the shared private driveway application, the proposed 
properties appear generally consistent with the developmental standards of the FR Farming Residential 
zoning district.  Future surveys should describe both the gross and net lot area. 
 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP  

 
Future Land Use Map  Low Density Single Family Detached Residential 

This category will permit single family residential development at a density of 1.5 to 
3 acres per dwelling unit. This designation can be found in portions of the southeast 
part of the Township, where residential uses are appropriate but higher densities are 
not advisable due to infrastructure concerns.  

 
  

FR Farming 
Residential 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
4 

Future Land Use Map 
 

  
 
Comments:  Although not directly a part of the shared private driveway application, the proposed 
properties appear consistent with the Future Land Use Map.  

 
 

SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

 
The surrounding properties are primarily residential uses with a public use, as noted below.   
 

 North East South West 

Surrounding Zoning 
FR Farming 
Residential 

FR Farming 
Residential 

FR Farming 
Residential 

FR Farming 
Residential 

Surrounding Land Uses Houses Houses Houses Township Hall 

Future Land-Use Map  
Low Density Single 
Family Residential 

Low Density Single 
Family Residential 

Low Density Single 
Family Residential 

Low Density Single 
Family Residential, 
Public/Quasi Public 

 
 

PRIVATE ROAD EXPANSION 

 
The proposed shared private driveway will have access from an existing private road.   
 
The existing private road has a length of roughly 1,008 feet from Center Road to the north and provides 
access for 9 existing lots (10 lots following division). 
 
Limits are placed on the expansion of existing private roads, including physical extension of a private 
road (length), providing access to additional lots (number of lots), or the addition of shared private 
driveways with access from the private road. 
 

Low Density 
Residential 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
5 

A private road with a single access point can have a maximum length of 1,200 feet, including the length 
of any shared private driveways.  The Township can allow a greater length, if a dry hydrant system is 
installed.  (§24.03(G) Maximum Length and Units, Single Access Point) 
 
Private roads with a single access point can provide access for a maximum of 30 lots, including lots with 
shared private driveways from the private road.  The Township can reduce that number based on local 
conditions.  With the proposed division, Indian View would provide access to less than 30. 
 
Comments:  The proposed shared private driveway would result in a length of roughly 1,517 feet, which 
is greater than the 1,200 feet allowed (shared private driveway plus private road with a single access 
point).   
 
A longer distance may be approved by the Township Board, upon recommendation by the Planning 
Commission, if a dry hydrant system approved by the Township Engineer and fire department is installed.  
We recommend the Township consult with the fire department with jurisdiction in this area if it wishes to 
consider allowing a longer length. 
 

 

SHARED PRIVATE DRIVEWAY APPROVAL PROCESS 

 
The approval process for shared private driveways is outlined in §24.05 Shared Private Driveway and 
Access Easement Approval Requirements. 
 
The Planning Commission holds a public hearing and provides a recommendation to the Township 
Board.  The applicant may be directed to provide additional information deemed necessary to review 
the application. 
 
An applicant must provide a site plan/engineering plan of the proposed shared private driveway, as 
outlined in §24.05(J) Review Process, and a maintenance agreement, as outlined in §24.05(B) 
Maintenance Agreement and 24.02(C) Maintenance Agreement.   
 
Comments:  It is difficult to provide comment on the current sketch that has been provided, as it does not 
include most of the information that should be included in a shared private driveway plan.  A plan should 
be provided that includes at least the basic information to provide further guidance. 
 
The draft maintenance agreement that has been provided does not appear to be in a recordable form 
nor does it appear to clearly address access rights or limits or location of utilities within the easement.   
 
We defer comment on details of the maintenance agreement to the Township attorney.  
 

 

SHARED PRIVATE DRIVEWAY DESIGN STANDARDS 

 
Design standards for shared private driveways are outlined in §24.06 Shared Private Driveway and 
Access Easement Design Standards of the Zoning Ordinance and are examined below.  The Planning 
Commission may recommend approval of a modified shared private driveway design standard where it 
can be demonstrated that the modified standard meets safety and sound engineering requirements. 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
6 

A. Design of Shared Private Driveways.  A shared private driveway shall be designed and constructed 
consistent with the standards adopted herein and by the Livingston County Road Commission standards 
for public roads except the requirement for bituminous pavement as modified in this Article by Tyrone 
Township.  In the event of conflict between standards, the higher standard, as determined by the 
Planning Commission, shall prevail.  The design of a shared private driveway shall be subject to approval 
by the Township.  When the developer of a proposed shared private driveway owns an additional access 
point for a lot along the adjacent public or private road, the additional access point shall be removed 
and the lot shall be accessed from the shared private driveway.  This standard may be waived where it is 
determined that the access point does not have a negative impact on traffic or safety along the main 
road and that compliance would be a burden to the site, the resources on it, its configuration, and/or 
the property owners.  
 
Comments:  At this time, no engineering details for the proposed shared private driveway have been 
provided.  A cross section and other design details should be provided as part of the application to allow 
review for consistency with this standard. 
 
To the best of our knowledge, the applicant does not own any adjacent access points that should be 
removed.  
 
We defer further comment related to public road standards to the Township Engineer and the Road 
Commission. 
 

B. Drainage.  Shared private driveways shall be designed and constructed in relation to existing land 
contours and other natural or man-made features to assist in providing controlled drainage for the 
shared private driveway in accordance with Township and County requirements.  A drainage bypass 
culvert may be required where a shared private driveway intersects with a road.  All other drainage 
improvements shall be required as determined necessary by the site drainage patterns and be 
consistent with established Township policy, the requirements of the Livingston County Road 
Commission and Drain Commissioner, and sound engineering practices. 
 
Comments:  At this time, no engineering details have been provided, including the location of the 
proposed shared private driveway within the proposed easement, topography, or proposed drainage 
improvements. 
 
We defer further comment related to drainage to the Township Engineer  
 

C. Sight-Distance.  Shared private driveways shall be designed and constructed in relation to existing land 
contours and other natural or man-made features to provide safe and adequate vision for drivers using 
a shared private driveway access.  A shared private driveway intersection with a road shall meet the 
sight distance requirements of the Livingston County Road Commission for driveways and road 
approaches. Other traffic safety improvements shall be required as determined necessary to be 
consistent with established Township policy, the requirements of the Livingston County Road 
Commission, and sound planning and engineering practices.  If the area to be maintained in order to 
meet the sight distance requirement extends onto adjacent property, then easements shall be secured 
for the purposes of clearing and maintaining the area for compliance with this requirement.  If 
easements cannot be secured, the access point will have to be relocated.  Provisions for maintenance of 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
7 

areas required for sight-distance shall be included in the shared private driveway and access easement 
maintenance agreement (see Section 24.05.B).  
 
Comments:  At this time, no design details have been provided as part of the application.  Design 
information, such as sight distances, should be provided in order to determine consistency with this 
standard. 
 
We defer additional comment to the Township Engineer and Road Commission. 
 

D. Minimum Easement Width.  The minimum width of the easement for a shared private driveway shall be 
sixty-six (66) feet.  
 
Comments:  The proposed easement width, as shown in the survey dated May 14, 2021, would be 66 
feet wide.   
 

E. Minimum Finished Surface Width.  The finished, load-bearing surface of a shared private driveway shall 
be not less than twenty (20) feet in width.  Subject to the Township’s approval, a shared private 
driveway may have a finished, loadbearing surface of not less than sixteen feet in width, plus two (2) 
load-bearing shoulders, each two (2) feet wide.  Those shared private driveways served by hydrants shall 
have a finished, load-bearing surface of not less than twenty-six (26) feet.  This width may be reduced to 
twenty (20) feet at the discretion of the Planning Commission provided that bump-outs, which are a 
minimum of twenty-six (26) feet in width, are provided at least once every 300 feet. 
 
Comments:  At this time, no design details have been provided as part of the application.  Design 
information, including width of the finished surface, should be provided in order to determine consistency 
with this standard. 
 

F. Shared Private Driveway Construction Materials.  The surface of a shared private driveway shall be 
constructed on a base of not less than six (6) inches of road gravel.  The base shall be laid after removal 
of all unsuitable soil.  Unsuitable soil shall be replaced with road gravel or other material as may be 
specified by the Township Engineer.  The Township Engineer may also specify the installation of soil 
stabilization devices, sub-base, or underlying fabric and drainage facilities to better assure the long-term 
life of the shared private driveway.  
 
Comments:  At this time, no design details have been provided as part of the application.  Design 
information, including surface material, base material, soil information, and any necessary soil 
stabilization devices, should be provided in order to determine consistency with this standard. 
 

G. Maximum Length and Units.  Maximum length of a shared private driveway shall be one thousand, two 
hundred (1,200) feet with a maximum of four (4) lots or dwelling units served by the shared private 
driveway.  The maximum length requirement may be extended upon the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission and the approval of the Township Board.  Shared private driveways that exceed 
the one thousand, two hundred (1,200) foot maximum length shall be required to install a dry hydrant 
system.  The system shall be subject to the approval of the Township engineer and fire department with 
jurisdiction.  
 
Comments:  The proposed shared private driveway itself would be less than 1,200 feet in length and 
would provide access for less than 4 lots. 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
8 

The length of the proposed shared private driveway and the existing private road would exceed 1,200 
feet in length.  See the “Private Road Expansion” section of this report for more details. 
 

H. Turnarounds.  Any shared private driveway serving more than three (3) lots or dwelling units shall 
include a circular cul-de-sac turnaround or a “T” turnaround.  The Planning Commission shall determine 
the type of turnaround required.  Cul-de-sacs and “T” turnarounds shall be in accordance with these 
standards and LCRC geometric design requirements.  This requirement may be waived if the shared 
private driveway is 150 feet or less in length.  
 
Comments:  The proposed shared driveway will only serve 2 dwelling units, so a circular cul-de-sac or t-
turnaround is not required.  
 
However, it is our understanding that the International Fire Code generally requires some type of 
turnaround when an accessway is longer than 300 feet to ensure fire apparatus are able to access the 
site. 
 
If a turnaround is not provided, it would likely limit or prohibit garbage truck access to the proposed 
western lot. 
 
We defer further comments to the Township Engineer and Fire Inspector. 
 

I. Circular Cul-De-Sac Turnaround Design.  When a circular cul-de-sac turnaround is required for 
installation by the Planning Commission, the turnaround shall be designed with a forty-five (45) foot 
radius if no internal landscape island is required or with a fifty-five (55) foot radius if a center landscaped 
island is required.  Where required, the internal landscape island shall be located in the center of the 
turnaround and shall be twenty (20) feet in diameter.  A larger turnaround may be required for 
commercial and industrial shared private driveways.  
 
Comments:  The application does not call for a circular cul-de-sac turnaround.  This standard would only 
apply if the applicant proposes a circular cul-de-sac turnaround or if the Planning Commission 
determines a circular cul-de-sac turnaround is required. 
 

J. “T” Turnaround Design.  When a “T” or “hammerhead” turnaround is required for installation by the 
Planning Commission, the turnaround shall provide perpendicular extensions from the main traveled 
surface of the shared private driveway to permit a vehicle to turn around.  The extensions shall be not 
less than twenty (20) feet in width and extend from each side of the centerline of the easement for a 
distance of sixty (60) feet.  A turning radius of twenty-eight (28) feet shall be provided from the traveled 
surface onto the turnaround.  The surface and base materials of the “T” turnaround shall be the same as 
the surface and base materials of the shared private driveway.  
 
Comments:  The application does not call for a t/hammerhead turnaround.  This standard would only 
apply if the applicant proposes a t/hammerhead turnaround or if the Planning Commission determines a 
t/hammerhead turnaround is required.  
 

K. Intersection Design Standards.  Shared private driveways that intersect with existing or proposed 
private roads or public street rights-of-way should intersect at a ninety (90) degree angle.  Where 
constrained by environmental features, the Township Engineer may allow a reduced angle of 
intersection but in no case shall the angle be less than seventy (70) degrees.  



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
9 

Comments:  At this time, no design details have been provided as part of the application.  Design 
information, including details of the proposed geometry where the proposed shared driveway connects 
with Indian View, should be provided in order to determine consistency with this standard. 
 

L. Intersection Offsets from Streets.  Proposed shared private driveway intersections with a public or 
private road shall align directly across from, or be offset by at least two hundred fifty (250) feet from 
existing intersections of public streets or private roads on the opposite side of the street, measured 
centerline to centerline.  This standard may be reduced if approved by the Livingston County Road 
Commission and the Tyrone Township Board of Trustees, with recommendation from the Planning 
Commission. 
 
Comments:  The proposed shared private driveway is more than 250 feet from intersections with any 
public or private street. 
 

M. Vertical Clearance.  In order to provide adequate access for emergency vehicles, fifteen (15) feet of 
overhead tree clearance shall be provided within the width of the finished surface.  
 
Comments:  At this time, no design details have been provided as part of the application.  Design 
information, including details about vertical clearance, should be provided in order to determine 
consistency with this standard. 
 

N. Signs.  Regulatory signs shall be positioned and installed in accordance with the Michigan Manual of 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices on all shared private driveways where such driveways intersect with 
public or private roads.  All other signs within the shared private driveway easement shall be identified 
on the site plan and designed and placed in accordance with the Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices, unless the Planning Commission approves another type of design for consistency with 
the character of the development.  Shared private driveways shall not be named and shall not have signs 
bearing street names.  
 
Comments:  At this time, no design details have been provided as part of the application.  Design 
information, including details about proposed regulatory signs, should be provided in order to determine 
consistency with this standard.  
 
We defer comment to the Township Engineer as to what traffic control signs would be appropriate. 
 

O. Modifications of These Standards.  At the discretion of the Planning Commission and Township Board, 
the standards of this article may be modified.  The Planning Commission and Township Board may 
determine that alternative design or construction materials will provide a shared private driveway of 
equal or superior quality.  Further, the Planning Commission and Township Board shall have the 
authority to modify the review requirements in order to assure the requirements of the Township are 
considered in an appropriate forum and with the necessary level of professional design expertise.  
 
Comments:  Information about the design of the proposed shared private driveway has not been 
provided, so it is not possible to provide comment about potential modifications or determine if an 
alternative design or construction materials would be of equal or superior quality at this time. 
 

P. Compliance with AASHTO Standards.  Where no specific standard is provided in this Section, shared 
private driveway design plans shall meet the design criteria for local rural roads described in the most 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
10 

recent edition of the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) 
Manual "A Policy on Geometric Design for Highways and Streets."  Minimum horizontal and vertical 
curve radii and stopping distances shall be determined using design standards in this AASHTO manual to 
provide minimum safe sight-distances, provided that the minimum horizontal curve shall be two-
hundred and thirty (230) feet in radius. 
 
Comments:  At this time, no design details have been provided as part of the application.  Design 
information, including details about horizontal and vertical curve radii, should be provided in order to 
determine consistency with this standard. 
 
We defer additional comment to the Township Engineer. 
 

Q. Conversion of Shared Private Driveway to Private Road.  Any proposal to modify the use of a shared 
private driveway so that the shared private driveway will serve the functional capacity of a private 
road… 
 
Comments:  The application does not call for the conversion of a shared private driveway to a private 
road.  This standard does not apply. 
 

R. Setbacks and Structures.  Shared private driveways shall not be considered streets.  However, on lots 
where the only means of access is a shared private driveway and there is no street frontage, the yard 
fronting on the shared private driveway shall be considered the front yard for zoning and setback 
purposes.  On lots where the only means of access is a shared private driveway and there is street 
frontage, the lot shall be treated as a corner lot (i.e. a lot with two front yards) for zoning and setback 
purposes.  
 
Comments:  Future surveys used for the proposed land division should accurately show the setbacks as 
described above. 
 

S. Adjacent Properties.  For shared private driveways built after the effective date of this amendment 
(April 30, 2008) and located on a property line, access to that shared private driveway is encouraged to 
be provided to the adjacent property.  The developer or owner of the adjacent property shall petition 
the owner(s) of the shared private driveway(s) located on the adjacent property to request a forum to 
discuss and negotiate access to, and use of, the existing shared private driveway(s).  However, where 
such access is granted and will exceed the maximum number of lots permitted on a shared private 
driveway, the shared private driveway shall be converted to a private road per paragraph P above. 
 
Comments:  We have no information whether or not the applicant/owner has petitioned the owners of 
the existing adjacent private shared driveway to explore potential use.  If such use were granted, it 
appears that the resulting shared private driveway would provide access for up to 4 lots. 
 
We recommend the applicant/owner approach the adjacent property owners and provide proof of that 
contact and the response with the Township. 
 

T. Nonconforming Shared Private Driveways.  Nonconforming shared private driveways may be modified 
in conformance with the requirements in Section 24.04.  Where necessary to accommodate shared 
private driveways versus private roads, the standards may be modified by the Township. 
 



Niemi Shared Private Driveway 
November 4, 2021 
 

 
11 

Comments:  The application does not call for modifying an existing nonconforming shared private 
driveway.  This standard does not apply. 
 
 

SUMMARY & COMMENTS 

 
The proposed shared private driveway application is not complete at this time. 
 
This review does not examine the proposed lots. 
 
 
Some guidance and areas for Planning Commission discussion are outlined below. 
 
1) A plan should be provided that is generally consistent with §24.05(J) Review Process. 

2) The applicant should provide proof of an attempt to get permission to use the shared private 
driveway immediately south of the proposed shared private driveway. 

3) Planning Commission should discuss whether it might consider making a favorable recommendation 
for a length (private road and shared private driveway) of greater than 1,200 feet, if a dry hydrant 
system is installed. 

4) A maintenance agreement consistent with §24.05(B) Maintenance Agreement and §24.02(C) 
Maintenance Agreement should be provided in a recordable form for review by the Township 
Attorney. 

5) Access for the proposed eastern lot should be clarified. 

6) The plan should be shared with the Fire Inspector for additional comment. 

 

 

  



City of Fenton Fire Department 
 

205 East Caroline Street 

Fenton, MI  48430 

(810) 629-8595 

Emergency Dial 911 

SERVICE          PRIDE          TRADITION 

 

 

11/23/2021 

 

 

 

Ross Nicholson 

Tyrone Township  

Planning and Zoning Administrator 

 

RE:  Mr. Niemi Shared drive off Indian View Trail 

 

 

Dear Mr. Nicholson, 

 

I have reviewed the information provided by Mr. Niemi regarding the proposed shared 

drive off Indian View Trail. After reviewing the provided information and speaking to Mr. 

Niemi and yourself I see no reason to deny the request. 

 

There is not a sufficient water source in the area that would make a dry hydrant 

possible. The access provided on Indian View Trail and the turn around at the end of 

the road make access for our fire trucks possible. 

 

The only item I would request is that all addresses that are serviced by the private drive 

be marked with appropriate signage at the road. Additionally at every drive off the 

sharded driveway each address should be identified.    

 

 

Should you have any questions, please contact my office at 810-629-8595. 

 

 

Sincerely, 
 

Robert Cairnduff 
Robert C. Cairnduff 

Fire Chief 

 



LPINE
ENGINEERING, INC.

RESIDENTIAL SURVEYING COMMERCIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
33' R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL NO. 04-21-100-005

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL NO. 04-21-100-014

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL NO. 04-21-100-016

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL NO. 04-21-100-015

AutoCAD SHX Text
S87°18'55"W(M) N88°05'55"W(R)  929.21'(M) 930.00'(R)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S02°37'09"E(M) S01°54'05"W(R)  579.89'(M)  580.00'(R)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S02°37'09"E(M) S01°54'05"W(R) 428.14'(M) 427.98'(R)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S87°16'18"W(M) N88°09'32"W(R) 509.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N87°17'48"E(M) S88°05'55"E(R) 509.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N02°37'09"W 428.37'

AutoCAD SHX Text
POB PARCEL A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 1/4 CORNER SECTION 21 T.4N., R.6E. LSC#1593M

AutoCAD SHX Text
66' WIDE INGRESS & EGRESS  ESMT."B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
66' WIDE INGRESS & EGRESS ESMT."A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
996.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
I.E. 994.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
I.E. 995.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
996.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
996.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
995.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
996.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
I.E. 992.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
I.E. 994.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
997.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
996.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
996.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
999.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
997.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
998.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1001.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
44.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.13'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.06'

AutoCAD SHX Text
13.79'

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
  DITCH (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
  DITCH (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
  DITCH (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1004.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1007.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1007.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1006.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1006.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1006.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN VIEW TRAIL (66 FT. WIDE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRO. BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
FBK:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHF:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOR 1"=

AutoCAD SHX Text
VER 1"=

AutoCAD SHX Text
FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISED

AutoCAD SHX Text
46892 WEST ROAD SUITE 109 NOVI, MICHIGAN 48377

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIVIL ENGINEERS & LAND SURVEYORS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(248) 926-3701 (BUS) (248) 926-3765 (FAX) WWW.ALPINE-INC.NET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUBDIVISIONS SITE CONDOMINIUM MULTI-FAMILY PLOT PLANS CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALTA SURVEYS BOUNDARY SURVEYS TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEYS PARCEL SPLITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLANNING SITE ENGINEERING INDUSTRIAL & MULTI-UNIT LAND SURVEYING CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICHIGAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNSHIP:

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANGE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLIENT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TTP

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/4/2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
21-115

AutoCAD SHX Text
TTP

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIVINGSTON COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYRONE TOWNSHIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6 E

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL NO.4704-21-100-010

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARK NIEMI

AutoCAD SHX Text
PART OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 21, T4N, R6E, TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY, MICHIGAN, DESCRIBED AS: COMMENCING AT THE NORTH 1/4 CORNER OF SECTION 21; THENCE S87°18'55"W 929.21 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SECTION 21 AND THE CENTERLINE OF CENTER ROAD; THENCE S02°37'09"E 579.89 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S02°37'09"E 428.14 FEET; THENCE S87°16'18"W 509.82 FEET; THENCE N02°37'09"W 428.37 FEET; THENCE N87°17'48"E 509.82 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 5.01 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, SUBJECT TO AND INCLUDING THE USE OF A 66 FOOT WIDE EASEMENT "A" AND ALSO BEING SUBJECT TO AND INCLUDING THE USE OF A 66 FOOT WIDE INGRESS & EGRESS EASEMENT "B".

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UDESCRIPTION:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET IRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOIL BORING

AutoCAD SHX Text
END SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIL BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FLOW ARROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. SPOT ELEVATION



Drive Way Section
Mark Niemi
Indian View Trail,
Fenton, MI, 48430

6” of 1x3 crushed concrete, to later be 
topped with 3-6” of some variant of 
driverway gravel after building 
(limestone or something similar)

20’ wide cap, current driveway that is 
installed is currently 20’ and meets 
standard

20’

Ditch

Ditch



450.02

402.92
337.11

302.87

28
0.
72

59
8.
3

324
.3

261
.0
8

259.82
257.29

327
.9

5
84
.1
1

3
2 6
. 3
4

579
.13

158
. 4

577
.0
8

164
.78

333.61

9
9
8

9
9
8

10
06

10
06

10
0
4

10
0
41018
1018
1016
1016

1014
1014

10
12

10
12

101
0

101
0

1008
1008 996996

10
32

10
32

1030
1030

10261026

10
24

10
24

10
2
2

10
2
2

1020
1020

10281028

994994

1002
1002

10
00

10
00

992992
990990

103
4

103
4

988988

103
6

103
6

10
3
8

10
3
8

98
6

98
6

1040
1040

98
4

98
4

98
6

98
6

1020
1020 99

8
99
8

103
4

103
4

986986

988988

10
02

10
02

1024
1024

10281028
98
6

98
6

10
0
8

10
0
8

98
6

9
8
6

10
00

10
00

10001000

1014
1014

1022
1022

98
6

98
6



Shared Private Driveway Maintenance 

Legal description of Parcel A 

 

Legal description of Parcel B 

 

Creation of Shared Private Driveway 

The legal owners of the legally described parcels herein (“the Benefited Parcels”) hereby grant and convey to each other a 66 

foot wide ingress and egress easement for a shared private driveway, the easement being described as follows: 

A nonexclusive ingress and egress 66 foot wide easement for shared private driveway purposes, further described as: 



 

located in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, Michigan.  The owners of the Benefited Parcels shall use the shared private 

driveway easement for the purposes of vehicle ingress and egress, including public and emergency vehicles, and for the 

placement of public utilities to benefit their parcels.  Use of this easement is limited to the Benefited Parcels.  

Maintenance 

The shared private driveway easement shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with Tyrone Township standards. The 

cost of construction (if applicable) and maintenance shall be shared equally between both parcels where the cost of driveway 

construction can be added to sale price of land.  The shared private driveway easement shall be maintained in a good state of 

repair not less than that required by Tyrone Township at the time of the creation of the shared private driveway easement. Tyrone 

Township and Livingston County shall not be responsible for maintenance, or the cost thereof.  

No capital expenditures exceeding $100 shall be made without consent of all owners of the Benefited Parcels.  Cost less than 

$100 for normal maintenance may be performed by any Benefited Parcel owner, with the costs shared equally by all of the 

Benefited Parcels.  A Benefited Parcel who fails to pay their share of costs associated with this agreement shall be subject to lien 

by the owners of the remaining Benefited Parcels 90 days after written request for payment is mailed to the non-paying Benefited 

Parcel owner(s).  The request for payment shall state whether the purpose of the expenditure was for normal maintenance or a 

capital expenditure, the total amount of the expenditure, the date of the expenditure(s), and the pro rata share of the expenditures 

which apply to the parcel against which a lien may be filed.  Enforcement and collection of the lien created by this agreement 

shall be by, and at the expense of, the benefited parcels by a court having jurisdiction, or as otherwise provide by statute. Both 

parcels have responsibility for driveway maintain in keeping vertical clearance above drive clear for 15 feet as required to allow 

for emergency vehicles. Snow plowing shall be shared equally between houses for keeping drive clear and passable. 

Township Indemnification 

The owners of the Benefited Parcels, their successors, and assigns agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Township of Tyrone 

for any claim, cause of action, or liability which may be created by the Benefited Parcel owner’s maintenance, or lack thereof, of 

the shared private driveway easement.   

Recording of Agreement 

This agreement shall run with the land, shall be recorded with each Benefited Parcel by the Livingston County Register of Deeds, 

and shall be enforceable upon and by all current and future owners of the Benefited Parcels.  The Tyrone Township Clerk and 

each party to this agreement shall be provided a copy of this recorded document.   

 

__________       _____________  __________________________  ________________________ 

   

 

Document must be signed by all Benefited Parcel owners and notarized. 



















NEW BUSINESS #3 
 

Historic Town House Resolution 
 

 



 

 

 
RESOLUTION #2201xx 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

 

HISTORIC TOWN HOUSE 

 

WHEREAS, Tyrone Township owns a structure described as the Historic Town House 

which is currently located at 10408 Center Rd., Fenton, Michigan, 48430;  

 

WHEREAS, the Historic Town House is located at 10408 Center Rd., Fenton, Michigan, 

48430 pursuant to an agreement with the owner of that real property permitting Tyrone 

Township to keep and maintain the Historic Town House at that location for a period of 

time and further, pursuant to that agreement, enter upon that property to remove the 

Historic Town House to another location; 

 

WHEREAS, Tyrone Township wishes to state its intentions to maintain ownership and 

control over the Historic Town House; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED Tyrone Township shall maintain ownership 

of the Historic Town House and shall: 

 

 Maintain the Historic Town House; 

 Insure the Historic Town House; 

 Manage and oversee any relocation efforts of the Historic Town House. 

 

RESOLVED BY:  

SUPPORTED BY:   

 

VOTE:   

 

ADOPTION DATE:  January 18, 2022 

 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CLERK 

 

The undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of Tyrone Township, 

Livingston County, Michigan, hereby certifies that (1) the foregoing is a true and 

complete copy of a resolution adopted by the Township Board at a regular meeting, held 

on January 18, 2022, at which meeting a quorum was present and remained throughout, 

(2) the original thereof is on file in the records in my office, (3) the meeting was 

conducted, and public notice thereof was given, pursuant to and in full compliance with 

the Open Meetings Act (Act No. 267, Public Acts of Michigan, 1976, as amended) and 

(4) minutes of such meeting were kept and will be or have been made available as 

required thereby. 

____________________________________ 

Marcella Husted 

Township Clerk 



NEW BUSINESS #4 
 

Grant Management Policies and Procedures Resolution. 
 
 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION #2201xx 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

 

TO ESTABLISH TOWNSHIP 

GRANT MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the accounting standards as it relates to the requirement 

of the Township having written federal grant management policies and procedures; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Tyrone Township deems it necessary to officially 

adopt the written grant management policies and procedures (attachment A) before 

expending federal funds; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that as of January 18, 2022 the 

Township has adopted the written grant management policies and procedures. 

 

RESOLVED BY:  

SUPPORTED BY:   

 

VOTE:   

 

ADOPTION DATE:  January 18, 2022 

 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CLERK 

 

The undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of Tyrone Township, 

Livingston County, Michigan, hereby certifies that (1) the foregoing is a true and 

complete copy of a resolution adopted by the Township Board at a regular meeting, held 

on January 18, 2022, at which meeting a quorum was present and remained throughout, 

(2) the original thereof is on file in the records in my office, (3) the meeting was 

conducted, and public notice thereof was given, pursuant to and in full compliance with 

the Open Meetings Act (Act No. 267, Public Acts of Michigan, 1976, as amended) and 

(4) minutes of such meeting were kept and will be or have been made available as 

required thereby. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Marcella Husted 

Township Clerk 



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 1 

 

Tyrone Township 

Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

Financial Management Systems 

Grant Administration 
 

 
 
1. Grant Development, Application, and Approval – 

 
a. Legislative Approval – The point at which legislative approval is required is determined by the 

requirements of the grant program.  If the grant must be submitted by “an individual authorized 
by the legislative body”, then Board approval is required prior to submitting the application.  If 
such legislative approval is not specifically required by the written terms of the grant, then the 
Supervisor may, at his or her discretion, approve grant applications. 
 

b. Matching Funds – Grants that require cash local matches must be coordinated through the 
Accountant.  At a minimum, funds must be identified within the existing budget to provide the 
match, or a budget amendment will be required.  Depending on the nature of the grant, there 
may also be some policy implications that will bear discussion.   
 
In all cases involving matching funds, the grant applicant should contact the Accountant to 
determine the strategy for securing matching funds. 
 
Refer to the section within this manual titled “Matching, Level of Effort, and Earmarking” for 
additional information on compliance with the provisions of the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance 
Supplement.  

 
c. Grant Budgets – Most grants require the submission of an expenditure budget.  The Accountant 

should review this portion of the grant request prior to submission.  Frequently, a technical review 
will discover inconsistencies in the calculations, cost centers that might have been overlooked, or 
identify reimbursable expenses of which Township staff may not be aware—particularly in the 
indirect cost area. 
 
Grant applicants should contact the Accountant to request a technical review of a grant proposal 
budget. 
 

2. Grant Program Implementation – 
 

a. Notification and Acceptance of an Award – Official notification of a grant award is typically sent 
by a funding agency to the Supervisor and/or other official designated in the original grant 
proposal.  However, the authorization to actually spend grant funds is derived from the Board 
through the approval of a grant budget. 

 
Adoption of the grant budget as a component of the Government-wide operating budget is 
deemed to be sufficient approval.  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 2 

 

 
b. Establishment of Accounts – The department that obtained the grant will provide the Accountant 

with information needed to establish revenue and expense accounts for the project.  Ordinarily, 
this information will include a copy of a summary of the project and a copy of the full project 
budget.   
 

c. Purchasing Guidelines – All other Government purchasing guidelines apply to the expenditure of 
grant funds.  The use of grant funds does not exempt any purchase from normal purchasing 
requirements.  All typical paperwork and bidding requirements apply.  All normal staff approvals 
apply.  When in doubt, the Supervisor, or designee should contact the Accountant for further 
assistance. 

 
3. Financial and Budgetary Compliance – 
 

a. Monitoring Grant Funds – Departments may use some internal mechanism (such as a 
spreadsheet) to monitor grant revenues, expenditures and budgetary compliance.  The 
Accountant maintains all this information in BS&A (the Government’s accounting system) as well, 
and this is considered to be the Government’s “official” accounting system by the granting 
agencies.  Supervisor, or designees are strongly encouraged to use BS&A reports provided by the 
Accountant for their grant tracking.   
 
If any “off-system” accounting records are maintained, it is the responsibility of the Supervisor, or 
designee to ensure that the program’s internal records agree to the Government’s accounting 
system. 
 

b. Fiscal Years – Occasionally, the fiscal year for the granting agency will not coincide with the 
Government’s fiscal year.  This may require adjustments to the Government’s internal budget 
accounts and interim financial reports as well as special handling during fiscal year-end close.  It 
is the responsibility of the Accountant to bring such discrepancies to the attention of the 
Supervisor at the time the grant accounts are established. 
 

c. Grant Budgets – When the BS&A accounting structure for a grant is designed, it will include the 
budget that was prepared when the grant application was submitted.  The terms of each specific 
grant will dictate whether any budget transfers between budgeted line items will be permitted.  
In no case will the Supervisor, or designee be authorized to exceed the total budget authority 
provided by the grant. 
 

If grant funds have not been totally expended by fiscal year-end, it is the responsibility of the 
Supervisor, or designee to notify the Accountant that budget funds need to be carried forward to 
the new fiscal year, and to confirm the amounts of such carry-forwards. Carry-forwards of grant 
funds will be subjected to maximum allowable amounts/percentages based on the grant award 
agreement and/or the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement.  

 
d. Capital Assets – The Government is responsible for maintaining an inventory of assets purchased 

with grant monies.  The Government is accountable for them and must make them physically 
available for inspection during any audit.  The Accountant must be notified immediately of any 



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 3 

 

sale of these assets.  Customarily, the proceeds of the sale can only be used on the grant program 
that purchased them.  (Refer to the specific regulations governing the original grant). 
 
The Accountant will coordinate this grant requirement.  All transactions that involve the 
acquisition or disposal of grant funded fixed assets must be immediately brought to the attention 
of the Accountant.  Refer to the sections of this manual titled “Capital Assets” and “Equipment 
and Real Property Management” for additional information.  

 
4. Record Keeping – 
 

a. Audit Workpapers – The Government’s external auditors audit all grants at the end of each fiscal 
year.  The Accountant will prepare the required audit workpapers.  Supervisor, or designees may 
be asked to assist in this process, if necessary. 
 

b. Record Keeping Requirements – Grant record keeping requirements may vary substantially from 
one granting agency to another.  Consequently, a clear understanding of these grant 
requirements at the beginning of the grant process is vital.  The Accountant will maintain copies 
of all grant draw requests, and approved grant agreements (including budgets).  The Supervisor, 
or designee should maintain all other records.  
 
Refer to this section of this manual titled “Records Retention” for additional information.  
 

5. Other Guidelines – Specific information on policies and procedures related to compliance with the 
provisions of the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement have been addressed later in this 
manual and should be considered along with the information in this section.  

  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 4 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
General Information 

 

 
 
Source of Information – Each year the Federal government (Office of Management and Budget) issues a 
comprehensive document on the compliance requirements each grant recipient is obligated to follow in 
general terms, along with program-specific guidance on various grant awards. There are 14 compliance 
requirements identified, each of which is considered individually in this manual.  
 
The following pages document the policies and procedures of the Government related to compliance with 
such procedures, as applicable. In each year that the Government is subject to a single audit, applicable 
compliance requirements are expected to be tested in detail by the Government’s independent auditors.  
 
Objectives – The objectives of most compliance requirements are generic in nature. While the criteria for 
each program may vary, the main objective of the compliance requirement is relatively consistent across 
all programs. As such, the policies and procedures of the Government have been based on the generic 
sense of the compliance requirement. For selected compliance requirements, this manual addresses the 
specific regulations applicable to individual grants. This is not intended to imply that a program is not 
subject to such policies if it is not specifically mentioned here. It is the intention of the Government that 
all Federal awards are subject to the following policies and procedures.  
 
Controls over Compliance – In addition to creating policies and procedures over compliance with 
provisions of Federal awards, the Government has implemented internal controls over such compliance, 
generally in the form over administrative oversight and/or independent review and approval. In order to 
document these control activities, all independent reviews and signed/initialed and dated.  
 
Documentation – The Government will maintain adequate documentation to support both the 
compliance with applicable requirements as well as internal controls over such compliance. This 
documentation will be provided to the Government’s independent auditors and/or pass-through grantor 
agencies, as requested, during the single audit and program audits.  
 

 
 
  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 5 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Activities Allowed/Unallowed and Allowable Costs/Cost Principles 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for activities allowed or unallowed are contained 
in program legislation, Federal awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions of the award.  
 
The requirements for allowable costs/cost principles are contained in the A-102 Common Rule (§___.22), 
OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR section 215.27), program legislation, Federal awarding agency regulations, and 
the terms and conditions or the award.  
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. All grant expenditures will be in compliance with OMB Circular A-87, “Cost Principles for State, Local, 

and Indian Tribal Governments”, State law, Government policy, and the provisions of the grant award 
agreement will also be considered in determining allowability. Grant funds will only be used for 
expenditures that considered reasonable and necessary for the administration of the program.  
 

2. Grant expenditures will be approved by Accountant initially through the purchase order process (if 
applicable), and again with the bill or invoice is received and entered into BS&A. This will be evidenced 
by approvals within the BS&A program. Accounts payable disbursements will not be processed for 
payment by the Clerk/Treasurer until necessary approval has been obtained.  

 
3. Payroll costs will be documented in accordance with OMB Circular A-87 as described in the section of 

this manual titled “Payroll and Timekeeping”.  
 

4. An indirect cost rate will only be charged to the grant to the extent that it was specifically approved 
through the grant budget/agreement.  

 
 

  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 6 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Cash Management 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for cash management are contained in the A-102 
Common Rule (§ ___.21), OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR section 215.22), program legislation, Federal 
awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions or the award.  
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. Most of the Government’s grants are awarded on a reimbursement basis. As such, program costs will 

be expended and disbursed prior to requesting reimbursement from the grantor agency.  
 

2. If the Governments grants are awarded on a prefunded basis the Township will follow the applicable 
guidelines in the grants requirement as it relates to the necessity of the separation of funds into 
separate back accounts (if applicable).  
 

3. Cash draws will be initiated by Accountant who will determine the appropriate draw amount. 
Documentation of how this amount was determined will be retained and signed/dated.  

 
4. Each cash draw will be reviewed by Supervisor (or designee) who will sign/initial and date the 

paperwork as evidence of the review.  
 

5. The physical draw of cash will be processed in applicable Federal or State cash management system 
or through the means prescribed by the grant agreement for other awards.  

 
6. Supporting documentation or a copy of the cash draw paperwork will be filed along with the approved 

paperwork described above and retained for audit purposes.  
  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 7 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Davis-Bacon Act 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for Davis-Bacon are contained in 40 USC 3141-
3144, 3146, and 3147; 29 CFR part 29; the A-102 Common Rule (§ __.36(i)(5)); OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR 
part 215, Appendix A, Contract Provisions); program legislation; Federal awarding agency regulations; and 
the terms and conditions of the award.  
 
This requirement has not historically been applicable to any of the Federal grants of Tyrone Township. 
Grant administrators are aware of existence of such compliance requirements and will monitor grant 
agreements for any change in applicability. Formal policies and procedures will be developed, as needed, 
to meet changes in circumstances.  
 
  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 8 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Eligibility 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for eligibility are contained in program legislation, 
Federal awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions of the award.  
 
Additional Policies and Procedures. The following policies and procedures will also be applied, to the 
extent that they do not conflict with or contradict the Board policies listed above: 
 
1. Federal grants will only benefit those individuals and/or groups of participants that are deemed to be 

eligible.  
 
2. Initial eligibility determinations will be made by the Accountant. Sufficient documentation to support 

these determinations will be retained and made available to administration, auditors, and pass-
through or grantor agencies, upon request. It is the responsibility of the Accountant to maintain 
complete, accurate, and organized records to support eligibility determinations.  

 
 
  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 9 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Equipment and Real Property Management 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for equipment are contained in the A-102 
Common Rule (§ __ .32), OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR section 215.34), program legislation, Federal 
awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions of the award.  
 

 
Additional Policies and Procedures. The following policies and procedures will also be applied, to the 
extent that they do not conflict with or contradict the Board policies listed above: 
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. All equipment will be used in the program for which it was acquired or, when appropriate, other 

Federal programs.  
 

2. When required, purchases of equipment will be pre-approved by the grantor or pass-through agency. 
The Accountant will be responsible for ensuring that equipment purchases have been previously 
approved, if required, and will retain evidence of this approval.  

 
3. Equipment records will be maintained, a physical inventory of equipment shall be taken, and an 

appropriate system shall be used to safeguard equipment, as described in the section of this manual 
titled “Capital Assets”.  

 
4. When equipment with a current per unit fair market value of $2,500 or more is no longer needed for 

a Federal program, it may be retained or sold with the Federal agency having a right to a proportionate 
amount of the current fair market value. Proper sales procedures shall be used that provide for 
competition to the extent practicable and result in the highest possible return.   



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 10 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Matching, Level of Effort and Earmarking 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for matching are contained in the A-102 Common 
rule (§ __.24), OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR section 215.23), program legislation, Federal awarding agency 
regulations, and the terms and conditions of the award. The requirements for level of effort and 
earmarking are contained in program legislation, Federal awarding agency regulations, and the terms and 
conditions of the award.  
 
Tyrone Township defines “matching”, “level of effort”, and “earmarking” consistent with the definitions 
of the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement: 
 
Matching or cost sharing includes requirements to provide contributions (usually non-Federal) or a 
specified amount or percentage of match Federal awards. Matching may be in the form of allowable costs 
incurred or in-kind contributions (including third-party in-kind contributions).  
 
Level of effort includes requirements for (a) a specified level of service to be provided from period to 
period, (b) a specified level of expenditures from non-Federal or Federal sources for specified activities to 
be maintained from period to period, and (c) Federal funds to supplement and not supplant non-Federal 
funding of services.  
 
Earmarking includes requirements that specify the minimum and/or maximum amount of percentage of 
the program’s funding that must/may be used for specified activities, including funds provided to 
subrecipients. Earmarking may also be specified in relation to the types of participants covered.  
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. Compliance with matching, level of effort, and earmarking requirements will be the responsibility of 

Accountant.  
 

2. Adequate documentation will be maintained to support compliance with matching, level of effort, 
and earmarking requirements. Such information will be made available to administration, auditors, 
and pass-through or grantor agencies, as requested.  

 



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 11 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Period of Availability 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for period of availability of Federal funds are 
contained in the A-102 Common Rule (§ __.23), OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR sections 215.28 and 215.71), 
program legislation, Federal awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions of the award.  
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. Costs will be charged to an award only if the obligation was incurred during the funding period (unless 

pre-approved by the Federal awarding agency or pass-through grantor agency).  
 

2. All obligations will be liquidated not later than 90 days after the end of the funding period (or as 
specified by program legislation).  

 
3. Compliance with period of availability requirements will initially be assigned to the individual 

approving the allowability of the expense/payment. This will be subject to review and approval in the 
central office as part of the payment processing.  

 
 
  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 12 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Procurement, Suspension and Debarment 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for procurement are contained in the A-102 
Common Rule (§____.36); OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR sections 215.40 through 215.48), program 
legislation, Federal awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions of the award.  
 
The requirements for suspension and debarment are contained OMB guidance in 2 CFR part 180, which 
implements Executive Orders 12549 and 12689, Debarment and Suspension; Federal agency regulations 
in 2 CFR implementing the OMB guidance; the A-102 Common Rule (§____.36); OMB Circular A-110 (2 
CFR section 215.13); program legislation; Federal awarding agency regulations; and the terms and 
conditions of the award. 
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. Purchasing and procurement related to Federal grants will be subject to the general policies and 

procedures of the Government (described in the section of this manual titled “Purchasing and 
Procurement”).  
 

2. Contract files will document the significant history of the procurement, including the rationale for the 
method of procurement, selection of the contract type, contractor selection or rejection, and the basis 
of contract price.  

 
3. Procurement will provide for full and open competition.  

 
4. The Government is prohibited from contracting with or making subawards under covered transactions 

to parties that are suspended or debarred or whose principals are suspended or debarred.  
 
“Covered transactions” include those procurement contracts for goods and services awarded under a 
nonprocurement transaction (i.e., grant or cooperative agreement) that are expected to equal or 
exceed $25,000 or meet certain other specified criteria. All nonprocurement transactions (i.e., 
subawards to subrecipients), irrespective of award amount, are considered covered transactions.  
 

5. The Government will include a suspension/debarment clause in all written contracts in which the 
vendor/contractor will certify that it is not suspended or debarred. The contract will also contain 
language requiring the vendor/contractor to notify the Government immediately upon becoming 
suspended or debarred. This will serve as adequate documentation as long as the contract remains in 
effect.  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 13 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Procurement, Suspension and Debarment (Concluded) 

 

 
6. Each quarter, the Accountant or designee will be responsible for running a year-to-date transaction 

report from the Government’s accounting system. Any vendor with accumulated transactions 
equaling or exceeding $25,000 that is not subject to a written contract including a 
suspension/debarment clause or for which a signed statement or suspension or debarment is not on 
file will be subject to additional procedures. The Accountant or designee will check the Excluded 
Parties List System (EPLS) maintained by the General Services Administration (GSA) for the vendor 
name. A potential match will be followed-up on immediately. Each vendor searched on EPLS will be 
initialed on the vendor transaction report and the report will be signed and dated on the first or last 
page. The vendor transaction report will be retained as evidence of the control. 
 

7. If a vendor is found to be suspended or debarred, the Government will immediately cease to do 
business with this vendor. 
 
 

  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 14 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Program Income 

 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for program income are found in the A-102 
Common Rule (§____.21 (payment) and §____.25 (program income)); OMB Circular A-110 (2 CFR section 
215.2 (program income definition), 2 CFR section 215.22 (payment), and 2 CFR section 215.24 (program 
income)), program legislation, Federal awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions of the 
award. 
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. Program income will include (but will not be limited to): income from fees for services performed, the 

use or rental of real or personal property acquired with grant funds, the sale of commodities or items 
fabricated under a grant agreement, and payments of principal and interest on loans made with grant 
funds. It will not include interest on grant funds unless otherwise provided in the Federal awarding 
agency regulations or terms and conditions of the award.  

 
2. Tyrone Township will allow program income to be used in one of three methods: 

 
a. Deducted from outlays 
b. Added to the project budget 
c. Used to meet matching requirements 

 
Absent specific guidance in the Federal awarding agency regulations or the terms and conditions of 
the award, program income shall be deducted from program outlays.  
 

3. Program income, when applicable, will be accounted for as a revenue source in the same program 
code as the Federal grant. See additional information on the uniform chart of accounts in the section 
of this manual titled “Chart of Accounts”.  
 

  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 15 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Real Property Relocation and Acquisition 

 

 
 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – Government-wide requirements for real property acquisition and 
relocation assistance are contained in Department of Transportation‘s single government-wide rule at 49 
CFR part 24, Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Regulations for Federal and 
Federally-Assisted Programs. 
 
This requirement has not historically been applicable to any of the Federal grants of Tyrone Township. 
Grant administrators are aware of existence of such compliance requirements and will monitor grant 
agreements for any change in applicability. Formal policies and procedures will be developed, as needed, 
to meet changes in circumstances.  
  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 16 

 

  Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Reporting 

 

 
Source of Governing Requirements – Reporting requirements are contained in the following documents: 
 
A-102 Common Rule – Financial reporting, §____.41, Performance reporting, §___.40(b), OMB Circular A-
110 – Financial reporting, 2 CFR section 215, Performance reporting, 2 CFR section 215.51, program 
legislation, ARRA (and the previously listed OMB documents and future additional OMB guidance 
documents that may be issued), the Transparency Act, implementing requirements in 2 CFR part 170 and 
the FAR, and previously listed OMB guidance documents, Federal awarding agency regulations, and the 
terms and conditions of the award. 
 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. Reports will be submitted in the required frequency and within the required deadlines.  

 
2. Reports will be completed using the standard forms (as applicable) and method of delivery (i.e., e-

mail, grantor website, postal service, etc.).  
 

3. Regardless of the method of report delivery, a copy of the submitted report will be retained along 
with any documentation necessary to support the data in the report. The report will evidence the 
date of submission in order to document compliance with timeliness requirements.  

 
4. Financial reports will always be prepared based on the general ledger using the required basis of 

accounting (i.e., cash or accrual). In cases where financial data is tracked outside of the general 
accounting system (such as in spreadsheets or paper ledgers), this information will be reconciled to 
the general ledger prior to report submission.  

 
5. Any report with financial-related data will either be prepared or reviewed by the Accountant.  

 
6. Preparation of reports will be the responsibility of Accountant. All reports (whether financial, 

performance, or special) must be reviewed and approved by a knowledgeable administrator or Board 
member prior to submission. Both the preparer and reviewer will sign and date the report and retain 
this documentation.  

 
7. Copies of submitted reports with preparer and reviewer signatures and data will be filed with 

supporting documentation and any follow-up correspondence from the grantor or pass-through 
agency. Copies of all such reports will be made available to administration, auditors, and pass-through 
or grantor agencies, as requested.   



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 17 

 

 
Tyrone Township 

Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 
OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 

Subrecipient Monitoring 
 

 
 
Source of Governing Requirements – The requirements for subrecipient monitoring are contained in 31 
USC 7502(f)(2)(B) (Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 (Pub. L. No. 104-156)), OMB Circular A-133 
(§___.225, §___.310(d)(5), §___.400(d)), A-102 Common Rule (§___.37 and §___.40(a)), and OMB Circular 
A-110 (2 CFR section 215.51(a)), program legislation, 2 CFR parts 25 and 170, and 48 CFR parts 4, 42, and 
52 Federal awarding agency regulations, and the terms and conditions of the award 
 
This requirement has not historically been applicable to any of the Federal grants of Tyrone Township. 
Grant administrators are aware of existence of such compliance requirements and will monitor grant 
agreements for any change in applicability. Formal policies and procedures will be developed, as needed, 
to meet changes in circumstances.  
  



 
 
Last Updated: January 6, 2022  Page 18 

 

Tyrone Township 
Policies and Procedures – Federal Awards Administration 

OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 
Special Tests and Provisions 

 

 
 

 
Additional Policies and Procedures. The following policies and procedures will also be applied, to the 
extent that they do not conflict with or contradict the Board policies listed above: 

 
In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, Tyrone Township has implemented the following 
policies and procedures: 
 
1. The Accountant will be assigned the responsibility for identifying compliance requirements for special 

tests and provisions, determining approved methods for compliance, and retaining any necessary 
documentation.  

 
 



NEW BUSINESS #5 
 

Budget amendment. 
 
 
 



Proposed Budget Amendments by Fund for Fiscal Year 2021/2022

Fund Department Account No. Account Name Current Budget
Current Balance as 

of 1/15/22
Suggested 

Amendment
SILVER LAKE ESTATES RUBBISH REMOVAL FUND 234-528-811.000 TRASH/RUBBISH REMOVAL 14,209.00$           12,370.05$                14,950.00$                

LAUREL SPRINGS ROAD IMPROVEMENT FUND 864-906-991.000 BOND DEBT PRINCIPAL -$                       5,000.00$                  5,000.00$                  

GENERAL FUND CEMETERY 101-567-810.001 LAWN MAINTENANCE 4,800.00$             6,730.00$                  6,800.00$                  

PUBLIC SAFETY 205-345-812.001 FIRE CONTRACTS - FIRE RUNS (FENTON TWP) 96,602.00$           109,972.00$             146,650.00$             
205-345-812.002 FIRE CONTRACTS - FIRE RUNS (FENTON) 206,115.00$         181,375.00$             272,100.00$             
205-345-812.003 FIRE CONTRACTS - FIRE RUNS (HARTLAND) 140,139.00$         156,276.00$             234,500.00$             



NEW BUSINESS #6 
 

Meeting Dates 2022-2023 Resolution. 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 

RESOLUTION #2201xx 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

 

2022-2023 MEETING DATES 

 
 
 WHERE AS, the State of Michigan has enacted the Open Meetings Act which 

requires the specific designation of the dates, times, and places of all regular meetings of the 

Tyrone Township Board; 

  

 WHERE AS, it is the desire of the Tyrone Township Board to conduct all of its 

business in an open forum in compliance with said Act; 

 

 THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Tyrone Township BOARD will hold 

regular meetings beginning at 7:00 p.m., at the Tyrone Township Hall, 8420 Runyan Lake 

Road, the first and third Tuesday evenings of each month unless changed due to conflicts 

with holidays or elections.  In the fiscal year, April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023 the meetings 

will be held on the following dates: 

 

April 5 & 19, 2022 

May 3 & 17, 2022 

June 7 & 21, 2022 

July 5 & 19, 2022 

August 16, 2022 

September 6 & 20, 2022 

October 4 & 18, 2022 

November 1, 2022 

December 6 & 20, 2022 

January 3 & 17, 2023 

February 7 & 21, 2023 

March 7 & 28*, 2023

 

*Meeting scheduled on last Tuesday of the month for budget purposes. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the Tyrone Township PLANNING 

COMMISSION meetings will be held on the second Tuesday evenings of each month 

beginning at 7:00 p.m., and workshops the third Wednesday of each month at 6:00 pm. at the 

Tyrone Township Hall, 8420 Runyan Lake Road, unless changed due to conflicts with 

holidays or elections.  In the fiscal year, April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023, the meetings and 

workshops will be held on the following dates: 

 
April 12 & 20, 2022 
May 10 & 18, 2022 

June 14 & 22, 2022 

July 12 & 20, 2022 
August 9 & 17, 2022 
September 13 & 21, 2022 

October 11 & 19, 2022 

November 2* & 16*, 2022 

December 13 & 21, 2022 

January 10 & 18, 2023 

February 14 & 22, 2023 

March 14 & 22, 2023 

 

*Meetings to be held on first and third Wednesday to accommodate election schedule. 



Resolution #2201xx 

Tyrone Township 2022-2023 Meeting Dates 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the Tyrone Township ZONING BOARD 

OF APPEALS meetings will be held on the second Monday evening of each month upon 

request beginning at 7:00 p.m., at the Tyrone Township Hall, 8420 Runyan Lake Road, 

unless changed due to conflicts with holidays or elections.  Sometimes the agenda length 

may determine the need for two meetings to be held during the month.  In the fiscal year, 

April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023, the meetings may be held on the following dates: 

 

April 11, 2022 

May 9, 2022 

June 13, 2022 

July 11, 2022 

August 8, 2022 

September 12, 2022 

October 10, 2022 

November 21*, 2022 

December 12, 2022 

January 9, 2023 

February 13, 2023 

March 13, 2023

 

*Meeting scheduled to the third Monday due to scheduled Historical Society dinner. 

 

RESOLVED BY:   

SUPPORTED BY:   

 

VOTE:    

 

ADOPTION DATE: January 18, 2022 

 
 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CLERK 

The undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of Tyrone Township, Livingston 

County, Michigan, hereby certifies that (1) the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a 

resolution adopted by the Township Board at a regular meeting, held on January 18, 2022, at 

which meeting a quorum was present and remained throughout, (2) the original thereof is on 

file in the records in my office, (3) the meeting was conducted, and public notice thereof was 

given, pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act (Act No. 267, Public 

Acts of Michigan, 1976, as amended) and (4) minutes of such meeting were kept and will be 

or have been made available as required thereby. 

 

 
_________________________________ 

Marcella Husted 

Township Clerk 

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

  


